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LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Eagle Materials chalked-up another banner year, again setting new performance records. We have grown
our annual revenues to above the two billion dollar level and our year-over-year EPœ is up 36%. These
results have been achieved in a year that prognosticators anticipated would be an especially challenging one
for construction materials companies, especially due to sharply rising interest (mortgage) rates.

We are frequently asked about our secret to success. The short answer is that the “secret” is not just one
thing but rather numerous things, each done better than we did them before, wherever and whenever
possible. Let us share some of the specific differentiating factors that we feel are among the most important
for us, and some of the ways that we think about things perhaps a bit differently than others. These
differences are reflected in our operating model and, hence, in our track record of results.

Strength from the Core

We believe we operate in commodity industries. We are not ashamed of this fact. Construction materials
like Portland cement and gypsum wallboard are necessities, not luxuries, and are essential to the growth and
renewal of America, and especially to the paths that create a net zero carbon future for our country.

Our two core businesses are well-defined, well-established and well-positioned. These businesses have a
lot in common. Each manufactures products with defined performance standards that must be faithfully met
without fail, in commercial, residential and non-residential (infrastructure) construction applications. The life-
blood for both businesses is mined soft minerals, notably limestone and gypsum. Market selection is
important for both because we sell low-value-to-weight products for which transportation distances can make
or break the economics. Both businesses operate in consolidated Uœ industries with fragmented buyer-
bases – and both are in cyclical sectors, so cycle management skills are important -- and this is an area in
which we excel.

There is one more notable way in which these two core businesses are becoming even more alike. For
some time Uœ manufacturing response to higher demand in cement has been constrained due to stringent
regulation and high capital barriers to entry or expansion. In more recent years the gypsum wallboard
industry has faced new constraints to capacity addition or to full capacity utilization, notably due to the
declining availability of synthetic gypsum, which is generated through the environmental scrubbing
processes at coal-fired power plants. The competitive dynamics of “scarcity” can be powerful, and some
version of these dynamics is arguably developing not only in the Uœ cement industry, but also, albeit for
different reasons, in the gypsum wallboard industry as well.

Over the past five years we have invested nearly $48‰ million to strengthen and improve these core
businesses and to ensure their sustainability. These priority investments ensure we own many decades of
quality raw materials that are highly proximate to our plants. We maintain our plants in “like new” condition
and invest in technologies that will enable higher throughput, lower costs and in some cases, create
opportunities for value-added products.

These core improvement investments are -- and will remain -- among our top capital allocation priorities.
Growth is an important tandem priority. We have invested nearly $86‰ million in prudent acquisitions to grow
our heavy-side business system over these same five years. Our cash flows give us tremendous financial
flexibility to capture opportunities that arise. We have invested over $ı.7 billion dollars in share repurchases
over this same five-year interval, which is another way in which we are demonstrably investing in our “core”.



These investments over the last five years (capital improvements, acquisitions, and the return of cash to
shareholders) totaled over $3 billion. It is worth noting that we ended this fiscal year with a net leverage ratio
of ı.4x, which is virtually the same as our leverage ratio five years ago. This is another vivid testament to the
cash generation capability of our company.

Superior Execution

œince we are in commodity industries it follows that the way to outperform the competition through cycles is to
be a low-cost producer and work to continually expand that low-cost advantage. Our EBITDA margins are
industry leading. Analysis of ž5‰ building products industry players consistently puts us at or near the top of
the group depending on the quarter. The reasons for this are partly culturally related. We are a “no-frills
culture” and we are relentless about focusing on value-adding activities, which also means we are scrupulous
about not indulging in activities and initiatives that are not value-adding. There is an intense intolerance for
bureaucracy at Eagle. We also lean on process disciplines and reliable methods and expect team members to
be good teachers and mentors about these process disciplines, most notably safety, environmental and
operational disciplines.

Effective Engagement

We have a three-part saying at Eagle that embodies our success philosophy and it also reflects where we
spend our time: “Choose the value to create” (wisely, strategically), “create the value” (superior execution) and
“communicate the value”. We believe that doing all three exceptionally well is essential to our success.

“Communicating the value” is important in a number of ways. It is essential to level-set the understanding of all
team members that have a role in creating the value (which at Eagle means all team members, since if it is not
a vital role it is not a position). It is essential to communicate our product and service value proposition to
customers so they choose us as a supplier and reward us for the value created. It is essential to communicate
with investors so they can evaluate our company’s value proposition in light of their other investment options.

A great example of “communicating the value” this year has been our roll-out of Portland Limestone Cement
and the work to provide the right information and perspectives about this product so that œtate Departments of
Transportation can make prudent decisions about its adoption.

We set an internal goal of making a product mix shift to ı‰‰% Limestone Cement for all construction grades
(which entails œtate DOT approvals) and we are well ahead of plan here. This is an important initiative for two
reasons. First, it makes our finite clinker production go farther, in effect increasing our salable cement
capacity, and second, in conjunction with related actions, implies a 2‰% reduction in CO2 per ton from our
2‰ıı baseline.

This fiscal year has been a stellar year of accomplishment in which our team takes great pride. And our track
record gives us conviction in saying that the best is indeed yet to come.
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PART I

ITEM 1. Business

OVERVIEW

Eagle Materials Inc., through its subsidiaries, (the Company, which may be referred to as we, our, or us)
is a leading manufacturer of heavy construction materials and light building materials in the United States.
Our primary products, portland Cement and Gypsum Wallboard, are commodities that are essential in
commercial and residential construction; public construction projects to build, expand, and repair roads
and highways; and repair and remodel activities. Demand for our products is generally cyclical and
seasonal, depending on economic and geographic conditions. We distribute our products across many
United States markets, which provides us with regional economic diversification.

The Company was founded in 1963 as a building materials subsidiary of Centex Corporation (Centex). It
operated as a public company under the name Centex Construction Products, Inc. from April 19, 1994 to
January 30, 2004, at which time Centex completed a tax-free distribution of its shares to its shareholders,
and the Company was renamed Eagle Materials Inc. (NYSE: EXP).

Competitive Strengths
We benefit from several competitive strengths that have enabled us to deliver consistently strong
operating results and profitable growth.

Strategically located plant network

Our plants are located near both our raw material reserves and customers in high-growth U.S. markets.
The proximity to raw materials and customers lowers our transportation costs and carbon footprint. The
location of our plants across several high-growth regions within the United States provides geographic
diversification, reducing our exposure to individual regional construction cycles, and enabling us to move
product between different plants in our network as needed. The integrated nature of our plant network
enables us to supply clients from more than one plant when necessary.

Low-cost producer position

Our modern production lines, consistent maintenance programs, access to low-cost raw materials, and
our focus on continuous efficiency improvement help us minimize production costs across the network.

Production flexibility

We manage our production lines and work shifts to enable us to operate our plants at high utilization
levels generally, while providing optimal production flexibility. Accordingly, we can quickly position for
downturns, and quickly and efficiently ramp up when demand rebounds.

Substantial owned raw material reserves and resources

We own between 25 to 50 years of primary raw material reserves for each of our cement and wallboard
facilities, providing certainty of supply and enhancing our ability to control the cost of our primary raw
materials.
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Proven management

Our current management team has significant and valuable expertise, with an average industry
experience of more than 20 years, spanning several business cycles. Management’s conservative
balance sheet strategy focuses on maintaining prudent levels of leverage and liquidity through the
business cycle to protect the balance sheet through downturns and enable us to take advantage of
growth opportunities, whether organic or through acquisitions.

Strategy
We rigorously pursue the following overarching strategic objectives that we believe consistently
differentiate us from our competitors and contribute to our margin performance and growth: maintaining
our position as a low-cost producer in all our markets, maintaining a decentralized operating structure,
operating solely in the United States in regionally diverse and attractive markets, achieving profitable
growth through both strategic acquisitions and the organic development of our asset network, and
operating in a socially and environmentally responsible manner.

Continuously innovate to advance our low-cost producer position

Our goal and the bedrock of our strategy is to be a low-cost producer in each of the markets in which we
compete. We have right-sized capacity to service the markets we cover, and we focus diligently on
reducing costs and making our operations more efficient to manage free cash flow through the economic
cycle. Maintaining our low-cost position provides meaningful competitive, financial, and environmental
benefits. The products we make are basic necessities, and competition is often based largely on price,
with consistent quality and customer service also being important considerations. Thus, being a low-cost
producer is a competitive advantage and can lead to higher margins, better returns and stronger free
cash flow generation. Being a low-cost producer is not only key to our commercial success, it also aligns
to a significant extent with our commitment to sustainable environmental practices. To maintain our low-
cost producer position, we are always innovating our production processes with the aim of using fewer
resources to make the same products. We regularly invest in technologies at our facilities to control
emissions and to modify the fuels that we burn.

Maintain a decentralized operating structure

The Company operates through a decentralized structure: operations are managed separately, and
products are branded and marketed by our individual companies. This regional-market strategy provides
several benefits, including increased familiarity with our customers, higher brand recognition, and lower
transportation costs, which is a meaningful advantage in the construction materials industry. We view our
cement plant system and our wallboard plant system as integrated networks, allowing us to ship products,
minimize freight costs, and serve customers from different plants when necessary. The impact of regional
construction cycles on our businesses is mitigated to some degree by our geographic diversification and
integrated network of plants.

Operate in regionally diverse and attractive markets

Demand for our products depends on construction activity, which tends to correlate with population
growth. While the Company’s markets include most of the United States, approximately 70% of our total
revenue is generated in ten states: Colorado, Illinois, Kansas, Kentucky, Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada,
Ohio, Oklahoma, and Texas. Population growth is a major driver of construction products and building
materials demand. Population is expected to increase approximately 10% between the 2020 census and



3

2050 for these ten states, compared with 7% population growth for the United States as a whole,
according to the latest update in April 2023 by Moody’s Analytics.

Achieve profitable growth through acquisition and organic development

We seek to grow the Company through acquisitions and the organic development of our asset network.
Since 2012, we have invested approximately $2.2 billion to expand the Heavy Materials sector. These
investments have more than doubled our U.S. cement capacity, making us the largest independent U.S.
cement producer.

This expansion has been achieved mainly through acquisitions, which have expanded our geographic
footprint so that we now have a contiguous and integrated cement system from northern California to
western Pennsylvania and south to Texas. We have completed additional bolt-on acquisitions, which also
contribute to our expanded geographic footprint.

The Company will continue to proactively pursue acquisition opportunities. Our free cash flow and
balance sheet strength enable us to consider acquisitions and organic growth opportunities that align with
our stringent return-on-investment objectives.

Operate in a socially and environmentally responsible manner

We aim to conduct all our operations in a way that enhances returns and maximizes positive social
impact. We have defined our environmental and social responsibility priorities and developed a roadmap
for pursuing them. Our initiatives encompass land use, water, human resources, emissions, and the
reduction of the carbon impacts of our products, which are all areas that we view as essential to our
success. Our roadmap includes specific targets and timeframes in each of these areas.

Management is responsible for implementing these initiatives, and our Board of Directors oversees
progress. Management submits quarterly progress reports to the Board, and ESG is a regular topic of
discussion at every quarterly Board meeting. Compensation for key executives is linked, in part, to the
achievement of specific ESG goals. In 2022, over half of our Chief Executive Officer’s annual bonus was
related to the advancement of the Company’s ESG priorities.

Our latest Environmental and Social Disclosure Report provides information related to our roadmap,
targets, and progress in improving our efficiency and long-term sustainability of our resources, ensuring
the safety of our employees (see also Human Capital below), protecting human rights, and delivering
value to our shareholders and society. The above reference to our Environmental and Social Disclosure
Report does not mean that such report is incorporated by reference herein.

Capital allocation priorities
Our capital allocation priorities are intended to enhance shareholder value and are as follows: 1. investing
in growth opportunities that meet our strict financial return standards and are consistent with our strategic
focus; 2. operating capital investments to maintain and strengthen our low-cost producer positions; and 3.
returning excess cash to shareholders through our share repurchase program and dividends. In the past
five years, we have invested nearly $857.8 million in acquisitions, $476.7 million in organic capital
expenditures, and approximately $1.7 billion in share repurchases and dividends. Since becoming a
public company in 1994, our share count is down nearly 48%, and we have returned approximately $3.2
billion to our shareholders through a combination of share repurchases and dividends.
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FISCAL 2023 EVENTS

Financial Highlights
Fiscal 2023 was a strong year for the Company, with increased earnings in both our Cement and Gypsum
Wallboard segments. Financial highlights for fiscal 2023 compared with fiscal 2022 include:

• Achieved record Revenue of $2.1 billion, up 15%.

• Increased Net Earnings by 23% to $461.5 million.

• Expanded gross profit margin by 190 bps to 29.8%.

• Increased diluted earnings per share by 36% to $12.46.

• Repurchased approximately 3.1 million shares of our stock for $387.7 million.

Strategic Highlights
In addition to the above financial highlights, we closed on two acquisitions and amended our revolving
credit facility (as amended, the Revolving Credit Facility) during fiscal 2023.

Acquisitions

On April 22, 2022, we acquired the assets of a readymix concrete and aggregates business in northern
Colorado (the ConAgg Acquisition). The purchase price of the ConAgg Acquisition was approximately
$120.2 million and is included in our Heavy Materials sector, in the Concrete and Aggregates segment.

On September 16, 2022, we acquired a cement distribution terminal located in Nashville, Tennessee (the
Terminal Acquisition). The purchase price of the Terminal Acquisition was approximately $39.5 million
and is included in our Heavy Materials sector, in the Cement segment.

Subsequent to year end, on May 3, 2023, we acquired a cement import distribution terminal located in
Stockton, California (the Stockton Acquisition). This terminal will be included in our Heavy Materials
sector, in the Cement segment, in fiscal 2024.

See Footnote (B) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding the
above Acquisitions.

Progress on ESG Initiatives

Over the last two years we have made significant progress in reducing our carbon footprint with the
introduction of our new Portland Limestone Cement (PLC) product, which has similar performance
characteristics, and significantly lower carbon intensity than traditional portland cement. In fiscal 2023,
approximately 30% of our cement sales volumes was PLC. We will continue to transition our construction-
grade cement from traditional portland cement to PLC during fiscal 2024.

We are also participating in research and innovation in industry-wide carbon capture. In 2022, the U.S.
Department of Energy awarded funding to design, build, and operate an engineering-scale Cryogenic
Carbon Capture (CCC) process at our Sugar Creek, Missouri cement plant. CCC is an innovative carbon-
capture and storage technology with the potential to reduce carbon emissions from fossil-fuel power
plants and industrial facilities by 90-99%.

Amendment to the Revolving Credit Facility

On May 5, 2022, we amended our Revolving Credit Facility to, among other things, add a $200.0 million
term loan facility (the Term Loan), which was subsequently drawn. We also extend the Revolving Credit
Facility to May 2027, established the Term Loan maturity as May 2027, and established a SOFR-based
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reference rate in lieu of a LIBOR-based reference rate for the purpose of calculating interest on the loans
outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility (including the term loan).

HUMAN CAPITAL

As of March 31, 2023, the Company had approximately 2,400 employees, of which approximately 700 are
salaried and approximately 1,700 are hourly. Approximately 700 of the hourly employees are employed
under collective bargaining agreements and various supplemental agreements with local unions.

Recruiting, developing, and retaining qualified employees is essential to implement our strategy and
maintain our low-cost position. The health and safety of our employees is the highest priority of
management. We have comprehensive safety and wellness processes and policies, and all of our
employees are provided with the training necessary to safely and effectively perform their responsibilities.

In all our businesses we have implemented initiatives to improve safety in the workplace. We hold an
annual safety conference during which we review our safety performance, assess the effectiveness of our
programs, and determine improvement actions. Specific areas of review include training programs; best
practices; and leading indicators, such as near-miss reporting and root cause analysis of all lost-time
injuries. We also seek the assistance of outside parties in identifying potential safety trends and ways to
mitigate identified risks.

Management reviews a variety of safety metrics, including leading and lagging indicators, and updates
are provided to corporate management by the business units monthly throughout the year. During fiscal
2023, all of our business segments recorded lower total recordable incident rate (TRIR) averages than
the applicable industry average. These results can be attributed to the continued focus on proactive
safety initiatives described above.

INDUSTRY SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our business is organized into two sectors: Heavy Materials, which includes the Cement and Concrete
and Aggregates segments; and Light Materials, which includes the Gypsum Wallboard and Recycled
Paperboard segments. The primary end market for our Cement and Concrete and Aggregates segments
is infrastructure. The primary end market for our Gypsum Wallboard and Recycled Paperboard segments
is residential construction.

For information about the financial results of our business segments, including revenue, average net
sales prices, sales volume and operating earnings, please see Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Heavy Materials
Our Heavy Materials sector provides cement and concrete and aggregates for use in infrastructure,
commercial, and residential construction. This sector comprises the Cement and Concrete and
Aggregates segments. Demand has been strong for these construction products over the last several
years. Cement consumption in the United States, as estimated by the United States Geological Survey
(USGS), was up 3% to approximately 121.2 million short tons in calendar 2022, and imported cement
consumption represented 21% of total sales in calendar 2022 compared with 18% in calendar 2021.
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CEMENT

Cement is the basic binding agent for concrete, a primary construction material. The principal sources of
demand for cement are public infrastructure, commercial construction, and residential construction, with
public infrastructure accounting for nearly 50% of cement demand. Because of its low value-to-weight
ratio, the relative cost of transporting cement on land is high and limits the geographic area in which each
producer can market its products profitably. Management believes shipments of cement by truck are
generally limited to a 150-mile radius from each plant, with the shipping radius increasing to up to 300
miles by rail, and further by barge. Therefore, the U.S. cement industry comprises numerous regional
markets rather than a single national market. Cement consumption is affected by the time of year and
prevalent weather conditions. Cement sales are generally greatest from spring through the middle of
autumn.

The manufacturing process for portland cement primarily involves four main steps, as shown in the
graphic below:

We also produce and market other cementitious products, including slag cement and fly ash. Slag
granules are obtained from a steel company and ground in our grinding facility. Slag is used in concrete
mix designs to improve the durability of concrete and reduce future maintenance costs. Fly ash is a by-
product of a coal-fired power plant and acts as an extender of cement in concrete.

Limestone Resources and Reserves

We mine primarily limestone at our quarry operations serving each of our cement plants. The limestone
mined at our quarries is then converted to cement, as outlined above. Each of our cement plants has its
own dedicated limestone quarries, all of which have adequate access to highways and/or waterways. All
of our mines, with the exception of one, are surface mines, which are mined using open pit techniques.
We have one underground mine serving our plant in Sugar Creek, Missouri. All of our limestone reserves
are located on properties that are in the production stage.

Mineral resources are defined as a concentration or occurrence of material of economic interest in or on
the earth's crust in such form, grade or quality, and quantity that there are reasonable prospects for its
economic extraction. The amount of resources is a reasonable estimate, taking into account such factors
as grade, location, and mining dimensions, while also considering the economic cost of extraction.
Mineral resources are classified into three categories, discussed below in decreasing level of confidence.
Measured mineral resources are based on conclusive geological evidence and sampling, meaning that
evidence is sufficient to test and confirm geological and grade or quality continuity. After applying
modifying factors (as noted below in the discussion of mineral reserves), measured resources may be
converted to either proven or probable reserves. Indicated resources are based on adequate geological
evidence and sampling, meaning that evidence is sufficient to establish geological and grade or quality
continuity with reasonable certainty. After applying modifying factors, indicated resources may be
converted to probable reserves. Inferred resources are based on limited geological evidence and
sampling, meaning that evidence is sufficient only to establish that geological and grade or quality
continuity is more likely than not. Inferred resources may not be converted to reserves.
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Mineral reserves are defined as an estimate of tonnage and grade or quality of indicated and measured
mineral resources that, in the opinion of a qualified person (QP), can be the basis of an economically
viable project. More specifically, it is the economically mineable part of a measured or indicated mineral
resource, which includes diluting materials and allowances for losses that may occur when the material is
mined or extracted. Mineral reserves are classified into two categories, discussed below in decreasing
level of confidence. Proven mineral reserves are the economically mineable part of a measured mineral
resource and only result from conversion of a measured mineral resource. Probable mineral reserves are
the economically mineable part of an indicated and, in some cases, a measured mineral resource.

As of March 31, 2023, we had 312.8 million tons of proven and probable limestone reserves, and 683.4
million tons of measured and indicated limestone resources, exclusive of limestone reserves.
Approximately 84% of our total reserves are owned, with the rest leased. The point of reference for
resources, other than the underground properties associated with the Sugar Creek location, is reported
on an in situ basis. Sugar Creek underground resources are reported on a recoverable basis. The point of
reference for reserves other than the Louisville and Buda locations are reported on a recoverable or "run-
of-mine" basis. Louisville and Buda are reported on an in situ basis. We do not consider any of our
individual quarries to be material for disclosure purposes. All of our individual locations have at least 25
years of reserves, with most of our locations having in excess of 50 years. We obtained technical reports
from a third-party qualified person for each of our locations during fiscal 2022, except LaSalle, Illinois,
which was as of January 31, 2023. The other locations were not updated during fiscal 2023 because we
did not add any additional properties and did not do any additional exploration on sites during fiscal 2023.
Additionally, the change in selling price did not materially increase, which further supports no material
change on the estimated resource and reserve amounts calculated in fiscal 2022. The total reserves for
fiscal 2023 for all locations with the exception of LaSalle, Illinois were calculated by taking the reserves as
of March 31, 2022 and adjusting them for tons mined in fiscal 2023. These technical reports obtained in
fiscal 2022 (fiscal 2023 for LaSalle, Illinois) were prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Modernization of Property Disclosures for Mining Registrants set forth in subpart 1300 of Regulation S-K.

Below is a summary of our limestone resources, exclusive of limestone reserves, serving each of our
cement plants at March 31, 2023:

Limestone Resources (1)

(tons in thousands)

Location Measured Indicated
Total Measured &

Indicated Inferred
Buda, Texas (2) 51,840 11,300 63,140 1,000
LaSalle, Illinois 19,350 5,700 25,050 50
Sugar Creek, Missouri 67,900 66,000 133,900 32,300
Laramie, Wyoming 60,100 46,900 107,000 360,300
Tulsa, Oklahoma 35,400 10,300 45,700 2,100
Fernley, Nevada 78,400 29,800 108,200 17,200
Louisville, Kentucky 67,500 99,900 167,400 119,200
Fairborn, Ohio 13,880 19,200 33,080 1,700

394,370 289,100 683,470 533,850

(1) Measured, Indicated and Inferred resources are based on an initial assessment using average selling price assumptions ranging
from $13.00 to $18.00 per ton depending on location and market.
(2) Reflects the Company's 50% ownership interest.
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Below is a summary of our limestone reserves serving each of our cement plants at March 31, 2023:

Limestone Reserves (1)

(tons in thousands)
Location Proven Probable Total Proven & Probable
Buda, Texas (2) 28,900 10,000 38,900
LaSalle, Illinois 14,980 4,450 19,430
Sugar Creek, Missouri 23,320 7,660 30,980
Laramie, Wyoming 38,915 25,400 64,315
Tulsa, Oklahoma 27,520 4,570 32,090
Fernley, Nevada 17,990 6,500 24,490
Louisville, Kentucky 27,375 49,850 77,225
Fairborn, Ohio 25,415 — 25,415

204,415 108,430 312,845

(1) The economic viability of our reserves was determined using average limestone prices ranging from $13.00 to $18.00 per ton,
depending on location and market.
(2) Reflects the Company's 50% ownership interest.

Below is a summary the annual production volumes from our cement quarries:

Tons Mined
(tons in thousands)

Location 2023 2022 2021
Buda, Texas (1) 730 800 775
LaSalle, Illinois 1,265 980 1,230
Sugar Creek, Missouri 1,050 1,130 1,100
Laramie, Wyoming 1,000 1,140 1,085
Tulsa, Oklahoma 880 890 910
Fernley, Nevada 570 500 480
Louisville, Kentucky 2,185 2,100 1,965
Fairborn, Ohio 970 920 960

8,650 8,460 8,505

(1) Reflects the Company's 50% ownership interest.

Our total measured and indicated limestone resources were 683.4 million tons at March 31, 2023,
compared with 679.2 million tons at March 31, 2022. The 1% increase was due primarily to exploration at
our LaSalle, Illinois mine. Our total proven and probable reserves were 312.9 million tons at March 31,
2023, compared with 321.0 million tons at March 31, 2022. The 3% decline was due to depletion during
fiscal 2023.

All of our quarries are close to our operating facilities. See Item 2. Properties for the map showing the
locations of all operating facilities for the Company.

Internal Controls

We have compiled reserve and resource estimates with the assistance of third-party QP. In general, the
procedure for developing these estimates was a collaboration between site personnel and the QP for
each individual site. Past exploration data was field verified and quality was verified by reviewing on-site
lab certification or third-party testing. Third-party resource modeling was developed using verified past
exploration data and field observations. Where applicable, site-specific ore density, recovery, and loss
parameters were used in order to calculate reserves. Property ownership, permit status, and lease
evaluations were performed by the third-party QP to evaluate the legal right to mine. When evaluating
economic viability, past income statements and operating costs were reviewed, as well as future
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operating and capital cost estimates. Commodity pricing was either taken from published USGS reports
or from reasonable expected pricing given site location and haulage rates.

Cement Plants

We operate eight modern cement plants (one of which is operated through a joint venture), and one slag
grinding facility. Our clinker capacity is approximately 6.7 million tons, which is approximately 6% of total
U.S. clinker capacity. Clinker is the intermediary product before it is ground into cement powder. All of our
cement plants use dry-process technology, and approximately 80% of our clinker capacity is produced
from preheater or preheater/pre-calciner kilns, which are generally more energy-efficient kiln types. In
addition to production facilities, we also operate over 30 cement storage and distribution terminals,
including the Stockton, California terminal purchased on May 3, 2023.

Our cement companies focus on the U.S. heartland and operate as an integrated network selling product
mainly in Colorado, Illinois, Kansas, Kentucky, Indiana, Iowa, Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada, Ohio,
Oklahoma, Tennessee, and Texas. Our Joint Venture (as defined below) includes a minority interest in an
import terminal in Houston, Texas, from which we can purchase up to 495,000 short tons annually. Our
slag facility is located near Chicago, Illinois and has 500,000 tons annual grinding capacity.

The following table sets forth information regarding our cement plants at March 31, 2023 (tons are in
thousands of short tons):

Plant Location

Rated Annual
Clinker

Capacity (1)

Annual
Grinding
Capacity

Manufacturing
Process

Number
of Kilns

Kiln
Dedication
Date

Buda, TX (2) 1,300 1,435 Dry – 4 Stage Preheater/
Pre-calciner

1 1983

LaSalle, IL 1,000 1,100 Dry – 5 Stage Preheater/Pre-calciner 1 2006
Sugar Creek, MO 1,000 1,300 Dry – 5 Stage Preheater/Pre-calciner 1 2002
Laramie, WY 650 800 Dry – 2 Stage Preheater 1 1988

Dry – Long Dry Kiln 1 1996
Tulsa, OK 600 900 Dry – Long Dry Kiln 1 1961

Dry ‒ Long Dry Kiln 1 1964
Fernley, NV 500 550 Dry – Long Dry Kiln 1 1964

Dry – 1 Stage Preheater 1 1969
Louisville, KY 1,550 1,800 Dry - 4 Stage Preheater/Pre-calciner 1 1999
Fairborn, OH 730 980 Dry – 4 Stage Preheater 1 1974
Total-Gross 7,330 8,865
Total-Net (3) 6,680 8,150

(1) One short ton equals 2,000 pounds.
(2) The amount shown represents 100% of plant capacity. This plant is owned by the Joint Venture in which the Company has a

50% interest.
(3) Net of partner’s 50% interest in the Buda, Texas plant.

All of our cement subsidiaries are wholly owned except the Buda, Texas plant, which is owned by Texas
Lehigh Cement Company LP, a limited partnership joint venture (the Joint Venture) owned 50% by us,
and 50% by Lehigh Cement Company LLC, a subsidiary of Heidelberg Cement AG.

Our cement production, including our 50% share of the cement Joint Venture production, totaled 6.7
million short tons and 6.9 million short tons for fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022, respectively. Total net Cement
sales, including our 50% share of cement sales from the Joint Venture, were 7.1 million short tons and
7.5 million short tons in fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022, respectively. Total net Cement sales exceed
production primarily because of imports through the Houston import terminal.
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Demand, Sales, and Distribution

The principal sources of demand for cement and slag are public infrastructure, private nonresidential
construction, and residential construction, with public infrastructure comprising nearly 50% of total
demand. Cement consumption in the U.S. increased approximately 3% during calendar 2022, and the
Portland Cement Association (PCA) forecasts cement consumption will modestly decline in calendar
2023. Demand for cement is seasonal, particularly in northern states where inclement winter weather
often affects construction activity. Cement sales are generally greatest from spring through the middle of
autumn. Demand for slag has increased as the availability of fly ash has decreased due to the reduction
in the use of coal to generate power.

Because of cement’s low value-to-weight ratio, the relative cost of transporting cement on land is high
and limits the geographic area in which each company can profitably market its products. The low value-
to-weight ratio generally limits shipments by truck to a 150-mile radius from each plant, up to 300 miles by
rail, and further by barge. Consequently, the U.S. cement industry is made up of regional markets rather
than a single national selling market. No single cement company has a distribution of plants extensive
enough to serve all geographic areas, so profitability is sensitive to shifts in the balance between regional
supply and demand.

Environmental and zoning regulations have made it increasingly difficult for the U.S. cement industry to
expand existing facilities and to build new cement facilities. Although we cannot predict which policies will
be adopted in the future by federal, state, and local governmental bodies, we anticipate that future
restrictions will likely continue to make zoning and permitting of new capacity additions difficult. This could
potentially enhance the value of our existing facilities. Furthermore, cost-efficient alternatives to cement
are currently limited, and the availability of some alternatives is diminishing. For example, the availability
of fly ash, a cement replacement, has decreased because of the retirement of coal-fired power plants and
the conversion of power plants from coal to natural gas and other forms of energy.

The difficulty in adding cement capacity, coupled with limited alternatives, leads to high U.S. cement
manufacturing utilization rates, as well as the need for imported cement when demand levels are high.
Cement imports into the U.S. occur mostly to supplement domestic cement production or to supply a
particular region. Cement is typically imported into deep water ports along the coast or on the Great
Lakes or transported on the Mississippi River system near major population centers. Our position in the
U.S. heartland, away from most import terminals, provides a degree of insulation from coastal imports,
given the expense of transporting cement from deep water ports into the heartland regions. This
geographic position further enhances the value of our plant network.

The USGS estimates that imports represented approximately 21% of cement used in the U.S. during
calendar 2022, compared with 18% in calendar 2021. Based on the normal distribution of cement into the
market, we believe that no less than approximately 5% to 10% of the total U.S. consumption will
consistently be served by imported cement.
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The following table sets forth information regarding the geographic areas served by each of our cement
and slag plants and the location of our distribution terminals in each area. We have over 30 cement
storage and distribution terminals, including the Stockton, California terminal that was purchased on May
3, 2023, that are strategically located to extend the sales areas of our plants.

Plant Location Type of Plant Operating Company Name Principal Geographic Areas Distribution Terminals (1)

Buda, Texas Cement Texas Lehigh Cement
Company LP (the Joint
Venture)

Texas and western
Louisiana

Corpus Christi, Texas; Houston, Texas;
Roanoke (Fort Worth), Texas; Waco,
Texas; Houston Cement Company
(Joint Venture), Houston, Texas

LaSalle, Illinois Cement Illinois Cement Company Illinois, Michigan and
southern Wisconsin

Hartland, Wisconsin; South Beloit, Illinois;
Ottawa, Illinois

Sugar Creek,
Missouri

Cement Central Plains Cement
Company

Western Missouri, eastern
Kansas, eastern Nebraska,
and Iowa

Sugar Creek, Missouri; Wichita, Kansas;
Omaha, Nebraska; Altoona, Iowa;

Tulsa, Oklahoma Cement Central Plains Cement
Company

Oklahoma, western
Arkansas, and southern
Missouri

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma;
Springfield, Missouri

Laramie,
Wyoming

Cement Mountain Cement
Company

Wyoming, Utah, Colorado,
and western Nebraska

Salt Lake City, Utah; Denver, Colorado;
North Platte, Nebraska

Fernley, Nevada Cement Nevada Cement Company Northern Nevada and
northern California

Sacramento, California;
Stockton, California (2)

Louisville,
Kentucky

Cement Kosmos Cement
Company

Kentucky, Ohio, Indiana,
West Virginia, eastern
Illinois, western
Pennsylvania, and northern
Tennessee

Indianapolis, Indiana; Ceredo, West Virginia;
Lexington, Kentucky (3); Cincinnati, Ohio;
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; Nashville, Tennessee
Charleston, West Virginia;
Mount Vernon, Indiana (3)

Fairborn, Ohio Cement Fairborn Cement
Company

Ohio, eastern Indiana, and
northern Kentucky

Columbus, Ohio

Chicago, Illinois Slag Skyway Cement Company Illinois, Pennsylvania,
Iowa, Ohio, Minnesota,
Missouri and Kansas

Kansas City, Missouri; Etna, Pennsylvania;
Fairfield, Ohio (3)

(1) Each distribution terminal listed in this table is capable of handling cement and/or slag.
(2) As part of the Stockton Acquisition on May 3, 2023, we assumed the lease to this terminal.
(3) These facilities are being leased.

We are leasing the terminal in Fairfield, Ohio under an initial term of four years, with two one-year options,
which expire in fiscal 2025. The terminal in Lexington, Kentucky is being leased under an initial term of
five years and will be up for renewal in fiscal 2024. The terminal in Mt. Vernon, Indiana is leased through
fiscal 2031, and contains options that will allow the renewal of this lease for an additional twenty years.
The terminal in Stockton, California is leased through 2035.

Cement and slag are distributed directly to our customers mostly through customer pickups, and also by
common carriers from our plants or distribution terminals. We transport cement, slag, and fly ash by truck,
barge, and rail to our storage and distribution terminals.

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our Cement segment sales during fiscal 2023. We
do not typically enter into long-term cement sales contracts or have a significant level of order backlog.
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Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies

The principal raw material used in the production of portland cement is calcium carbonate in the form of
limestone. Limestone is obtained mainly through mining and extraction operations conducted at mines
and quarries that we own or lease, and that are located in close proximity to our plants. We believe the
estimated recoverable limestone reserves and resources we own or lease will permit each of our plants to
operate at our present production capacity for at least 25 years. We are actively seeking to upgrade our
extensive high-quality resource base at existing properties to reserves, or acquire additional limestone
reserves close to our plants, and believe we will be able to acquire more reserves in the future. All
properties have additional resources that have potential with additional engineering and evaluation to be
upgraded to reserves. Other raw materials used in substantially smaller quantities than limestone are
sand, clay, iron ore, and gypsum. These materials are readily available and can be obtained either from
Company-owned or leased reserves, or can be purchased from outside suppliers.

We utilize coal, petroleum coke, natural gas, and alternative fuels to fuel our cement plants. The cost of
fuel and power increased throughout fiscal 2023, compared with fiscal 2022, due primarily to higher costs
for solid fuels, such as coal and petroleum coke. Much of the increase in the price of these fuels was due
to higher delivery costs. We expect the cost of fuel and power to continue to rise in fiscal 2024, especially
the cost of solid fuels, in which the cost of both fuel and transportation is expected to increase. In keeping
with our commitment to sustainability and cost management, we continue to expand the use of alternative
fuels at our cement facilities.

We have an agreement with a steel manufacturer to supply granules necessary for grinding slag. This
agreement requires us to purchase up to 550,000 tons of granules, which meet certain specifications,
made available by the steel manufacturer each year. Electric power is also a major cost component in the
manufacturing process for both cement and slag, and we have sought to diminish overall power costs by
adopting interruptible power supply agreements at certain locations. These agreements may expose us to
some production interruptions during periods of power curtailment. Historically, we have not had many
production interruptions under these agreements.

Environmental Matters

Our cement operations are subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws and regulations pertaining
to health, safety, and the environment. Some of these laws, such as the federal Clean Air Act (CAA) and
the federal Clean Water Act (CWA) (and analogous state laws) impose environmental-permitting
requirements and govern the nature and amount of emissions that may be generated when conducting
particular operations. Other laws, such as the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) (and analogous state laws) impose obligations to clean up or
remediate spills of hazardous materials into the environment. Still other laws require us to reclaim certain
land upon completion of extraction and mining operations in our quarries. We believe that we have
obtained all the material environmental permits that are necessary to conduct our operations. We further
believe that we are conducting our operations in substantial compliance with these permits. In addition,
none of our manufacturing sites is listed as a CERCLA Superfund site.

The following environmental issues involving the cement manufacturing industry deserve special mention.
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Cement Kiln Dust – Our cement operations generate Cement Kiln Dust (CKD) as a byproduct. Because
much of this CKD is unreacted raw materials, it is often returned to the production process. Substantially
all CKD produced in connection with our ongoing operations is recycled. However, CKD was historically
collected and is currently stored on-site at our Nevada, Missouri, Oklahoma and Wyoming cement plants
and at a former plant site in Corpus Christi, Texas, which is no longer producing cement. Currently, CKD
waste is generally excluded from the definition of hazardous waste under the federal regulations. The
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has been evaluating the regulatory status of CKD under the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) since 2002, and thus far has not changed its
approach. If either the EPA or the states decide to reclassify or impose new management standards on
this CKD at some point in the future, we could incur additional costs to comply with those requirements
with respect to our historically collected CKD. CKD that comes in contact with water might produce a
leachate with an alkalinity high enough to be classified as hazardous and might also leach certain
hazardous trace metals therein.

Potential Greenhouse Gas Regulation – The potential regulation of our emission of greenhouse gases
(GHGs), including carbon dioxide, could affect our cement operations because (1) the cement
manufacturing process requires the combustion of large amounts of fuel to generate very high kiln
temperatures; and (2) the production of carbon dioxide is a byproduct of the calcination process, whereby
carbon dioxide is removed from calcium carbonate to produce calcium oxide. Curbing GHG emissions is
a clear priority for the Biden administration, and as part of rejoining the Paris Agreement, President Biden
announced that the United States would commit to a 50 to 52 percent reduction from 2005 levels of GHG
emissions by 2030 and set the goal of reaching net-zero GHG emissions by 2050. Further, several states
have individually implemented or are presently considering measures to reduce emissions of GHGs,
primarily through the planned development of GHG inventories or registries, or regional GHG cap and
trade programs. It is not possible at this time to predict how any future legislation that may be enacted or
final EPA regulations that may be adopted to address GHG emissions would impact our business.
However, any imposition of raw materials or production limitations, fuel-use or carbon taxes, or emission
limitations or reductions could have a significant impact on the cement manufacturing industry and a
material adverse effect on us and our results of operations.

Solid Waste Incineration Regulations – The EPA has promulgated revised regulations for Commercial
and Industrial Solid Waste Incineration (CISWI) units, pursuant to Section 129 of the CAA. The EPA has
approved several states’ implementation plans under this rule, and has proposed a federal plan that
would apply in states that have not submitted and received approval for a state plan. Compared to the
Portland Cement Manufacturing Industry National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (PC
NESHAP), the CISWI regulations contain requirements across a broader range of pollutants, and the
requirement that apply for dioxin/furans for existing and new sources are somewhat more stringent.

Air Quality Standards – The EPA is engaged in an ongoing review and implementation of the national
ambient air quality standards (NAAQS) for ozone. The CAA requires the EPA to review, and if necessary,
revise the NAAQS every five years. In December 2020, the Trump Administration announced its decision
to retain the 2015 ozone NAAQS set by the Obama Administration without change. This December 2020
final action, however, is subject to legal challenge and is currently being reviewed by the EPA pursuant to
President Biden’s executive order directing federal agencies to review certain environmental actions
taken by the Trump Administration.
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In addition, in February 2023, the EPA published a final rule disapproving the State Implementation Plans
(SIPs) for twenty-one states, which addressed each state’s obligations to eliminate significant
contributions to nonattainment, or interference with maintenance, of the 2015 ozone NAAQS in other
states (“interstate transport requirements”). States subject to a SIP Disapproval under this final action
relevant to our cement operations include Illinois, Kentucky, Missouri, Nevada, Ohio, Oklahoma, and
Texas.

In March 2023, the EPA finalized a proposed Federal Implementation Plan (FIP) addressing twenty-six
states’ interstate transport obligations. States subject to the FIP relevant to our cement operations include
Illinois, Kentucky, Missouri, Nevada, Ohio, Oklahoma, and Texas. The FIP establishes nitrogen oxide
(NOx) emissions limitations beginning in 2026 during the ozone season for kilns used in cement and
cement product manufacturing in 20 states, including all the above-listed states. The FIP will be effective
60 days after it is published in the Federal Register.

Our facilities most directly affected by the disapproval by the EPA of the SIPs and the FIP finalized in
March 2023 are our cement plants located in Nevada, Oklahoma and Texas. Between February and
April 2023, various legal challenges were filed against the EPA’s disapproval of the SIPs for such states
including Nevada, Oklahoma and Texas. We also filed our own challenges to the disapproval of the SIPs
in these three states. In each of these actions, the petitioners have challenged the failure on the part of
the EPA to appropriately defer to the applicable state’s analysis and determinations regarding interstate
transport obligations. An adverse outcome in these actions could require us to incur significant capital
expenditures related to the installation of additional controls and additional operating costs at the affected
facilities or, if the installation of controls proves impracticable, to modify or curtail our operations at such
facilities, which could have a material adverse effect on their profitability. These legal proceedings are in
their preliminary stages, and we are unable to predict the likely outcome thereof. At present, no legal
challenges have been filed against the FIP finalized by the EPA as it has not yet been published in the
Federal Register.

Other – We believe that our current procedures and practices in our operations, including those for
handling and managing hazardous materials, are consistent with industry standards and are in substantial
compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations. Nevertheless, because of the complexity
of our operations and the environmental laws to which we are subject, there can be no assurance that
past or future operations will not result in violations, remediation costs, or other liabilities or claims.
Moreover, we cannot predict what environmental laws will be enacted or adopted in the future or how
such future environmental laws or regulations will be administered or interpreted. Compliance with more
stringent environmental laws, or stricter interpretation of existing environmental laws, could necessitate
significant capital outlays.

In fiscal 2023, we had $3.1 million of capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental
regulations applicable to our Cement operations. We anticipate spending $7.5 million during fiscal 2024.

CONCRETE AND AGGREGATES

Readymix concrete is a versatile, low-cost building material used in almost all construction. The
production of readymix concrete involves mixing cement, sand, gravel or crushed stone, and water to
form concrete, which is then sold and distributed to numerous construction contractors. Concrete is
produced in batch plants and transported to customers’ job sites in mixer trucks.

The aggregates business consists of mining, extracting, producing, and selling crushed stone, sand, and
gravel. Construction aggregates of suitable characteristics are employed in virtually all types of
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construction, including the production of readymix concrete, flexible base, and asphaltic mixes used in
highway construction and maintenance.

On April 22, 2022, we closed the ConAgg Acquisition, for which we paid approximately $120.2 million.
The ConAgg Acquisition included three concrete readymix locations, two aggregate mining operations,
three aggregate recycling locations, and approximately 24 concrete trucks. See Footnote (B) to the
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding the ConAgg Acquisition.

Aggregate Resources and Reserves

We conduct Aggregate operations near our concrete facilities. Aggregates are obtained principally by
mining and extracting from quarries owned or leased by the Company.

Mineral resources and reserves for our aggregate plants consist of both sand and gravel, as well as
limestone, and are defined similarly to how these reserves are defined for our Cement business. See the
Limestone Resources and Reserves section in the Cement segment discussion for a more detailed
description of how we define mineral resources and reserves.

As of March 31, 2023, we had 116.7 million tons of proven and probable aggregate reserves and 145.3
million tons of measured and indicated aggregate resources, exclusive of aggregate reserves.
Approximately 39% of our reserves are owned, with the rest covered under leases expiring between 2040
and 2060. We do not consider any of our individual quarries to be material for disclosure purposes. All of
our individual locations have at least 25 years of reserves.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our aggregates facilities as well as aggregates
resources, exclusive of aggregates reserves, at March 31, 2023:

Aggregates Resources (1)

(tons in thousands)

Location
Types
of Aggregates

Estimated Annual
Production Capacity

(Thousand tons) Measured Indicated
Total Measured

& Indicated Inferred
Central Texas Limestone and Gravel 2,500 — — — 74,700
Kansas City Area (2) Limestone — — — — 25,000
Northern Colorado Sand and Gravel 1,700 21,735 7,135 28,870 7,000
Northern Kentucky Sand and Gravel 1,000 6,340 58,410 64,750 140,820
Northern Nevada Sand and Gravel 850 31,650 20,025 51,675 20,515

6,050 59,725 85,570 145,295 268,035

(1) Aggregate resources are reported on an in situ basis.
(2) The Company currently is not operating its aggregate facility in the Kansas City area.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our aggregate reserves at March 31, 2023:

Aggregate Reserves (1)

(tons in thousands)
Location Proven Probable Total Proven & Probable
Central Texas 59,565 — 59,565
Kansas City Area (2) — — —
Northern Colorado 1,650 11,635 13,285
Northern Nevada 30,080 13,760 43,840

91,295 25,395 116,690

(1) Aggregate reserves are reported on saleable product basis.
(2) The Company is currently not operating its aggregate facility in the Kansas City area.
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Below is a summary the annual production volumes from our aggregates quarries:

Tons Mined
(tons in thousands)

Location 2023 2022 2021
Central Texas 1,935 1,815 1,860
Kansas City Area (1) — — —
Northern Colorado 460 — —
Northern Nevada 760 700 640

3,155 2,515 2,500

(1) The Company currently is not operating its aggregate facility in the Kansas City area.

Our total measured and indicated aggregates resources increased to 145.3 million tons at March 31,
2023, compared with 20.8 million tons at March 31, 2022 due to the ConAgg Acquisition in northern
Colorado, the startup of an aggregates operation in northern Kentucky, and the purchase of land in
northern Nevada. Our total proven and probable reserves increased to 117.0 million tons at March 31,
2023, compared with 90.9 million tons at March 31, 2022, due to the same factors responsible for the
increase in measured and indicated resources.

The internal controls over our resource and reserve estimates have been compiled in a manner similar to
those in our Cement business. See the Internal Controls section in the Cement segment discussion for a
more detailed description of our internal controls over resource and reserve estimation.

Our total net Aggregates sales (excluding intercompany tons sold) were 2.9 million tons in fiscal 2023 and
1.5 million tons in fiscal 2022. Total Aggregates production was 4.0 million tons in fiscal 2023 and 2.5
million tons in fiscal 2022. The increase in Aggregates sales and production in fiscal 2023, compared with
fiscal 2022 was due to the ConAgg Acquisition. A portion of our total Aggregates production is used
internally by our readymix Concrete operations in Texas, northern Colorado, and northern Nevada.

Concrete Plants

We produce and distribute readymix concrete from company-owned sites in Central Texas; the greater
Kansas City area; northern Colorado: and northern Nevada. The following table sets forth information
regarding these operations as of March 31, 2023:

Location Number of Plants
Central Texas 9
Kansas City Area 9
Northern Colorado 4
Northern Nevada 8

Total 30

Demand, Sales, and Distribution

Demand for readymix concrete and aggregates largely depends on local levels of construction activity.
Construction activity is also subject to weather conditions, the availability of financing at reasonable rates,
and overall fluctuations in local economies, and therefore tends to be cyclical. We sell readymix concrete
to numerous contractors and other customers in each plant’s marketing area. Our batch plants in Central
Texas, the greater Kansas City area, northern Colorado, and northern Nevada are strategically located to
serve each marketing area. Concrete is delivered from the batch plants primarily by company-owned
trucks. We sell aggregates to building contractors and other customers engaged in a wide variety of



17

construction activities. Aggregates are delivered from our plants by common carriers and customer
pickup. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of fiscal 2023 segment revenue.

The concrete and aggregates industry is highly fragmented, with numerous participants operating in each
local area. Because the cost of transporting concrete and aggregates is very high relative to product
values, producers of concrete and aggregates typically can profitably sell their products only in areas
within 50 miles of their production facilities. Barriers to entry in each industry are low, except with respect
to environmental permitting requirements for new aggregates production facilities and zoning of land to
permit mining and extraction of aggregates.

Raw Materials

We obtain cement and aggregates for our Concrete businesses from primarily related companies, as
outlined below:

Percentage of Internally Supplied
Location Cement Aggregates
Central Texas — 45%
Kansas City Area 100% —
Northern Colorado 100% 100%
Northern Nevada 100% 98%

We obtain the balance of our cement and aggregates requirements from multiple outside sources in each
of these areas.

We mine and extract limestone, sand, and gravel, the principal raw materials used in the production of
aggregates, from quarries owned or leased by us and located near our plants. On average, our aggregate
reserves exceed 25 years based on normalized production levels, excluding northern Kentucky. We just
began mining aggregates from this site and we anticipate, after doing more drilling and analysis, that we
will likely reclassify most of the measured and indicated resources to reserves in the next year or two, at
which time we will have over 25 years of reserves for this location.

Cost of materials and diesel fuel are the two biggest expense items for readymix concrete, and they
increased by 14% and 13%, respectively, in fiscal 2023 compared with fiscal 2022. We anticipate these
costs will increase again in fiscal 2024.

Environmental Matters

The concrete and aggregates industry is subject to environmental regulations similar to those governing
our Cement operations, which is included in the Environmental Matters section in the Cement segment
discussion.

We did not have any capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental regulations applicable
to our Concrete and Aggregates operations in fiscal 2023, and we do not anticipate any material spending
related to compliance with environmental regulations during fiscal 2024.
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Light Materials
Our Light Materials sector comprises the Gypsum Wallboard segment, which produces gypsum wallboard
used in residential and commercial construction and repair and remodel activities, and the Recycled
Paperboard segment, which produces paper primarily used in the manufacture of gypsum wallboard.
Operations in this sector are concentrated in the Sun Belt of the United States, which we define as the
lower half of the United States, but not California. Population in the Sun Belt is projected to grow
approximately 17% between 2020 and 2050, according to the latest update in April 2023 by Moody’s
Analytics. Population growth is a key long-term driver of demand for gypsum wallboard and recycled
paperboard.

GYPSUM WALLBOARD

Gypsum wallboard is used to finish the interior walls and ceilings in residential, commercial, and industrial
structures. Our gypsum wallboard products are marketed under the name American Gypsum.

The gypsum wallboard manufacturing process involves four main steps, as shown in the graphic below:

Gypsum Wallboard Plants, Resources and Reserves

We own and operate five gypsum wallboard plants, outlined in the table below. We anticipate running all
our facilities at the level required to meet customer demand, up to maximum capacity. Our gypsum
wallboard is distributed in the geographic markets nearest to our production facilities.

Four of our five gypsum wallboard plants are supplied with gypsum from our nearby gypsum quarries,
while our wallboard plant in South Carolina is supplied with synthetic gypsum under a long-term supply
contract with a third party. We have adequate access to all of our quarries.

Mineral resources and mineral reserves for our Gypsum Wallboard business are defined similarly to how
they are defined for our Cement business. See the Limestone Resources and Reserves section in the
Cement segment discussion for a more detailed description of how we define mineral resources and
reserves.
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As of March 31, 2023, we had 68.5 million tons of proven and probable gypsum reserves, and 151.9
million tons of measured and indicated gypsum resources, exclusive of gypsum reserves. Approximately
45% of our reserves are owned, with the rest leased. We do not consider any of our individual quarries to
be material for disclosure purposes. We obtained technical reports from a third-party QP for each of our
locations during fiscal 2022 except Gypsum, Colorado, which was as of March 31, 2023. The other
locations were not updated during fiscal 2023 because we did not add any additional properties, or do
any additional exploration on sites during fiscal 2023. Additionally, the change in selling price did not
materially increase, which further supports no material change on the estimated resource and reserve
amounts calculated in fiscal 2022. The total reserves for fiscal 2023 for all locations with the exception of
Gypsum, Colorado, were calculated by taking the reserves as of March 31, 2022 and adjusting them for
tons mined in fiscal 2023. These technical reports obtained in fiscal 2022 (fiscal 2023 for Gypsum,
Colorado) were prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Modernization of Property
Disclosures for Mining Registrants set forth in subpart 1300 of Regulation S-K.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our gypsum wallboard plants and gypsum
resources, exclusive of gypsum reserves, at March 31, 2023:

Gypsum Resources (1) (2)

(tons in thousands)

Location

Approximate Annual
Gypsum Wallboard
Capacity (MMSF) (3) Measured Indicated

Total Measured &
Indicated Inferred

Albuquerque, New Mexico 425 41,800 16,000 57,800 6,300
Bernalillo, New Mexico (4) 550 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Gypsum, Colorado 700 20,740 2,780 23,520 —
Duke, Oklahoma 1,300 27,900 42,700 70,600 59,000
Georgetown, South Carolina (5) 900 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Total 3,875 90,440 61,480 151,920 65,300

(1) Gypsum resources are shown on an in situ basis.
(2) Measured, Indicated and Inferred resources are based on an initial assessment using average selling price assumptions ranging

from $13.50 to $16.50 per ton, depending on location and market.
(3) Million Square Feet (MMSF) based on anticipated product mix.
(4) The same resources serve both New Mexico plants.
(5) In 2006, we signed a 60-year supply agreement for synthetic gypsum with Santee Cooper that expires in 2068.

The following table sets forth our gypsum reserves at March 31, 2023:

Gypsum Reserves (1) (2)

(tons in thousands)
Location Proven Probable Total Proven & Probable
Albuquerque, New Mexico 19,880 3,650 23,530
Bernalillo, New Mexico (3) n/a n/a n/a
Gypsum, Colorado 17,700 2,300 20,000
Duke, Oklahoma 6,630 18,350 24,980
Georgetown, South Carolina (4) n/a n/a n/a

Total 44,210 24,300 68,510

(1) Gypsum reserves are shown on a recoverable basis.
(2) The economic viability of our reserves were determined using average gypsum prices ranging from $13.50 to $16.50 per ton,

depending on location and market.
(3) The same reserves serve both New Mexico plants.
(4) In 2006, we signed a 60-year supply agreement for synthetic gypsum with Santee Cooper that expires in 2068.
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Below is a summary the annual production volumes from our gypsum quarries:

Tons Mined Reserves
(tons in thousands)

Location 2023 2022 2021
Albuquerque, New Mexico 470 444 520
Bernalillo, New Mexico (1) n/a n/a n/a
Gypsum, Colorado 595 496 550
Duke, Oklahoma 850 607 405

Total 1,915 1,547 1,475

(1) The same reserves serve both New Mexico plants.

Our total measured and indicated gypsum resources were 151.9 million tons at March 31, 2023,
compared with 141.9 million tons at March 31, 2022. The 7% increase in measured and indicated
resources was due primarily to comfirmation of additional resources from exploration at our Gypsum,
Colorado mine. Our total proven and probable reserves were 68.5 million tons at March 31, 2023,
compared with 62.5 million tons at March 31, 2022. The 10% increase in proven and probable reserves
was due to discovery of additional reserves from exploration at our Gypsum, Colorado mine.

The internal controls over our gypsum resource and reserve estimates are similar to those in our Cement
business. See the Internal Controls section in the Cement segment discussion for a more detailed
description of our internal controls over resource and reserve estimation.

Our Gypsum Wallboard production totaled 3,123 MMSF in fiscal 2023 and 2,982 MMSF in fiscal 2022.
Total Gypsum Wallboard sales were 3,065 MMSF in fiscal 2023 and 2,944 MMSF in fiscal 2022.

Demand, Sales, and Distribution

The principal sources of demand for gypsum wallboard are (i) residential construction, (ii) repair and
remodel activities, (iii) nonresidential construction, and (iv) other markets such as manufactured housing.
According to the Gypsum Association, industry shipments of gypsum wallboard increased 3% to 28.2
billion square feet in calendar 2022. We estimate that residential construction and repair and remodel
accounted for more than 80% of calendar 2022 industry sales.

Demand for gypsum wallboard closely follows construction industry cycles, particularly housing
construction. Demand for wallboard can be seasonal and is generally highest from spring through the
middle of autumn.

We sell gypsum wallboard to numerous building-materials dealers, gypsum wallboard specialty
distributors, lumber yards, home-center chains, and other customers located throughout the United
States, with the exception of the Northeast. Gypsum wallboard is sold on a delivered basis, mostly by
truck. We generally use third-party common carriers for deliveries. Three customers collectively
accounted for approximately 45% of our Gypsum Wallboard segment sales during fiscal 2023.

Although gypsum wallboard is distributed principally in local areas, certain industry producers (including
the Company) have the ability to ship gypsum wallboard by rail outside their usual regional distribution
areas to regions where demand is strong. Our rail distribution capabilities permit us to service customers
in markets on both the east and west coasts, except for the Northeast. Less than 5% of our Wallboard
volume sold during fiscal 2023 was delivered via rail.
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There are currently six manufacturers of gypsum wallboard in the U.S., operating a total of 61 plants with
a total of 71 lines, per the Gypsum Association. We estimate that the four largest producers ‒ Knauf,
National Gypsum Company, Certainteed, and Koch Industries ‒ account for approximately 85% of
gypsum wallboard sales in the U.S. Total wallboard-rated production capacity in the United States is
currently estimated by the Gypsum Association at approximately 34.9 billion square feet per year.

Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies

We mine and extract natural gypsum, the principal raw material used in the manufacture of gypsum
wallboard, from quarries owned, leased, or subject to mining claims owned by the Company and located
near our plants. Our New Mexico reserves are under lease with the Pueblo of Zia. Gypsum ore reserves
at the Gypsum, Colorado plant are contained within a total of 115 placer claims encompassing 2,300
acres. Included in this are 94 unpatented mining claims, where mineral rights can be developed upon
completion of permitting requirements. We are currently in the fifteenth year of a 60-year supply
agreement (original 20-year term with two 20-year extension options) with a public utility in South
Carolina for synthetic gypsum, which we use at our Georgetown, South Carolina plant. If the utility is
unable to generate the agreed-upon amount of gypsum, it is responsible for providing gypsum from a
third party to fulfill its obligations.

Through our modern low-cost paperboard mill, we manufacture sufficient quantities of paper necessary
for our gypsum wallboard production. Paper is a significant cost component in the manufacture of gypsum
wallboard, currently representing approximately one-third of our production cost. Paper costs are
expected to be relatively consistent throughout fiscal 2024. See Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies in the
Recycled Paperboard section for more discussion.

Our gypsum wallboard manufacturing operations use natural gas and electrical power. A significant
portion of the Company’s natural gas requirements for our gypsum wallboard plants are currently
provided by three gas producers under gas-supply agreements expiring in October 2023 for Colorado and
South Carolina, and October 2024 for Oklahoma. If the agreements are not renewed, we anticipate being
able to obtain our gas supplies from other suppliers at competitive prices. Electrical power is supplied to
our New Mexico plants at standard industrial rates by a local utility. For our Albuquerque plant, we have
an interruptible power supply agreement, which may expose it to some production interruptions during
periods of power curtailment. Power for our Gypsum, Colorado facility is generated at the facility by a
cogeneration power plant that we own and operate. Currently, the cogeneration power facility supplies
power and waste hot gases for drying to the gypsum wallboard plant. We do not sell any power to third
parties. Natural gas costs represented approximately 12% of our production costs in fiscal 2023.

Environmental Matters

The gypsum wallboard industry is subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws and regulations
pertaining to health, safety, and the environment. Some of these laws, such as the federal CAA and the
federal CWA (and analogous state laws), impose environmental permitting requirements and govern the
nature and amount of emissions that may be generated when conducting particular operations. Some
laws, such as CERCLA (and analogous state laws), impose obligations to clean up or remediate spills of
hazardous materials into the environment. Other laws require us to reclaim certain land upon completion
of extraction and mining operations in our quarries. None of our Gypsum Wallboard operations is the
subject of any pending local, state, or federal environmental proceedings. We do not, and have not, used
asbestos in any of our gypsum wallboard products.
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We use synthetic gypsum in wallboard manufactured at our Georgetown, South Carolina plant. On April
17, 2015, the EPA published its final rule addressing the storage, reuse, and disposal of coal combustion
products, which include fly ash and flue gas desulfurization gypsum (synthetic gypsum). The rule, which
applies only to electric utilities and independent power producers, establishes standards for the
management of coal combustion residuals (CCRs) under Subtitle D of the RCRA, which is the Subtitle
that regulates non-hazardous wastes. The rule imposes requirements addressing CCR surface
impoundments and landfills, including location restrictions, design, and operating specifications;
groundwater monitoring requirements; corrective action requirements; recordkeeping and reporting
obligations; and closure requirements. Beneficial encapsulated uses of CCRs, including synthetic
gypsum, are exempt from regulation. The rule became effective on October 19, 2015. Given the EPA’s
decision to continue to allow CCR to be used in synthetic gypsum and to regulate CCR under the non-
hazardous waste sections of RCRA, we do not expect the rule to materially affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. The EPA proposed revisions to the final CCR rule in 2018, 2019, and
2020, none of these proposed rules seek to overturn the management of CCR as non-hazardous waste
or the regulatory exemption for beneficial encapsulated use of CCR. Accordingly, we do not believe that
these proposed revisions are likely to have material effects on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations

As discussed in greater detail in the “Environmental Matters” section for Cement, the EPA in October
2015 strengthened the NAAQS for ozone. This resulted in lowering the primary and secondary standards
from 75 parts per billion (ppb) to 70 ppb. The EPA completed its attainment/nonattainment designations
for the revised standards for all areas of the United States in July 2018. In December 2020, the Trump
Administration announced its decision to retain the 2015 ozone NAAQS without change. This December
2020 final action, however, is subject to legal challenge and is currently being reviewed by the EPA
pursuant to President Biden’s executive order directing federal agencies to review certain environmental
actions taken by the Trump Administration. The EPA has not announced whether it plans to uphold or
revise the 2020 ozone NAAQS. Consequently, if areas in or surrounding our operations obtain
nonattainment designations, or if the EPA chooses to revise and lower the current ozone NAAQS, our
consolidated financial results and operations may be materially impacted.

Our gypsum wallboard manufacturing process combusts natural gas. It is possible that GHG emissions
from our manufacturing could become subject to regulation under the CAA as the EPA begins issuing
new regulations to achieve President Biden’s GHG emission reduction goals. For a more detailed
discussion of this issue, see the “Environmental Matters” section of our Cement business description on
pages 12-14.

Although our Gypsum Wallboard operations could be adversely affected by federal, regional, or state
climate change initiatives, at this time, it is not possible to accurately estimate how future laws or
regulations addressing GHG emissions would impact our business. However, any imposition of raw
materials or production limitations, fuel-use or carbon taxes, or emission limitations or reductions could
have a significant impact on the gypsum wallboard manufacturing industry and a material adverse effect
on the financial results of our operations.

There were $2.0 million of capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental regulations
applicable to our Gypsum Wallboard operations during fiscal 2023. We do not anticipate any material
capital expenditures related to our Gypsum Wallboard operations during fiscal 2024.
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RECYCLED PAPERBOARD

Our Recycled Paperboard manufacturing operation, which we refer to as Republic Paperboard Company,
is located in Lawton, Oklahoma and has a technologically advanced paper machine designed primarily for
gypsum liner production utilizing 100% recycled paper. The paper’s uniform cross-directional strength and
finish characteristics facilitate the efficiencies of new high-speed wallboard manufacturing lines and
improve the efficiencies of the slower wallboard manufacturing lines. Although the machine was designed
primarily to manufacture gypsum liner products, we are also able to manufacture several alternative
products, including containerboard grades and lightweight packaging grades. We currently estimate the
annual capacity of our paper mill to be approximately 390,000 tons.

Our paper machine allows the Paperboard operation to manufacture high-strength gypsum liner that is
approximately 10% to 15% lighter in basis weight than what is generally available in the U.S. The low-
basis weight product utilizes less recycled fiber to produce paper that, in turn, requires less energy
(natural gas) to evaporate moisture from the board during the gypsum wallboard manufacturing process.
The low-basis weight paper also reduces the overall finished board weight, providing our Wallboard
operations with more competitive transportation costs for both the inbound and outbound segments.

Demand, Sales, and Distribution

Our manufactured recycled paperboard products are sold to gypsum wallboard manufacturers and other
industrial users. During fiscal 2023, approximately 45% of the recycled paperboard sold by our paper mill
was consumed by the Company’s Gypsum Wallboard manufacturing operations. We have contracts with
two other gypsum wallboard manufacturers that expire in the next two to three years, that represent
approximately 50% of our total segment revenue, with the remaining volume shipped to other gypsum
wallboard manufacturers. The loss of any of these contracts or a termination or reduction of their current
production of gypsum wallboard, unless replaced by a commercially similar arrangement, could have a
material adverse effect on the Company.

Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies

The principal raw materials in recycled paperboard are recycled paper fiber (recovered waste paper),
water, and specialty paper chemicals. The largest waste paper source used by the operation is old
corrugated containers (known as OCC). A blend of high grades (white papers consisting of ink-free
papers, such as news blank and unprinted papers) is used in the gypsum liner facing paper, white top
linerboard, and white bag liner grades.

We believe that an adequate supply of recycled paper fiber will continue to be available from sources
located within a reasonable proximity of the paper mill. Although we have the capability to receive rail
shipments, the vast majority of the recycled fiber purchased is delivered via truck. Prices are subject to
market fluctuations based on generation of material (supply), demand, and the presence of the export
market. Fiber pricing, on average, increased during the first half of fiscal 2023, before declining in the
second half of the fiscal year. We expect fiber prices to remain relatively consistent throughout fiscal
2024. Current gypsum liner customer contracts include price escalators that partially offset and
compensate for changes in raw material fiber prices. The chemicals used in the paper making operation,
including size, retention aids, biocides, and bacteria controls, are readily available from several
manufacturers at competitive prices.
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The manufacture of recycled paperboard involves the use of a large volume of water in the production
process. We have an agreement with the City of Lawton municipal services for supply of water to our
manufacturing facility. Electricity, natural gas, and other utilities are available to us at either contracted
rates or standard industrial rates in adequate supplies. These utilities are subject to standard industrial
curtailment provisions.

Paperboard operations are generally large consumers of energy, mostly natural gas and electricity.
Electricity is supplied to the paper mill by Public Service of Oklahoma (PSO), and they have requested an
increase in rates for fiscal 2024. Oklahoma is a regulated state for electricity services, and all rate change
requests must be presented to the Oklahoma Corporation Commission for review and approval before
implementation. At this time, we are unable to estimate how much of the increase will be granted by the
Oklahoma Corporation Commission. This power company has been moving its fuel source dependency
to natural gas, which could affect our electricity rates in future years. Natural gas costs in fiscal 2023 were
higher compared with fiscal 2022, but are expected to decline slightly in fiscal 2024 due to increased
supply.

Environmental Matters

There were no capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental regulations applicable to
our Recycled Paperboard operations during fiscal 2023. We anticipate spending $10.0 million on a water
treatment project during fiscal 2024.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We publish our annual reports on Form 10-K and Form DEF 14A, Annual Proxy Statement; our quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q; and current reports on Form 8-K. These reports, along with all amendments to
them, are available free of charge through the Investor Relations page of our website, located at
eaglematerials.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

The Company also has a Code of Ethics, Human Rights Policy, Code of Vendor Conduct, and
Occupational Health and Safety policies, which can be accessed on our website, as well. Additionally, our
Corporate Governance Guidelines and Stock Ownership Guidelines, as well as the charters for the Audit,
Compensation, and Corporate Governance Committees of the Board are also available on our website.
All of these Corporate Governance and Board Committee Charter documents are available at
ir.eaglematerials.com/corporate-governance. Our Environmental and Social Disclosure Report is
available at eaglematerials.com.

This reference to our website is intended solely to inform investors where they may obtain additional
information; the materials and other information presented on our website are not incorporated in and
should not otherwise be considered part of this Report. Additionally, investors may obtain information by
contacting our Investor Relations department directly at (214) 432-2000 or by writing to Eagle Materials
Inc., Investor Relations, 5960 Berkshire Lane, Suite 900, Dallas, Texas 75225.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors
The foregoing discussion of our business and operations should be read together with the risk factors set
forth below. They describe various risks and uncertainties to which we are or may become subject, many
of which are outside of our control. These risks and uncertainties, together with other factors described
elsewhere in this Report, have affected, or may in the future affect, our business, operations, financial
condition and results of operations in a material and adverse manner.

INDUSTRY RISK FACTORS
We are affected by the level of demand in the construction industry.

Demand for our construction products and building materials is directly related to the level of activity in
the construction industry, which includes residential, commercial and infrastructure construction. Our
products are used in a variety of public infrastructure projects that are funded and financed by federal,
state and local governments, including public construction projects and projects to build, expand and
repair roads and highways. Our products are also essential to commercial and residential construction.

Although we expect an increase in infrastructure spending by the federal and some state and local
governments due to the passage of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act in November 2021,
infrastructure spending may be adversely affected by several factors. Under U.S. law, annual funding
levels for highways is subject to yearly appropriation reviews. The uncertainties associated with these
reviews or other factors could result in states being reluctant to undertake large multi-year highway
projects. In general, there can be no assurance as to the amount and timing of appropriations for
spending on federal, state or local projects. Any decrease in the amount of government funds available
for such projects could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

The recent rise in inflation and interest rates have negatively impacted the construction industry. Among
other things, the industry has experienced rising costs for materials and a decrease in demand. While we
cannot predict the extent to which inflation or rising interest rates will continue or increase, any further
increases could result in a reduction in residential or commercial activity, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Demand for our products
sold to the residential and commercial construction industries could decline if our customers cannot
obtain funding for construction projects, or due to other market factors such as labor shortages and
supply chain issues.

Our business is seasonal in nature, and this causes our quarterly results to vary significantly.

A majority of our business is seasonal with peak revenue and profits occurring primarily in the months of
April through November when the weather in our markets is more suitable for construction activity.
Quarterly results have varied significantly in the past and are likely to vary significantly in the future. Such
variations could have a negative impact on the price of our common stock.
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We are subject to the risk of unfavorable weather conditions, particularly during peak construction periods, as well as
other unexpected operational difficulties.

Unfavorable weather conditions, such as snow, cold weather, tornadoes, hurricanes, tropical storms, and
heavy or sustained rainfall, can reduce construction activity and adversely affect demand for construction
products. In addition, severe weather conditions can impair our ability to continue our operations, and
even require the closure of certain of our facilities on a temporary or extended basis. Weather conditions
also have the potential to increase our costs (including the cost of natural gas and electric power), reduce
our production, or impede our ability to transport our products in an efficient and cost-effective manner.

Similarly, operational difficulties, such as business interruption due to required maintenance, capital
improvement projects, or loss of power, can increase our costs and reduce our production. The effect of
these risks is more pronounced during peak construction periods, such as the months of April through
November, during which any reduction in demand or production could have a disproportionately large
effect on our sales and operating profits.

We and our customers participate in cyclical industries and regional markets, which are subject to industry
downturns.

A majority of our revenue is from customers who are in industries and businesses that are cyclical in
nature and subject to changes in general economic conditions. For example, many of our customers
operate in the construction industry, which is affected by a variety of factors, such as general economic
conditions, changes in interest rates, demographic and population shifts, levels of infrastructure spending,
and other factors beyond our control. In addition, since our operations are in a variety of geographic
markets, our businesses are subject to differing economic conditions in each such geographic market.
Economic downturns in the industries to which we sell our products or localized downturns in the regions
where we have operations generally have an adverse effect on demand for our products and negatively
affect the collectability of our receivables. In general, any downturns in these industries or regions could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Many of our products are commodities, which are subject to significant changes in supply and demand and price
fluctuations.

Many of the products sold by us are commodities, and competition among manufacturers is based largely
on price. Prices are often subject to material changes in response to relatively minor fluctuations in supply
and demand, general economic conditions, and other market conditions beyond our control. Increases in
the production capacity of industry participants for products such as gypsum wallboard or cement
(including in connection with the increased use of Portland Limestone Cement) or increases in cement
imports tend to create an oversupply of such products leading to an imbalance between supply and
demand, which can have a negative impact on product prices. Currently, there continues to be significant
excess nameplate capacity in the gypsum wallboard industry in the United States. There can be no
assurance that prices for products sold by us will not decline in the future or that such declines will not
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our businesses face many competitors.

Our businesses have many domestic and international competitors, some of whom are bigger and have
more resources than we do. Our results are affected by the number of competitors in a market, the
production capacity that a particular market can accommodate, the pricing practices of other competitors
and the entry of new competitors in a market. We also face competition for some of our products from
alternative products. For example, our Concrete and Aggregates segment may compete with recycled
concrete products that could be used in certain applications instead of new products and our cement
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operations may compete with international competitors who import products into the United States from
jurisdictions with lower production and regulatory costs.

ECONOMIC, POLITICAL, AND LEGAL RISK FACTORS
A pandemic, epidemic, or other public health emergency, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

Our operations expose us to risks associated with pandemics, epidemics or other public health
emergencies, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in governments in the
United States and elsewhere in the world implementing or reimplementing strict measures to help control
the spread of the virus, including quarantines, “shelter in place” and “stay at home” orders, travel
restrictions, business curtailments, school closures, and other measures. Notwithstanding these
measures, we were able to continue our operations throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. Nevertheless,
the COVID-19 pandemic had negative impacts on our operations, supply chain, transportation networks
and customers. The extent to which a resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic, or any variant thereof, or
any other pandemic, in our primary areas of operation may impact our employees, employee productivity,
business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows will depend on future developments,
which remain highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including, but not limited to, the duration and
geographic spread of any outbreak, its severity, the actions to contain the virus or treat its impact.

Our and our customers’ operations are subject to extensive governmental regulation, including environmental laws,
which can be costly and burdensome.

Our operations and those of our customers are subject to and affected by federal, state, and local laws
and regulations with respect to such matters as land usage, street and highway usage, noise level, and
health and safety and environmental matters. In many instances, various certificates, permits, or licenses
are required in order for us or our customers to conduct business or carry out construction and related
operations. For example, in the environmental area, certain of our waste-burning cement kilns are subject
to the CISWI Rule, which is discussed above in “Environmental Matters” in the Cement section. Although
we believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with applicable regulatory requirements,
there can be no assurance that we will not incur material costs or liabilities in connection with the
adoption of new laws or regulations, or changes to or amendments of existing laws or regulations, or that
demand for our products will not be adversely affected by regulatory issues affecting our customers.
Some of the states in which we operate contain at least one “area” that was designated as being in
nonattainment for the 2015 ozone NAAQS or had adopted SIPs to address their interstate transportation
obligations, which were disapproved by the EPA, and will be subject to a FIP finalized by the EPA that
would impose stricter standards with respect to such obligations. We may be required to meet new control
requirements in our facilities in these states requiring significant capital expenditures for compliance and
may incur additional operating costs or need to modify or curtail the nature and scope of our operations at
such facilities to meet our regulatory obligations. For further information regarding these matters, please
refer to Item 1. Business - Industry Segment Information. In addition, future developments, such as the
discovery of new facts or conditions, the enactment or adoption of new or stricter laws or regulations, or
stricter interpretations of existing laws or regulations, may impose new liabilities on us, require additional
investment by us, or prevent us from opening, expanding, or modifying plants or facilities, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We have incurred, and in the future expect to incur, significant capital and operating expenditures to
comply with such laws and regulations. The cost of complying with such laws and regulations could
significantly affect our businesses.
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Climate change and climate change legislation or regulations may adversely affect our business, including potential
physical and financial impacts.

The effects of climate change and legislation and regulation concerning GHGs could have a material
adverse effect our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity. A number of governmental
bodies have finalized, proposed, or are contemplating legislative and regulatory changes in response to
the potential effects of climate change. Such legislation or regulation has and potentially could include
provisions for a “cap and trade” system of allowances and credits or a carbon tax, among other
provisions. Any future laws or regulations addressing GHG emissions would likely have a negative impact
on our business or results of operations, whether through the imposition of raw material or production
limitations, fuel-use, or carbon taxes emission limitations or reductions, or otherwise. Notably, curbing
GHG emissions and tackling climate change is a clear priority for President Biden’s administration.

Any additional regulatory restrictions on emissions of GHGs imposed by the EPA will likely impact our
cement plants, each of which currently file annual reports of GHG emissions as required by the EPA
reporting rule. However, it is currently impossible to estimate the cost of any such future requirements at
this time. In addition, we may not be able to recover any increased operating costs, taxes or capital
investments relating to GHG emission limitations at those plants from our customers in order to remain
competitive in pricing in the relevant markets.

The effects of future climate change legislation and regulation concerning GHGs are highly uncertain and
difficult to estimate. However, because a chemical reaction inherent to the manufacture of portland
cement releases carbon dioxide, a GHG, cement kiln operations may be disproportionately affected by
future regulation of GHGs. Our cement plants, like those of other cement operators, require combustion
of significant amounts of fuel to generate high kiln temperatures and create carbon dioxide as a product
of the calcination process, which is an unavoidable step in making cement clinker. Accordingly, we
continue to closely monitor GHG regulations and legislation and its potential impact on our cement
business. There is also a potential for climate change legislation and regulation to adversely affect the
cost of purchased energy and electricity.

Other potential effects of climate change include physical effects such as disruption in production and
product distribution as a result of major storm events and shifts in regional weather patterns and
intensities. Production and shipment levels for our businesses correlate with general construction activity,
most of which occurs outdoors and, as a result, is affected by erratic weather patterns, seasonal changes,
and other unusual or unexpected weather-related conditions, which can significantly affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We may also communicate certain initiatives and goals regarding GHG and related matters in our SEC
filings or in other public disclosures. These initiatives and goals may be difficult and expensive to
implement or may not advance at a pace sufficient to meet our goals, and we could be criticized for the
scope, accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the disclosure. Further, statements about our GHG-
related initiatives and goals, and progress towards these goals, may be based on standards for
measuring progress that are still developing, internal controls and processes that continue to evolve and
assumptions that are subject to change in the future. If our GHG-related data, processes and reporting
are inaccurate or incomplete, or if we fail to achieve progress with respect to these goals or initiatives on
a timely basis or at all, our operations and financial performance could be adversely affected.
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Increasing regulatory, stakeholder, and societal environmental, social, governance, and other sustainability (ESG)
matters and our response to these matters could negatively affect our business.

We are subject to increasing governmental, stakeholder and societal attention to ESG matters, including,
climate change, air emissions, waste management, water management, community engagement, human
rights, labor, health and safety, and information disclosure. Such attention may alter the environment in
which we do business and may increase the ongoing costs of compliance, assessment and reporting and
adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity. Non-compliance with, or a
failure to address, the regulatory, stakeholder and societal expectations and accompanying emerging
ESG regulation and policy requirements (and related interpretations) may result in potential cost
increases, fines, penalties, production restrictions, brand or reputational damage, loss of customers,
failure to retain and attract talent and investor activism.

We may become subject to significant cleanup, remediation, reclamation, and other liabilities under applicable
environmental laws.

Our operations are subject to state, federal, and local environmental laws and regulations, which, in some
cases, impose strict liability for cleanup or remediation of environmental pollution and hazardous waste
regardless of negligence or fault and expose us to liability for the conduct of others or for our actions,
even if such actions complied with all applicable laws at the time these actions were taken. These laws
and regulations also require pollution control and prevention, site restoration, reclamation, and operating
permits, and/or approvals to conduct certain of our operations or expand or modify our facilities. These
laws and regulations may also expose us to liability for claims of personal injury or property or natural
resources damage related to alleged exposure to, or releases of, regulated or hazardous materials.
Certain of our operations may from time to time involve the use of substances that are classified as toxic
or hazardous substances within the meaning of these laws and regulations. We are unable to estimate
accurately the impact on our business or results of operations of any such law or regulation at this time.
Risk of environmental liability (including the incurrence of fines, penalties, other sanctions, or litigation
liability) is inherent in the operation of our businesses. As a result, it is possible that environmental
liabilities and compliance with environmental regulations could have a material adverse effect on our
operations in the future.

Our operations are dependent on our rights and ability to mine our properties and on our having renewed or received
the required permits and approvals from governmental authorities and other third parties.

We hold numerous governmental, environmental, mining, and other permits, water rights, and approvals
authorizing operations at many of our facilities. A decision by a governmental agency or other third parties
to deny or delay issuing a new or renewed permit or approval, or to revoke or substantially modify an
existing permit or approval, could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue operations at
the affected facility. Expansion of our existing operations is also predicated on securing the necessary
environmental or other permits, water rights, or approvals, which we may not receive in a timely manner
or at all.

Title to, and the area of, mineral properties and water rights may also be disputed. Mineral properties
sometimes contain claims or transfer histories that examiners cannot verify. A successful claim that we do
not have title to one or more of our properties or lack appropriate water rights could cause us to lose any
rights to explore, develop, and extract any minerals or utilize water on that property, without
compensation for our prior expenditures relating to such property. Our business may suffer a material
adverse effect in the event one or more of our properties are determined to have title deficiencies.
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In some instances, we have received access rights or easements from third parties, which allow for a
more efficient operation than would exist without the access or easement. A third party could take action
to suspend such access or easement, and any such action could be materially adverse to our results of
operations or financial conditions.

We may incur significant costs in connection with pending and future litigation.

We are, or may become, party to various lawsuits, claims, investigations, and proceedings, including but
not limited to personal injury, environmental, antitrust, tax, asbestos, property entitlements and land use,
intellectual property, commercial, contract, product liability, health and safety, and employment matters.
The outcome of pending or future lawsuits, claims, investigations, or proceedings is often difficult to
predict and could be adverse and require the payment of damages that are material in amount or require
changes to the nature and scope of our operations. Developments in these proceedings can lead to
changes in management’s estimates of liabilities associated with these proceedings, including as a result
of rulings or judgments by a judge, agency, or arbitrator, settlements, or changes in applicable law. A
future adverse ruling, settlement, or unfavorable development could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations and cash flows in a particular period. In addition, the defense of these lawsuits,
claims, investigations, and proceedings may divert our management’s attention from operating and
managing our businesses, and we may incur significant costs in defending these matters.

Our bylaws include a forum selection clause, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial
forum for disputes with us.

Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and
exclusive forum for (i) any internal corporate claims within the meaning of the Delaware General
Corporation Law (DGCL), (ii) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (iii) any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, or employees to us
or to our stockholders, (iv) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, or
(v) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine, will be a state or federal court
located within the State of Delaware in all cases subject to the court’s having personal jurisdiction over
the indispensable parties named as defendants. In addition, our bylaws provide that, unless we consent
in writing to selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for any action asserting a
claim arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, will be a federal district court. Any person or
entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have
notice of and consented to the foregoing provisions. This forum selection provision in our bylaws may limit
our stockholders’ ability to pursue claims in a judicial forum of their choosing for disputes with us or our
directors, officers, or employees. It is also possible that, notwithstanding the forum selection clause
included in our bylaws, a court could rule in specific circumstances that such a provision is inapplicable or
unenforceable, which could require that we defend claims in other forums.
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CYBER RISK FACTORS
A cyber-attack or data security breach affecting our information technology systems may negatively affect our
businesses, financial condition, and operating results.

Our operations rely on the secure processing, storage, and transmission of confidential, sensitive,
proprietary, and other types of information relating to our business operations. We also rely on
confidential and sensitive information about our customers and employees, which is maintained both in
our computer systems and networks, and in the computer systems and networks of our third-party
vendors. Cyber threats are rapidly evolving as data thieves and hackers have become increasingly
sophisticated and carry out direct large-scale, complex automated attacks against a company or through
vendor software supply chain compromises. We are not able to anticipate or prevent all such attacks and
could be held liable for any resulting material security breach or data loss. Additionally, it is not always
possible to deter misconduct by employees or third-party vendors.

Any breaches of our technology systems, or those of our vendors and customers, whether from
circumvention of security systems, denial-of service attacks or other cyber-attacks, hacking, “phishing”
attacks, computer viruses, ransomware or malware, employee or insider error, malfeasance, social
engineering, vendor software supply chain compromises, physical breaches or other actions, may result
in manipulation or corruption of sensitive data, material interruptions or malfunctions in our or such
vendors’ and customers’ websites, applications, data processing and certain products and services, or
disruption of other business operations. Furthermore, any such breaches could compromise the
confidentiality and integrity of material information held by us (including information about our business,
employees or customers), as well as sensitive personally identifiable information, the disclosure of which
could lead to identity theft. Any measures that we take to avoid, detect, mitigate or recover from material
incidents, may be insufficient, circumvented, or may become ineffective.

We have invested and continue to invest in risk management and information security and data privacy
measures in order to protect our systems and data, including employee training, organizational
investments, incident response plans, table top exercises and technical defenses. The cost and
operational consequences of implementing, maintaining and enhancing further data or system protection
measures could increase significantly to overcome increasingly intense, complex and sophisticated global
cyber threats. Although we believe that we have taken adequate measures to protect against data
breaches and system disruptions, we are not able to anticipate or prevent all such risks. Recent well-
publicized security breaches at other companies have led to enhanced government and regulatory
scrutiny of the measures taken by companies to protect against cyber-attacks, and may in the future
result in heightened cybersecurity requirements, including additional regulatory expectations for oversight
of vendors and service providers. Any material breaches of cybersecurity, including the accidental loss,
inadvertent disclosure or unapproved dissemination of proprietary information or sensitive or confidential
data, or media reports of perceived security vulnerabilities to the our systems, products and services or
those of our third parties could cause us to experience reputational harm, loss of customers and revenue,
fines, regulatory actions and scrutiny, sanctions or other statutory penalties, litigation, liability for failure to
safeguard our customers’ information or financial losses that are either not insured against or not fully
covered through any insurance maintained by us. The report, rumor or assumption regarding a potential
breach may have similar results, even if no breach has been attempted or occurred. Any of the foregoing
may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL RISK FACTORS
Our Cement business is capital intensive, resulting in significant fixed and semi-fixed costs. Therefore, our earnings
are sensitive to changes in volume.

Due to the high levels of fixed capital required to produce cement, the ability of our Cement segment to
remain profitable is dependent on achieving and maintaining strong volumes of cement production and
sales. Any decreases in volume could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, our cement plants require significant capital expenditures to support our
business. We believe that our current cash balance, along with our projected internal cash flows and our
available financing resources will provide sufficient cash to support our currently anticipated operating
and capital needs. However, if we are unable to generate sufficient cash to purchase and maintain the
property and machinery necessary to operate our cement business, we may be required to reduce or
delay planned capital expenditures or incur additional debt.

Any material nonpayment or nonperformance by any of our key customers could have a material adverse effect on
our business and results of operations.

Any material nonpayment or nonperformance by any of our key customers could have a material adverse
effect on our revenue and cash flows. Our contracts with our customers provide for different potential
remedies in the event a customer fails to purchase the minimum contracted amount of product in a given
period. If we were to pursue legal remedies against a customer that failed to purchase the minimum
contracted amount of product under a fixed-volume contract or failed to satisfy the take-or-pay
commitment under a take-or-pay contract, we may receive significantly less in a judgment or settlement of
any claimed breach than we would have received had the customer fully performed under the contract. In
the event of any customer’s breach, we may also choose to renegotiate any disputed contract on less
favorable terms (including with respect to price and volume) in order to allow for us to preserve the
relationship with that customer.

Volatility and disruption of financial markets could affect access to credit.

Difficult economic conditions can cause a contraction in the availability, and increase the cost, of credit in
the marketplace. Recent inflation and rising interest rates may impact demand for our products and
negatively impact our business. A number of our customers or suppliers have been and may continue to
be adversely affected by unsettled conditions in capital and credit markets, which in some cases have
made it more difficult or costly for them to finance their business operations. These unsettled conditions
have the potential to reduce the sources of liquidity for the Company and our customers.

Our results of operations are subject to significant changes in the cost and availability of fuel, energy and other raw
materials.

Major cost components in each of our businesses are the costs of fuel, energy, and raw materials.
Significant increases in the costs of fuel, energy, or raw materials, or substantial decreases in their
availability, could materially and adversely affect our sales and operating profits. Prices for fuel, energy,
or raw materials used in connection with our businesses have in some cases been subject to significant
changes in a short period of time for reasons outside our control. For example, prices for fuel and
electrical power, which are significant components of the costs associated with our Gypsum Wallboard
and Cement businesses, have fluctuated significantly in recent years and may increase further in the
future. The prices we pay for fuel and electric power are often determined in whole or in part by market-
based pricing mechanisms (including spot market pricing mechanisms). In the past, we have
experienced significant and unanticipated price increases due to, among other things, unfavorable
weather conditions and governmental responses from the resulting shortages in fuel and power.
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Significant price fluctuations also have the potential to give rise to disputes with contractual
counterparties, which can be complex and difficult to resolve. In the event of large or rapid increases in
prices, we may not be able to pass the increases through to our customers in full, which would reduce our
operating margin.

Changes in the cost or availability of raw materials supplied by third parties may adversely affect our operating and
financial performance.

We generally maintain our own reserves of limestone, gypsum, aggregates, and other materials that we
use to manufacture our products. Our ability to find and develop quality reserves and accurately calculate
and report our reserve estimates depend upon geological interpretation and statistical inferences or
assumptions drawn from drilling and sampling analysis, which are subject to inherent uncertainties. If any
of these estimates proved to be inaccurate, our operations and financial condition could be adversely
impacted.

We also obtain certain raw materials used to manufacture our products, such as synthetic gypsum and
slag granules, from third parties who produce such materials as by-products of industrial processes.
While we try to secure our needed supply of such materials through long-term contracts, those contracts
may not be sufficient to meet our needs, or we may be unable to renew or replace existing contracts
when they expire or are terminated in the future. Should our existing suppliers cease operations or reduce
or eliminate production of these by-products, our costs to procure these materials may increase
significantly, or we may be obliged to procure alternatives to replace these materials, which may not be
available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Any such developments may adversely affect our
operations and financial condition.

Our production facilities may experience unexpected equipment failures, catastrophic events, and scheduled
maintenance.

Our manufacturing processes are complex and dependent upon critical pieces of equipment and effective
maintenance programs. Such equipment may, on occasion, be out of service as a result of unanticipated
events such as fires, explosions, violent weather conditions, or unexpected operational difficulties. We
also have periodically scheduled shut-downs to perform maintenance on our facilities. We consume
significant amounts of energy in our production process, and the availability and pricing of these
resources are subject to market forces. Any significant interruption in production capability may require us
to make significant capital expenditures to remedy problems or damage as well as cause us to lose
revenue and profits due to lost production time, which could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition. In general, any interruptions in our production processes or
limitation in our production capabilities may cause our productivity and results of operations to decline
significantly during the affected period.

Mining for raw materials involves risks such as pit wall failures, pillar or ceiling collapse, flooding and
seismic events related to geologic conditions and our mining activities. Any ground control event could
lead to serious injuries, loss of life, equipment damage, production delays or cessation and increased
operating costs which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition.
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Significant changes in the cost and availability of transportation could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Some of the raw materials used in our manufacturing processes, such as coal or coke, are transported to
our facilities by truck or rail. In addition, transportation logistics play an important part in allowing us to
supply products to our customers, whether by truck, rail, or barge. For example, we deliver gypsum
wallboard to many areas of the United States, and the transportation costs associated with the delivery of
our wallboard products represent a significant portion of the variable cost of our Gypsum Wallboard
segment. On the other hand, cement is more difficult and costly to transport over long distances, which
limits the areas typically served by our cement plants. Significant increases in the cost of fuel or energy
can result in material increases in the cost of transportation, which could materially and adversely affect
our operating profits. In addition, reductions in the availability of certain modes of transportation, such as
rail or trucking, could limit our ability to deliver product and therefore materially and adversely affect our
operating profits.

Our debt agreements contain restrictive covenants and require us to meet certain financial ratios and tests, which
limit our flexibility and could give rise to a default if we are unable to remain in compliance.

Our outstanding debt agreements contain, among other things, covenants that limit our ability to finance
future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities, including but not limited to our
ability to:
• permit our consolidated subsidiaries to incur indebtedness;
• sell, transfer, lease, or otherwise dispose of all substantially all of the assets of the Company and its

consolidated subsidiaries;
• create liens;
• consolidate or merge with or into another Person;
• enter into transactions with our affiliates; and
• enter into sale/leaseback transactions.

In addition, these agreements require us to meet and maintain certain financial ratios and tests, which
may require that we take action to reduce our debt or to act in a manner contrary to our business
objectives. Events beyond our control, including changes in general business and economic conditions,
may impair our ability to comply with these covenants or meet those financial ratios and tests. A breach of
any of these covenants or failure to maintain the required ratios and meet the required tests may result in
an event of default under these agreements. This may allow the lenders under these agreements to
declare all amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable, terminate any commitments to
extend further credit to us, and pursue other remedies available to them under the applicable
agreements. If this occurs, our indebtedness may be accelerated, and we may not be able to refinance
the accelerated indebtedness on favorable terms, or at all, or repay the accelerated indebtedness. In
general, the occurrence of any event of default under these agreements could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
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We have incurred or may incur substantial indebtedness, which could adversely affect our business, limit our ability
to plan for or respond to changes in our business, and reduce our profitability.

In the past, we have incurred significant indebtedness in connection with acquisition transactions or
otherwise to fund the growth and development of our business. As of March 31, 2023, we have $1,099.5
million of debt outstanding. We may also incur significant indebtedness from time to time in the future for
these or other reasons. Our future ability to satisfy our debt obligations is subject, to some extent, to
financial, market, competitive, legislative, regulatory, and other factors that are beyond our control.
Substantial debt obligations could have negative consequences to our business, and, in particular, could
impede, restrict, or delay the implementation of our business strategy or prevent us from entering into
transactions that would otherwise benefit our business. For example:
• we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to payments on

our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow for other purposes, including
business development efforts, capital expenditures, or strategic acquisitions;

• we may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to meet our substantial debt service obligations or
to fund our other liquidity needs. If this occurs, we may have to take actions such as selling assets,
selling equity, or reducing or delaying capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions, investments and joint
ventures, or restructuring our debt;

• as a result of the amount of our outstanding indebtedness and the restrictive covenants to which we
are or may become subject, if we determine that we require additional financing to fund future working
capital, capital investments, or other business activities, we may not be able to obtain such financing
on commercially reasonable terms, or at all; and

• our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry may be limited,
thereby placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared with our competitors that have less
indebtedness.

The base rate of our debt is determined by our credit rating. If our credit rating were to decline, interest
charges on this debt would increase, which would raise the cost of borrowing and lower cash flows from
operations.

Increases in interest rates and inflation could adversely affect our business and demand for our products, which
would have a negative effect on our results of operations.

Our business is significantly affected by the movement of interest rates. Interest rates have a direct
impact on the level of residential, commercial, and infrastructure construction activity by impacting the
cost of borrowed funds to builders. Rising interest rates could result in decreased demand for our
products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In
addition, recent increases in interest rates have resulted in higher interest expense related to borrowings
under our borrowing facilities. The recent rise in inflation has caused our cost of capital to increase, and
the purchasing power of our cash resources to decline. Current or future efforts by the government to
stimulate the economy may increase the risk of significant inflation, which could have a direct and indirect
adverse impact on our business and results of operations.
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Increases in our effective income tax rate may harm our results of operations.

A number of factors may increase our future effective income tax rate, including:
• governmental authorities increasing taxes or eliminating deductions, particularly the depletion

deduction;
• the mix of earnings from depletable versus non-depletable businesses;
• the jurisdictions in which earnings are taxed;
• the resolution of issues arising from tax audits with various tax authorities;
• changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;
• adjustments to estimated taxes upon finalization of various tax returns;
• changes in available tax credits;
• changes in stock-based compensation;
• other changes in tax laws; and
• the interpretation of tax laws and/or administrative practices.

Any significant increase in our future effective income tax rate could reduce net earnings and free cash
flow for future periods.

We depend on the recruitment and retention of qualified personnel, and our failure to attract and retain such
personnel could adversely affect our businesses.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued services of, and on our ability to attract
and retain, our key personnel and executive officers, including qualified management, operations,
technical, marketing and sales, and support personnel. Competition for such personnel is intense, and we
may not be successful in attracting or retaining such qualified personnel, which could negatively affect our
businesses. Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to identify and develop or recruit talent to
succeed our senior management and other key positions throughout the organization. If we fail to identify
and develop or recruit successors, we are at risk of being harmed by the departures of these key
employees. Effective succession planning is also important to our long-term success. Failure to ensure
effective transfer of knowledge and smooth transitions involving key employees could hinder our strategic
planning and execution.

Disruption of our business operations due to disputes with organized labor.

Approximately half of our hourly employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. Labor is a
meaningful component in our ability to operate our business and can have a significant impact on the cost
of operating our business. Labor shortages could restrict our ability to operate our business and increase
costs to operate our business. Additionally, disputes with trade unions or the inability to renew our labor
agreements may lead to work stoppages or strikes that could disrupt our business operations and lead to
higher costs and/or reduced revenue and operating earnings.

GROWTH RISK FACTORS AND FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
We may pursue acquisitions, joint ventures and other transactions that are intended to complement or expand our
businesses. We may not be able to complete proposed transactions, and even if completed, the transactions may
involve a number of risks that may result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating
results, and cash flows.

As business conditions warrant and our financial resources permit, we may pursue opportunities to
acquire businesses or technologies and to form joint ventures that we believe could complement,
enhance, or expand our current businesses or product lines or that might otherwise offer us growth
opportunities. We may have difficulty identifying appropriate opportunities, or if we do identify
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opportunities, we may not be successful in completing transactions for a number of reasons. Any
transactions that we are able to identify and complete may involve one or more of a number of risks,
including:
• the diversion of management’s attention from our existing businesses to integrate the operations and

personnel of the acquired business or joint venture;
• possible adverse effects on our operating results during the integration process;
• failure of the acquired business or joint venture to achieve expected operational, profitability, and

investment return objectives;
• the incurrence of significant charges, such as impairment of goodwill or intangible assets, asset

devaluation, or restructuring charges;
• the assumption of unanticipated liabilities and costs for which indemnification is unavailable or

inadequate;
• unforeseen difficulties encountered in operating in new geographic areas; and
• the inability to achieve other intended objectives of the transaction.

In addition, we may not be able to successfully or profitably integrate, operate, maintain, and manage our
newly acquired operations or their employees. We may not be able to maintain uniform standards,
controls, procedures, and policies, which may lead to operational inefficiencies. In addition, future
acquisitions may result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of additional
indebtedness.

Our Cement business has grown largely through acquisitions, and there is no assurance that we will be able to
continue to acquire cement plans to support future growth.

In prior years, we have been able to increase the size and scope of our Cement business in large part
through acquisitions of cement plants from third parties. There are a limited number of companies
operating cement plants in the United States, and plants typically become available for purchase only
infrequently, such as in connection with a merger, acquisition or corporate reorganization or refinancing.
When cement plants become available for purchase, the purchase process is often highly competitive,
which tends to result in relatively high valuations for the plants offered for sale. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to continue to identify appropriate acquisition candidates or acquire
cement plants at values that we regard as reasonable.

We may pursue new business opportunities and, if we do so, these opportunities will be subject to the risks typically
associated with the early stages of business development or product line expansion.

We may from time to time pursue opportunities which are natural extensions of our existing core
businesses and which allow us to leverage our core competencies, existing infrastructure, and customer
relationships. Our likelihood of success in pursuing and realizing these opportunities must be considered
in light of the expenses, difficulties, and delays frequently encountered in connection with the early
phases of business development or product line expansion, including the difficulties involved in obtaining
permits; planning and constructing new facilities; transporting and storing products; establishing,
maintaining, or expanding customer relationships; as well as navigating the regulatory environment in
which we operate. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in the pursuit and realization of
these opportunities.
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This report includes various forward-looking statements, which are not facts or guarantees of future performance and
which are subject to significant risks and uncertainties.

This report and other materials we have filed or will file with the SEC, as well as information included in
oral statements or other written statements made or to be made by us contain or may contain forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of the
Exchange Act of 1934, and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You can identify these
statements by the fact that they do not relate to matters of a strictly factual or historical nature and
generally discuss or relate to forecasts, estimates, or other expectations regarding future events.
Generally, the words “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “project,” “may,” “can,” “could,”
“might,” “will,” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, including statements related to
expected operating and performing results, planned transactions, plans, and objectives of management,
future developments, or conditions in the industries in which we participate, including future prices for our
products, audits, and legal proceedings to which we are a party, and other trends, developments, and
uncertainties that may affect our business in the future.

Forward-looking statements are not historical facts or guarantees of future performance but instead
represent only our beliefs at the time the statements were made regarding future events, which are
subject to significant risks, uncertainties, and other factors, many of which are outside of our control. Any
or all of the forward-looking statements made by us may turn out to be materially inaccurate. This can
occur as a result of incorrect assumptions, changes in facts and circumstances, or the effects of known
risks and uncertainties. Many of the risks and uncertainties mentioned in this report or other reports filed
by us with the SEC, including those discussed in the risk factor section of this report, will be important in
determining whether these forward-looking statements prove to be accurate. Consequently, neither our
stockholders nor any other person should place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements and
should recognize that actual results may differ materially from those that may be anticipated by us.

All forward-looking statements made in this report are made as of the date hereof, and the risk that actual
results will differ materially from expectations expressed in this report will increase with the passage of
time. We undertake no obligation, and disclaim any duty, to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changes in our expectations, or
otherwise.
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ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
There are no unresolved Staff comments.

ITEM 2. Properties
Our operating facilities span the U.S. They include cement plants, quarries, and related facilities; concrete
and aggregates plants and quarries; gypsum wallboard plants; and a recycled paperboard mill; as well as
distribution terminals and our headquarters in Dallas. All of our facilities are owned, with the exception of
our headquarters in Dallas, which is leased through May 2029, and certain terminals, as discussed on
page 11. None of our facilities are pledged as security for any debts. Please see the Industry Segment
Information section on pages 5-24 for more information about the location of our facilities, and a summary
of mineral reserves for each of our applicable businesses.

The following map shows the locations of our operating facilities at March 31, 2023, by type of facility.
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ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time we have been and may in the future become involved in litigation or other legal
proceedings in the ordinary course of our business activities or in connection with transactions or
activities undertaken by us, including claims related to worker safety, worker health, environmental
matters, land use rights, taxes and permits. While the outcome of these proceedings cannot be predicted
with certainty, in the opinion of management (based on currently available facts), we do not believe that
the ultimate outcome of any currently pending legal proceeding will have a material effect on our
consolidated financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

Please refer to Item 1. Business – Industry Segment Information, for information regarding certain legal
proceedings relating to the disapproval by the EPA in February 2023 of SIPs for the States of Nevada,
Oklahoma and Texas, which addressed the obligations of such states to eliminate significant
contributions to nonattainment, or interference with maintenance, of the 2015 ozone NAAQS in other
states. In response to the disapproval of the SIPs for such states, both such states and we have
commenced litigation against the EPA. The litigation commenced by us was filed in April 2023 in the
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals and the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals.
These actions are in their preliminary stages, and we are unable to predict the likely outcome thereof.

For additional information regarding claims and other contingent liabilities to which we may be subject,
see Footnote (K) in the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K is
included in Exhibit 95 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART II

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

STOCK PRICES AND DIVIDENDS

As of May 17, 2023, there were approximately 1,100 holders of record of our Common Stock which
trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol EXP. See Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Dividends for a discussion of our dividend
policy.

SHARE REPURCHASES

On May 17, 2022, the Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase an additional 7,500,000 shares.
Including this latest authorization, our Board of Directors has approved the repurchase in the open market
of a cumulative total of approximately 55.9 million shares of our Common Stock since we became publicly
held in April 1994.

During fiscal years 2023 and 2022, we repurchased 3,075,788 and 3,982,657 shares, respectively, at
average prices of $126.05 and $148.08, respectively. We did not repurchase any shares in fiscal 2021.
We have repurchased approximately 48.2 million shares from April 1994 through March 31, 2023.

Share repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions. The timing and amount of any repurchases of shares will be determined by the Company’s
management, based on its evaluation of market and economic conditions and other factors. In some
cases, repurchases may be made pursuant to plans, programs, or directions established occasionally by
the Company’s management, including plans to comply with the safe harbor provided by Rule 10b5-1.

The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 added a provision imposing a 1% excise tax on the fair value of stock
repurchases by companies beginning January 1, 2023. We do not expect taxes due on future
repurchases of our shares to have a material effect on our business.

Purchases of the Company's common stock during the quarter ended March 31, 2023, were as follows:

Period
Total Number of

Shares Purchased

Average Price
Paid

Per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs

Maximum Number
of Shares that May
Yet be Purchased

Under the Plans
or Programs

January 1 through January 31, 2023 240,000 $ 139.60 —
February 1 through February 28, 2023 — — —
March 1 through March 31, 2023 288,000 139.98 —

Quarter 4 Totals 528,000 $ 139.81 — 7,747,204

We did not have any sales of unregistered equity securities during fiscal 2023, 2022, or 2021.

The Equity Compensation Plan information set forth in Part III, Item 12 of this Form 10-K is hereby
incorporated by reference into this Part II, Item 5.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed soliciting material or to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by
reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
each as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference into
such filing.

The graph below compares the cumulative 5-year total return to holders of Eagle Materials Inc. common
stock with the cumulative total returns of the Russell 1000 index and the Dow Jones US Building
Materials & Fixtures index. The graph assumes that the value of the investment (including the
reinvestment of dividends) in the Company’s common stock and in each of the indices was $100 on
March 31, 2018, and tracks it through March 31, 2023.

3/18 3/19 3/20 3/21 3/22 3/23
Eagle Materials Inc. 100.00 82.20 57.22 131.85 126.81 146.14
Russell 1000 100.00 109.30 100.53 161.44 182.86 167.51
Dow Jones US Building Materials & Fixtures 100.00 98.54 90.61 176.04 181.57 172.94

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price
performance.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data
SEC Release No. 33-10890 eliminated the requirement of selected financial data previously required by
Item 301 of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

We are a leading manufacturer of heavy construction materials and light building materials in the United
States. Our primary products, Portland Cement and Gypsum Wallboard, are commodities that are
essential in commercial and residential construction, public construction projects to build, expand, and
repair roads and highways, and repair and remodel activities. Demand for our products is generally
cyclical and seasonal, depending on economic and geographic conditions. We distribute our products
across many United States markets, which provides us with regional economic diversification. However,
general economic downturns or localized downturns in the regions where we have operations may have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our current businesses are organized into two sectors: Heavy Materials, which includes the Cement and
Concrete and Aggregates segments; and Light Materials, which includes the Gypsum Wallboard and
Recycled Paperboard segments. Financial results and other information for the fiscal years ended March
31, 2023 and 2022, are presented on a consolidated basis and with respect to these business segments
– Cement, Concrete and Aggregates, Gypsum Wallboard, and Recycled Paperboard.

We conduct one of our cement operations through a joint venture, Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP,
which is located in Buda, Texas (the Joint Venture). We own a 50% interest in the Joint Venture and
account for our interest under the equity method of accounting. We proportionately consolidate our 50%
share of the Joint Venture’s Revenue and Operating Earnings in the presentation of our Cement
segment, which is the way management organizes the segments within the Company for making
operating decisions and assessing performance.

Our business activities are all conducted in the United States. These activities include the mining of
limestone for the manufacture and sale of portland cement (a basic construction material that is the
essential binding ingredient in concrete); the grinding and sale of slag; the mining of gypsum for the
manufacture and sale of gypsum wallboard; the manufacture and sale of recycled paperboard to the
gypsum wallboard industry and other paperboard converters; the sale of readymix concrete; and the
mining and sale of aggregates (crushed stone, sand, and gravel).

On April 22, 2022, we finalized the ConAgg Acquisition. The purchase price of the ConAgg Acquisition
was approximately $120.2 million. The ConAgg Acquisition is included in our Heavy Materials sector, in
the Concrete and Aggregates segment. See Footnote (B) to the Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information regarding the ConAgg Acquisition.

On September 16, 2022, we acquired a cement distribution terminal located in Nashville, Tennessee (the
Terminal Acquisition). The purchase price of the Terminal Acquisition was approximately $39.5 million.
The Terminal Acquisition is included in our Heavy Materials sector, in the Cement business segment.

Subsequent to our fiscal year end, on May 3, 2023 we acquired a cement import distribution terminal in
Stockton, California (the Stockton Acquisition). The Stockton Acquisition will be included in our Heavy
Materials sector, in the Cement business segment, in fiscal 2024.
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MARKET CONDITIONS AND OUTLOOK

Our fiscal 2023 results were strong, with increased operating earnings in our Cement and Gypsum
Wallboard segments. Our end markets generally remained resilient despite external challenges, such as
increased inflation and higher interest rates. Our regional construction markets continued in most cases
to outperform the national averages, and sales volume in our Gypsum Wallboard business was up 4%
compared to fiscal 2022.

Demand Outlook

The principal end-use market for Cement is public infrastructure (i.e. roads, bridges, and highways) with
residential and nonresidential construction being secondary. Our Cement business continues to maintain
a nearly sold-out position. We expect demand for cement to remain strong given increased federal
funding from the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act for public construction and repair projects during
calendar 2023; continued high allocations from state budgets for additional infrastructure projects; and
growth in heavy industrial projects. Despite underlying demand growth, our ability to achieve further
Cement sales volume growth from our existing facilities is limited, because our integrated cement sales
network is operating at high utilization levels.

The principal end use for Gypsum Wallboard is residential housing, consisting of both new construction
(single-family and multi-family homes) as well as repair and remodel. We expect tighter U.S. fiscal policy
will likely have some adverse impact on residential construction activity as a result of higher mortgage
rates; however, the magnitude and duration remains unclear at this time. Gypsum Wallboard orders and
shipments currently remain resilient, and we expect home construction backlogs to mitigate the impact
from higher interest rates; however, we have experienced a modest decline in our wallboard shipments in
the first part of fiscal 2024. Our Recycled Paperboard business sells paper primarily into the gypsum
wallboard market, and demand for our paper generally follows the demand for gypsum wallboard.

Cost Outlook

We believe we are well-positioned to manage our cost structure and meet our customers’ needs during
the next fiscal year. Our substantial raw material reserves for our Cement, Aggregates, and Gypsum
Wallboard businesses, and their proximity to our respective manufacturing facilities, support our low-cost
producer position across all our business segments.

Energy and freight costs increased in all our businesses during fiscal 2023. While natural gas costs have
recently declined and freight costs have stabilized, we expect solid fuel costs, which are the primary
energy costs in manufacturing cement, to increase in fiscal 2024. These increases are expected to affect
our Cement business in fiscal 2024.

The primary raw material used to produce paperboard is OCC. Prices for OCC stabilized towards the end
of fiscal 2023, and are expected to remain stable during the first part of fiscal 2024. Our current customer
contracts for gypsum liner include price adjustments that partially compensate for changes in raw material
fiber prices. However, because these price adjustments are not realized until future quarters, material
costs in our Gypsum Wallboard segment are likely to be lower in the period that these price adjustments
are realized.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FISCAL YEAR 2023 COMPARED WITH FISCAL YEAR 2022

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 Percentage Change

(in thousands, except per share)
Revenue $ 2,148,069 $ 1,861,522 15%
Cost of Goods Sold (1,508,803) (1,341,908) 12%
Gross Profit 639,266 519,614 23%
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture 35,474 32,488 9%
Corporate General and Administrative (53,630) (46,801) 15%
Loss on Early Retirement of Senior Notes — (8,407) —
Other Nonoperating Income 2,654 9,073 (71)%
Interest Expense, net (35,171) (30,873) 14%
Earnings Before Income Taxes 588,593 475,094 24%
Income Tax Expense (127,053) (100,847) 26%
Net Earnings $ 461,540 $ 374,247 23%
Diluted Earnings per Share $ 12.46 $ 9.14 36%

REVENUE

Revenue increased in fiscal 2023 by $286.6 million, or 15%, to $2,148.1 million. The ConAgg Acquisition
contributed $44.5 million of Revenue during fiscal 2023. Excluding the ConAgg Acquisition, Revenue
increased $242.1 million, or 13%, largely because of higher gross sales prices of approximately $261.8
million, partially offset by lower Sales Volume of $19.7 million. All of our segments contributed to the
higher gross sales prices, while lower Sales Volumes primarily related to the Cement and Recycled
Paperboard segments. See individual segment disclosure in the Fiscal Year 2023 vs Fiscal Year 2022
Results by Segment section for more information.

COST OF GOODS SOLD

Cost of Goods Sold increased by $166.9 million, or 12%, to $1,508.8 million in fiscal 2023. The ConAgg
Acquisition contributed $42.9 million of Cost of Goods Sold during fiscal 2023. Excluding the ConAgg
Acquisition, Cost of Goods Sold increased $124.0 million, or 9%. The increase in Cost of Goods Sold was
due to higher operating costs of $143.4 million, partially offset by lower Sales Volume of $19.4 million.
Operating costs increased in all of our businesses, except Recycled Paperboard, which is discussed in
the Fiscal Year 2023 vs Fiscal Year 2022 Results by Segment section.
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GROSS PROFIT

Gross Profit increased by 23% to $639.3 million in fiscal 2023. The increase in Gross Profit was mainly
due to higher gross sales prices, partially offset by higher operating costs, as noted above. The gross
margin increased to 30% in fiscal 2023 from 28% in fiscal 2022, primarily because of higher gross sales
prices.

EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURE

Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture increased by $3.0 million, or 9%. The increase was
mostly due to higher gross sales prices of $20.7 million. This was partially offset by lower Sales Volume
and higher operating costs of approximately $3.5 million and $14.2 million, respectively. The higher
operating costs were due primarily to increased maintenance, energy, and purchased cement costs,
which reduced operating earnings by approximately $5.8 million, $0.6 million, and $6.5 million,
respectively.

CORPORATE GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Corporate General and Administrative expenses increased by approximately $6.8 million, or 15%, to
$53.6 million in fiscal 2023. The increase was due primarily to higher salary and incentive compensation,
legal and professional fees, and information and technology upgrades of approximately $4.1 million, $0.6
million, and $1.1 million, respectively. The increase in salary and incentive compensation was mostly due
to executive retirements during the year, as well as increased earnings, while the increase in legal and
professional expense was due to acquisitions during the year.

LOSS ON EARLY RETIREMENT OF SENIOR NOTES

In July 2021, the Company redeemed and retired its 4.500% Senior Unsecured Notes due in 2026 prior to
the maturity date. As a result of the early retirement, the Company paid a premium of $8.4 million. See
Footnote (G) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

OTHER NONOPERATING INCOME

Other Nonoperating Income was $2.7 million in fiscal 2023, compared with $9.1 million in fiscal 2022.
Other Nonoperating Income consists of a variety of items that are nonsegment operating in nature,
including lease and rental income, investment income, asset sales, and other miscellaneous income and
cost items, such as large nonroutine sales of excess raw materials or energy.

INTEREST EXPENSE, NET

Interest Expense, net increased by approximately $4.3 million, or 14%, during fiscal 2023. The increase
was primarily related to higher interest expense on our Revolving Credit Facility, including the Term Loan,
of approximately $12.0 million. The increased interest on our Revolving Credit Facility, including the Term
Loan, was partially offset by lower loan amortization expense of approximately $7.4 million. The reduction
in loan amortization expense was primarily due to a $6.1 million write-off of debt issuance costs in July
2021 related to our 4.500% Unsecured Senior Notes due in 2026 and our Term Loan. See Footnote (G)
to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
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EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Earnings Before Income Taxes increased to $588.6 million during fiscal 2023, primarily because of higher
Gross Profit and Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture, and lower Loss on Early Retirement
of Senior Notes. This was partially offset by higher Corporate General and Administrative expenses and
Interest Expense, and lower Other Nonoperating Income.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income Tax Expense for fiscal 2023 increased to $127.1 million from $100.8 million for fiscal 2022. The
effective tax rate was 22%, compared with 21% in the prior year.

NET EARNINGS AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net Earnings increased 23% in fiscal 2023 to $461.5 million. Diluted Earnings per Share in fiscal 2023
was $12.46, compared with $9.14 for fiscal 2022.
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FISCAL YEAR 2023 vs FISCAL YEAR 2022 RESULTS BY SEGMENT

The following presents results within our two business sectors in fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022. Revenue
and operating results are organized by sector and discussed by individual business segment within each
respective business sector.

Heavy Materials

CEMENT (1)

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 Percentage Change

(in thousands, except per ton information)
Revenue, including Intersegment and Joint Venture $ 1,074,070 $ 1,007,094 7%
Less Intersegment Revenue $ (32,915) $ (22,915) 44%
Less Joint Venture Revenue $ (113,518) $ (103,899) 9%
Revenue $ 927,637 $ 880,280 5%

Sales Volume (M Tons) 7,133 7,534 (5)%
Freight and Delivery Costs billed to Customers $ (60,288) $ (60,620) (1)%
Average Net Sales Price, per ton (2) $ 134.36 $ 119.13 13%
Operating Margin, per ton $ 39.08 $ 34.45 13%
Operating Earnings $ 278,762 $ 259,556 7%

(1) Total of wholly owned subsidiaries and proportionately consolidated 50% interest of the Joint Venture’s results.

(2) Net of freight, including the Joint Venture.

Cement Revenue was $1,074.1 million for fiscal 2023, a 7% increase over fiscal 2022. Cement Revenue
increased by approximately $67.0 million, primarily as a result of higher gross sales prices, which
improved Cement Revenue by approximately $109.0 million, partially offset by lower Sales Volume, which
reduced Revenue by $42.0 million.

Cement Operating Earnings increased 7% to $278.8 million for fiscal 2023. The increase was due to
higher gross sales prices, which positively affected Operating Earnings by approximately $109.0 million.
This was partially offset by lower Sales Volume and higher operating expenses, which reduced Operating
Earnings by $14.0 million and $75.8 million, respectively. The rise in operating expenses was mostly due
to maintenance, energy and purchased cement costs of approximately $25.7 million, $41.4 million and
$4.5 million, respectively. The Operating Margin remained flat at 26%, with higher gross sales prices
being offset by increased operating costs.
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CONCRETE AND AGGREGATES

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 Percentage Change

(in thousands, except net sales prices)
Revenue $ 239,516 $ 177,122 35%

Sales Volume
M Cubic Yards of Concrete 1,545 1,333 16%
M Tons of Aggregate 2,909 1,525 91%

Average Net Sales Price
Concrete - Per Cubic Yard $ 133.34 $ 120.97 10%
Aggregates - Per Ton $ 11.53 $ 10.45 10%

Operating Earnings $ 18,259 $ 18,467 (1)%

Concrete and Aggregates Revenue increased 35% to $239.5 million for fiscal 2023. The ConAgg
Acquisition contributed $44.5 million of Revenue during fiscal 2023. Excluding the ConAgg Acquisition,
Revenue was up by $17.9 million, or 10%. The increase in Revenue was primarily related to higher gross
sales prices and Sales Volume, which positively affected Revenue by $15.7 million and $2.2 million,
respectively.

Operating Earnings decreased 1% to approximately $18.3 million. Excluding the ConAgg Acquisition,
Operating Earnings decreased by $1.8 million to $16.7 million. The decline in Operating Earnings was
due to higher operating expenses of $18.1 million. This was partially offset by higher gross sales prices
and Sales Volume of $15.7 million and $0.6 million, respectively. The increase in operating expenses was
primarily due to higher cost of materials, maintenance, and delivery of approximately $11.4 million, $1.9
million, and $4.5 million, respectively.
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Light Materials

GYPSUM WALLBOARD

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 Percentage Change

(in thousands, except per MMSF information)
Revenue $ 872,471 $ 692,152 26%

Sales Volume (MMSF) 3,065 2,944 4%
Freight and Delivery Costs billed to Customers $ (160,536) $ (130,629) 23%
Average Net Sales Price, per MSF (1) $ 232.31 $ 190.76 22%
Freight, per MSF $ 52.38 $ 44.37 18%
Operating Margin, per MSF $ 115.01 $ 88.82 29%
Operating Earnings $ 352,499 $ 261,476 35%

(1) Net of freight per MSF.

Gypsum Wallboard Revenue increased 26% to $872.5 million in fiscal 2023. The increase was due to
higher gross sales prices and Sales Volume, which positively affected Revenue by $151.9 million and
$28.4 million, respectively. Our market share remained relatively flat in fiscal 2023 compared with fiscal
2022.

Operating Earnings increased 35% to $352.5 million for fiscal 2023. The increase was primarily related to
higher gross sales prices and Sales Volume of approximately $151.9 million and $10.7 million,
respectively. This was partially offset by higher operating expenses of $71.6 million. The rise in operating
expenses was primarily related to freight, energy, and raw materials costs of approximately $24.5 million,
$12.5 million, and $22.9 million, respectively. During fiscal 2023, Gypsum Wallboard Operating Margin
increased to 40% from 38% in fiscal 2022, primarily because of higher gross sales prices, partially offset
by higher operating expenses. Fixed costs are not a significant part of the overall cost of wallboard;
therefore, changes in volume have a relatively minor impact on our operating cost per unit.
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RECYCLED PAPERBOARD

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 Percentage Change

(in thousands, except per ton information)
Revenue, including Intersegment $ 201,280 $ 194,054 4%
Less Intersegment Revenue (92,835) (82,086) 13%
Revenue $ 108,445 $ 111,968 (3)%

Sales Volume (M Tons) 326 334 (2)%
Freight and Delivery Costs billed to Customers $ (8,760) $ (7,888) 11%
Average Net Sales Price, per ton (1) $ 590.67 $ 558.28 6%
Freight, per ton $ 26.87 $ 23.62 14%
Operating Margin, per ton $ 77.36 $ 37.73 105%
Operating Earnings $ 25,220 $ 12,603 100%

(1) Net of freight per ton.

Recycled Paperboard Revenue increased 4% to $201.3 million for fiscal 2023, as higher gross sales
prices positively affected Revenue by approximately $11.6 million, partially offset by lower Sales Volume
of $4.4 million. The increase in gross sales prices was due to the price adjustment provisions in our long-
term sales agreements.

Operating Earnings increased 100% to $25.2 million for fiscal 2023, primarily related to higher gross sales
prices and lower operating expenses of $11.6 million and $1.3 million, respectively. This was partially
offset by lower Sales Volume of $0.3 million. The decrease in operating expenses was primarily related to
lower input costs, namely fiber and raw materials, which increased Operating Earnings by $15.4 million.
This was partially offset by higher energy, chemicals, and freight expenses of $5.9 million, $2.4 million,
and $4.5 million, respectively. During fiscal 2023, Operating Margin increased to 13% from 6% in fiscal
2022, primarily because of higher gross sales prices and lower operating expenses.
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FISCAL YEAR 2022 COMPARED WITH FISCAL YEAR 2021

Please see our Form 10-K for fiscal year 2022 for the discussion of our Results of Operations and results
of Revenue and Operating Earnings by segment for fiscal 2022 compared with fiscal 2021. Our 2022
Form 10-K can be found on the investor page of our website, at eaglematerials.com.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Certain of our critical accounting policies require the use of judgment in their application or require
estimates of inherently uncertain matters. Although our accounting policies are in compliance with
generally accepted accounting principles, a change in the facts and circumstances of the underlying
transactions could significantly change the application of the accounting policies and the resulting
financial statement impact. Listed below are those policies that we believe are critical and require the use
of complex judgment in their application.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We assess our long-lived assets, including mining and related assets, for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, may not be
recoverable. Long-lived assets, or groups of assets, are evaluated for impairment at the lowest level for
which cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets. We assess recoverability of
assets, or groups of assets, by comparing the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, to the
future undiscounted net cash flows that we expect the asset, or group of assets, to generate. These
impairment evaluations are significantly affected by estimates of future revenue, costs and expenses, and
other factors. If the carrying value of the assets, or groups of assets, exceeds the undiscounted cash
flows, then an impairment is indicated. If such assets, or groups of assets, are considered to be impaired,
the impairment is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset, or group of
assets, exceeds the fair value of the asset, or group of assets.

Goodwill
We annually assess Goodwill for impairment in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year, or more frequently
when indicators of impairment exist. Impairment testing for Goodwill is done at the reporting unit, which is
consistent with our reportable segments.

Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. Prior to
performing the Step 1 quantitative test, we may, at our discretion, perform an optional qualitative analysis,
or we may choose to proceed directly to the Step 1 quantitative analysis. The qualitative test considers
the impact of the following events and circumstances on the reporting unit being tested: macroeconomic
conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, and other
relevant entity-specific events. If, as a result of this qualitative analysis, we conclude that it is more likely
than not (a likelihood of greater than 50%) that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying
value, then an impairment does not exist and the quantitative Step 1 test is not required. If we are unable
to conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value,
then we proceed to the quantitative Step 1 test.

Step 1 of the quantitative test for impairment compares the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying
value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, then an impairment is indicated. If facts and
circumstances related to our business change in subsequent years, we may choose to perform a
quantitative analysis in those future years. If we perform a Step 1 test, and the carrying value of the
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reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then an impairment charge equal to the difference, not to exceed the
total amount of Goodwill, is recorded.

The fair values of the reporting units are estimated by using both the market and income approaches. The
market approach considers market factors and certain multiples in comparison to similar companies,
while the income approach uses discounted cash flows to determine the estimated fair values of the
reporting units. Key assumptions in the model include estimated average net sales prices, sales volume,
and the estimated weighted average cost of capital specific to each industry. We also perform an overall
comparison of all reporting units to our market capitalization in order to test the reasonableness of our fair
value calculations.

Determining the fair value of our reporting units involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions
and considerable management judgment. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to
be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty. The most important
assumption underlying our estimates is the projection of construction spending in the U.S. over the next
several years. Actual results may differ materially from those estimates. Changes in market conditions,
market trends, interest rates or other factors outside of our control, such as a worldwide pandemic, could
cause us to change key assumptions and our judgment about a reporting unit’s prospects. Similarly, in a
specific period, a reporting unit could significantly underperform relative to its historical or projected future
operating results. Either situation could result in a meaningfully different estimate of the fair value of our
reporting units, and a consequent future impairment charge.

The segment breakdown of Goodwill at March 31, 2023 and 2022, was as follows:

2023 2022
(dollars in thousands)

Cement $ 215,781 $ 203,342
Concrete and Aggregates 40,774 1,639
Gypsum Wallboard 116,618 116,618
Paperboard 7,538 7,538

$ 380,711 $ 329,137

Business Combinations
The acquisition method of accounting requires that we recognize the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at their acquisition date fair values. Goodwill is measured as the excess of consideration
transferred over the acquisition date net fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
The purchase price allocation is a critical accounting policy because the estimation of fair values of
acquired assets and assumed liabilities is judgmental and requires various assumptions. Further, the
amounts and useful lives assigned to depreciable and amortizable assets versus amounts assigned to
Goodwill, which is not amortized, can significantly affect the results of operations in the period of and for
periods subsequent to a business combination. Although independent appraisals may be used to assist in
the determination of the fair values of certain assets and liabilities, the appraised values are usually
based on significant estimates provided by management, such as forecasted revenue or profit, and the
replacement cost and useful lives of the acquired property, plant, and equipment.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction, and therefore represents an exit price. A fair value measurement assumes the highest and
best use of the asset by market participants, considering the use of the asset that is physically possible,
legally permissible, and financially feasible at the measurement date. We assign the highest level of fair
value available to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the following options:
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Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 – Observable inputs, other than quoted prices, for similar assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs, which includes the use of valuation models.

Level 2 fair values are typically used to value acquired receivables, inventories, machinery and
equipment, land, buildings, deferred income tax assets and liabilities, and accruals for payables, asset
retirement obligations, and contingencies.

Level 3 inputs are used to estimate the fair value of acquired mineral reserves, mineral interests, and
separately identifiable intangible assets.

In determining the fair value of property, plant, and equipment, replacement cost, adjusted for the age
and condition of the acquired machinery and equipment, is used. The replacement cost is based on
estimates of current cost to construct similar machinery and equipment and is compared to amounts paid
for similar assets in market transactions for consistency.

In determining the fair value of intangible assets, an income approach is generally used and may
incorporate the use of a discounted cash flow method. In applying the discounted cash flow analysis, the
estimated future cash flows and residual values for each intangible asset are discounted to a present
value using a discount rate based on an estimated weighted average cost of capital for the building
materials industry. These cash flow projections are based on management’s estimates of economic and
market conditions including revenue growth rates, operating margins, capital expenditures, customer
attrition rates, and working capital requirements.

While we use our best estimates and assumptions as part of the process to value assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, our estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to
refinement. During the measurement period, which occurs before finalization of the purchase price
allocation, changes in assumptions and estimates that result in adjustments to the fair values of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded on a retroactive basis as of the acquisition date, with the
corresponding offset to Goodwill. Any adjustments subsequent to the conclusion of the measurement
period will be recorded to our Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We believe that we have access to sufficient financial resources from our liquidity sources to fund our
business and operations, including contractual obligations, capital expenditures, and debt service
obligations, for at least the next twelve months. We will continue to monitor the potential impact of future
disruptions on the economy, and on our operations, as well as any other economic impacts related to
changing fiscal policy or economic conditions. Please see the Debt Financing Activities section for a
discussion of our credit facility and the amount of borrowings available to us in the next twelve-month
period.
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Cash Flow
The following table provides a summary of our Cash Flows:

For the Fiscal Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 541,726 $ 517,171
Investing Activities:

Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment (110,143) (74,121)
Acquisition Spending (158,451) —

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (268,594) (74,121)
Financing Activities:

Borrowings Under Revolving Credit Facility 200,000 200,000
Repayment of Borrowings Under Revolving Credit Facility (43,000) —
Proceeds from 2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes — 743,692
Repayment of 4.500% Senior Unsecured Notes — (350,000)
Repayment of Term Loan (7,500) (665,000)
Dividends Paid to Stockholders (37,496) (30,770)
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock (387,717) (589,742)
Proceeds from Stock Option Exercises 5,418 21,366
Premium Paid on Early Retirement of Senior Notes — (8,407)
Payment of Debt Issuance Costs (903) (7,985)
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes on Stock Compensation (6,108) (5,308)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (277,306) (692,154)
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents $ (4,174) $ (249,104)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities increased by $24.5 million to $541.7 million for fiscal 2023. The
increase was largely attributable to higher Net Earnings of $87.3 million, partially offset by changes in
Working Capital of $64.1 million.

Working Capital increased by $73.4 million to $308.6 million at March 31, 2023, primarily because of
higher Accounts Receivable, Inventories, and Income Tax Receivable of $18.8 million, $55.2 million, and
$9.1 million, respectively. This was partially offset by an increase in Current Portion of Long-term Debt of
$10.0 million.

The increase in Accounts and Notes Receivable at March 31, 2023, was primarily due to higher Revenue
during the quarter ended March 31, 2023, compared with March 31, 2022. As a percentage of quarterly
sales generated in the fiscal fourth quarters, Accounts Receivable was 41% at March 31, 2023, and 43%
at March 31, 2022. Accounts Receivable related to the ConAgg Acquisition was approximately $6.3
million at March 31, 2023. Management measures the change in Accounts Receivable by monitoring the
day’s sales outstanding monthly to determine if any deterioration has occurred in the collectability of the
Accounts Receivable. No significant deterioration in the collectability of our Accounts Receivable was
identified at March 31, 2023. Notes Receivable are monitored on an individual basis, and no significant
deterioration in the collectability of Notes Receivable was identified at March 31, 2023.
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Our Inventory balance at March 31, 2023, increased approximately $55.2 million from our balance at
March 31, 2022. Within Inventories, raw materials and materials-in-progress, finished cement,
aggregates, repair parts inventory, and fuel and coal increased by approximately $15.6 million, $7.6
million, $4.7 million, $21.3 million, and $4.1 million, respectively. The increases in raw materials and
materials-in-progress, finished cement, and fuel and coal were mostly due to timing, as well as wet
weather during March, which adversely affected sales volumes. The increase in aggregate inventories is
due primarily to the ConAgg Acquisition, which contributed $3.5 million of the increase at March 31, 2023.
The increase in repair parts was primarily due to the timing of outages in our Cement business, most of
which occurred in April 2023. We have less than one year’s sales of all product inventories, and our
inventories have a low risk of obsolescence given that they are basic construction materials. The largest
individual balance in our inventory is repair parts. The size and complexity of our manufacturing plants, as
well as the age of certain of our plants, creates the need to stock a high level of repair parts inventory. We
believe all of these repair parts are necessary, and we perform semi-annual analyses to identify obsolete
parts.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities in fiscal 2023 was approximately $268.6 million compared with
$74.1 million in fiscal 2022, an increase of approximately $194.5 million. This was primarily due to the
ConAgg and Terminal Acquisitions, which increased Net Cash Used in Investing Activities by $158.5
million, and an increase in capital spending of $36.0 million in fiscal 2023, compared with fiscal 2022. The
increase in capital spending was mainly due to higher spending in our Heavy Materials sector, primarily in
our Concrete and Aggregates segment.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities was approximately $277.3 million during fiscal 2023, compared
with $692.2 million in fiscal 2022. The $414.9 million decrease was primarily due to lower share
purchases and retirements, and borrowings and repayments of debt of $202.0 million and $229.2 million,
respectively. This was partially offset by higher dividends paid and lower debt issuance costs of $6.7
million and $7.1 million, respectively.

Our debt-to-capitalization ratio and net debt-to-capitalization ratio were 48.1% and 47.8%, respectively, at
March 31, 2023, compared with 45.6% and 45.1%, respectively, at March 31, 2022.

Debt Financing Activities
Below is a summary of the Company’s outstanding debt facilities at March 31, 2023:

Maturity
Revolving Credit Facility May 2027
Term Loan May 2027
2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes July 2031

See Footnote (G) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for further details on the Company's
debt facilities, including interest rate, and financial and other covenants and restrictions.

The revolving borrowing capacity of our Revolving Credit Facility is $750.0 million (any revolving loans
borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility, as applicable, the Revolving Loans). The Revolving Credit
Facility also includes a swingline loan sublimit of $25.0 million, and a $40.0 million letter of credit facility.
At March 31, 2023, we had $157.0 million outstanding of Revolving Loans under the Revolving Credit
Facility and $6.4 million of outstanding letters of credit, leaving us with $586.6 million of available
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, net of outstanding letters of credit. We are contingently
liable for performance under $26.9 million in performance bonds relating primarily to our mining
operations. We do not have any off-balance-sheet debt or any outstanding debt guarantees as of March
31, 2023.



57

Other than the Revolving Credit Facility, we have no additional source of committed external financing in
place. Should the Revolving Credit Facility be terminated, no assurance can be given as to our ability to
secure a new source of financing. Consequently, if any balance were outstanding on the Revolving Credit
Facility at the time of termination, and an alternative source of financing could not be secured, it would
have a material adverse impact on our business.

We believe that our cash flow from operations and available borrowings under our Revolving Credit
Facility, as well as cash on hand, should be sufficient to meet our currently anticipated operating needs,
capital expenditures, and debt service requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, our future
liquidity and capital requirements may vary depending on a number of factors, including market conditions
in the construction industry, our ability to maintain compliance with covenants in our Revolving Credit
Facility, the level of competition, and general and economic factors beyond our control, such as supply
chain constraints and inflation. These and other developments could reduce our cash flow or require that
we seek additional sources of funding. We cannot predict what effect these factors will have on our future
liquidity. See Market Conditions and Outlook section above for further discussion of the possible effects
on our business.

As market conditions warrant, the Company may from time to time seek to purchase or repay its
outstanding debt securities or loans, including the 2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes, the Term Loan, and
any Revolving Credit Loans, in each case, in privately negotiated or open market transactions, by tender
offer or otherwise. Subject to any applicable limitations contained in the agreements governing our
indebtedness, any purchases made by us may be funded by the use of cash on our balance sheet or the
incurrence of new debt. The amounts involved in any such purchase transactions, individually or in
aggregate, may be material.

Our Senior Unsecured Notes are rated by Moody’s Investor Service (Moody’s) and Standard and Poor’s
Global Ratings (S&P). The ratings are typically monitored by stockholders, creditors, or suppliers, and
they serve as indicators of the Company’s viability. Below is a summary of the ratings published by the
agencies as of the date indicated:

Moody's S&P
Corporate/Family Rating Baa2 BBB
Outlook Stable Stable
Guaranteed Senior Notes Baa2 BBB
Date of Latest Report January 2023 June 2022

We also have approximately $30.9 million of lease liabilities at March 31, 2023, that have an average
remaining life of approximately 10.2 years.

Cash Used for Share Repurchases and Stock Repurchase Program
See table under Item 5. “Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities” for additional information.

Share repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions. The timing and amount of any repurchases of shares will be determined by the Company’s
management, based on its evaluation of market and economic conditions and other factors. In some
cases, repurchases may be made pursuant to plans, programs, or directions established from time to time
by the Company’s management, including plans to comply with the safe harbor provided by Rule 10b5-1.
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Capital Expenditures
The following table shows Capital Expenditures in fiscal years 2023 and 2022:

For the Fiscal Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Land and Quarries $ 14,325 $ 15,943
Plants 64,720 40,843
Buildings, Machinery and Equipment 31,098 17,335

Total Capital Expenditures $ 110,143 $ 74,121

Capital expenditures for fiscal 2024 are expected to range from $145.0 million to $165.0 million and to be
allocated across the Heavy Materials and Light Materials sectors. These estimated capital expenditures
will include maintenance capital expenditures and improvements, as well as other safety and regulatory
projects.

Contractual and Other Obligations
We have certain Contractual Obligations arising from indebtedness, operating leases, and purchase
obligations. Future payments due, aggregated by type of contractual obligation, are set forth as follows:

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less than

1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years
More than

5 years
(dollars in thousands)

Revolving Credit Facility (1) $ 157,000 $ — $ — $ 157,000 $ —
Term Loan (2) 192,500 20,000 20,000 152,500 —
Senior Unsecured Notes 750,000 — — — 750,000
Interest and Commitment Fees on Credit Facility (3) 23,253 9,337 11,479 2,437 —
Interest on Term Loan (4) 42,615 11,369 20,923 10,323 —
Interest on Senior Unsecured Notes 154,688 18,750 37,500 37,500 60,938
Operating Leases 38,438 6,875 11,089 6,245 14,229
Purchase Obligations (5) 111,599 65,346 36,532 6,306 3,415

Total $ 1,470,093 $ 131,677 $ 137,523 $ 372,311 $ 828,582

(1) The Revolving Credit Facility expires in May 2027.
(2) The Term Loan facility in May 2027.
(3) We estimate the future cash flows for interest and commitment fees by assuming a level repayment of the Revolving Credit

Facility over its remaining term. Actual amounts paid, as well as the payment time periods, will likely differ from this estimate.
(4) The future cash flows for interest on the Term Loan were calculated using the same estimated interest rates as the Revolving

Credit Facility.
(5) Purchase obligations are noncancelable agreements to purchase coal, natural gas, slag, and synthetic gypsum; and to fund

capital expenditure commitments.

Based on our current actuarial estimates, we do not anticipate making contributions to our defined benefit
plans for fiscal year 2024.

Dividends
Dividends paid in fiscal years 2023 and 2022 were $37.5 million and $30.8 million, respectively. There
were no dividends paid in fiscal 2021. Dividends were suspended during the early stages of the COVID-
19 pandemic, but were reinstated in May 2021.
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Inflation and Changing Prices
The Consumer Price Index rose approximately 5.0% in fiscal 2023, 8.5% in fiscal 2022, and 2.6% in fiscal
2021. Prices of all materials and services increased again this year compared with the previous year, with
much of the increase related to energy and transportation. During fiscal 2023, the Consumer Price Index
for electricity and natural gas increased 10.2% and 5.5%, respectively, while the Consumer Price Index
for transportation increased 13.9%. The increase in energy prices resulted in higher costs for our
manufacturing businesses during fiscal 2023, and we expect these increases to continue throughout
calendar 2023. We have some protection from increasing natural gas costs in fiscal 2024 as we have
forward purchase contracts for approximately 30% of our anticipated natural gas usage. Freight costs are
expected to rise in fiscal 2024 by approximately 5% to 10%. Our ability to increase sales prices to cover
higher costs in the future varies with the level of activity in the construction industry: the number, size, and
strength of competitors, as well as the availability of products to supply a local market.

GENERAL OUTLOOK
See “Market Conditions and Outlook” within Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Refer to Footnote (A) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding recently
issued accounting pronouncements that may affect our financial statements.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain matters discussed in this report contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements may be identified by the context of
the statement and generally arise when the Company is discussing its beliefs, estimates or expectations.
These statements are not historical facts or guarantees of future performance but instead represent only
the Company’s belief at the time the statements were made regarding future events which are subject to
certain risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside the Company’s control. Actual
results and outcomes may differ materially from what is expressed or forecast in such forward-looking
statements. The principal risks and uncertainties that may affect the Company’s actual performance
include the following: the cyclical and seasonal nature of the Company’s businesses; public infrastructure
expenditures; adverse weather conditions; the fact that our products are commodities and that prices for
our products are subject to material fluctuation due to market conditions and other factors beyond our
control; availability of raw materials; changes in the costs of energy, including, without limitation,
electricity, natural gas, coal and oil, and the nature of our obligations to counterparties under energy
supply contracts, such as those related to market conditions (such as fluctuations in spot market prices),
governmental orders and other matters; changes in the cost and availability of transportation; unexpected
operational difficulties, including unexpected maintenance costs, equipment downtime and interruption of
production; material nonpayment or nonperformance by any of our key customers; inability to timely
execute announced capacity expansions; difficulties and delays in the development of new business
lines; governmental regulation and changes in governmental and public policy (including, without
limitation, climate change and other environmental regulation); possible outcomes of pending or future
litigation or arbitration proceedings; changes in economic conditions specific to any one or more of the
Company’s markets; adverse impact of severe weather conditions (such as winter storms, tornadoes and
hurricanes) on our facilities, operations and contractual arrangements with third parties; competition;
cyber-attacks or data security breaches; announced increases in capacity in the gypsum wallboard and
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cement industries; changes in the demand for residential housing construction or commercial construction
or construction projects undertaken by state or local governments; the availability of acquisitions or other
growth opportunities that meet our financial return standards and fit our strategic focus; risks related to
pursuit of acquisitions, joint ventures and other transactions or the execution or implementation of such
transactions, including the integration of operations acquired by the Company; general economic
conditions; and interest rates. For example, increases in interest rates, decreases in demand for
construction materials or increases in the cost of energy (including, without limitation, electricity, natural
gas, coal and oil) could affect the revenue and operating earnings of our operations. In addition, changes
in national or regional economic conditions and levels of infrastructure and construction spending could
also adversely affect the Company’s result of operations. Finally, any forward-looking statements made
by the Company are subject to the risks and impacts associated with natural disasters, pandemics or
other unforeseen events, including, without limitation, any resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
responses thereto, as well as their impact on economic conditions, capital and financial markets. All
forward-looking statements made herein are made as of the date hereof, and the risk that actual results
will differ materially from expectations expressed herein will increase with the passage of time. The
Company undertakes no duty to update any forward-looking statement to reflect future events or changes
in the Company’s expectations.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates on our Revolving Credit Facility
and Term Loan. We have occasionally utilized derivative instruments, including interest rate swaps, in
conjunction with our overall strategy to manage the debt outstanding that is subject to changes in interest
rates. At March 31, 2023, we had $157.0 million outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility and
$192.5 million outstanding under the Term Loan, under which borrowings bear interest at a variable rate
based on SOFR. A hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates on these outstanding
borrowings would increase our interest expense by $3.5 million on an annual basis. We do not presently
utilize derivative financial instruments.

We are subject to commodity risk with respect to price changes principally in coal, petroleum coke,
natural gas, and power. We attempt to limit our exposure to changes in commodity prices by entering into
contracts or increasing use of alternative fuels.
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EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)
Revenue $ 2,148,069 $ 1,861,522 $ 1,622,642
Cost of Goods Sold 1,508,803 1,341,908 1,214,287

Gross Profit 639,266 519,614 408,355
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture 35,474 32,488 37,441
Corporate General and Administrative Expense (53,630) (46,801) (49,511)
Loss on Early Retirement of Senior Notes — (8,407) —
Gain on Sale of Businesses — — 51,973
Other Nonoperating Income 2,654 9,073 20,274
Interest Expense, net (35,171) (30,873) (44,420)

Earnings from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes 588,593 475,094 424,112
Income Taxes (127,053) (100,847) (89,946)

Earnings from Continuing Operations 461,540 374,247 334,166
Earnings from Discontinued Operations, net of Income Taxes — — 5,278

Net Earnings $ 461,540 $ 374,247 $ 339,444

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
Continuing Operations $ 12.54 $ 9.23 $ 8.04
Discontinued Operations — — 0.13
Net Earnings $ 12.54 $ 9.23 $ 8.17

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Continuing Operations $ 12.46 $ 9.14 $ 7.99
Discontinued Operations — — 0.13
Net Earnings $ 12.46 $ 9.14 $ 8.12

AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING
Basic 36,798,354 40,547,048 41,543,067
Diluted 37,052,942 40,929,712 41,826,709

CASH DIVIDENDS PER SHARE $ 1.00 $ 0.75 $ 0.10

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Net Earnings $ 461,540 $ 374,247 $ 339,444
Net Actuarial Change in Defined Benefit Plans:

Unrealized (Loss) Gain During the Period, net of tax (benefit) expense
of $(147), $48, and $33 (465) 161 101

Amortization of Net Actuarial Gain (Loss), net of tax (expense) benefit of $30,
$39, and $(49) 93 104 (154)

Comprehensive Earnings $ 461,168 $ 374,512 $ 339,391

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 15,242 $ 19,416
Accounts and Notes Receivable, net 195,052 176,276
Inventories 291,882 236,661
Income Tax Receivable 16,267 7,202
Prepaid and Other Assets 3,060 3,172

Total Current Assets 521,503 442,727
Property, Plant, and Equipment, net 1,662,061 1,616,539
Notes Receivable 7,382 8,485
Investment in Joint Venture 89,111 80,637
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets 20,759 23,856
Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net 466,043 387,898
Other Assets 14,143 19,510

Total Assets $ 2,781,002 $ 2,579,652

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 110,408 $ 113,679
Accrued Liabilities 86,472 86,754
Operating Lease Liabilities 6,009 7,118
Current Portion of Long-term Debt 10,000 —

Total Current Liabilities 212,889 207,551
Long-term Debt 1,079,032 938,265
Noncurrent Operating Lease Liabilities 24,940 29,212
Other Long-term Liabilities 41,603 38,699
Deferred Income Taxes 236,844 232,369

Total Liabilities 1,595,308 1,446,096
Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock, Par Value $0.01; Authorized 5,000,000 Shares; None Issued — —
Common Stock, Par Value $0.01; Authorized 100,000,000 Shares;

Issued and Outstanding 35,768,376 and 38,710,929 Shares, respectively 358 387
Capital in Excess of Par Value — —
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses (3,547) (3,175)
Retained Earnings 1,188,883 1,136,344

Total Stockholders’ Equity 1,185,694 1,133,556
$ 2,781,002 $ 2,579,652

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Earnings $ 461,540 $ 374,247 $ 339,444
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Earnings to Net Cash Provided
by Operating Activities, Net of Effect of Noncash Activity:

Depreciation, Depletion, and Amortization 138,554 128,811 129,087
Write-off of Debt Issuance Costs — 6,101 —
Deferred Income Tax Provision 4,475 6,383 59,319
Stock Compensation Expense 17,155 14,264 15,293
Gain on Sale of Businesses — — (61,203)
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture (35,474) (32,488) (37,441)

Distributions from Joint Venture 27,000 27,250 36,000
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Accounts and Notes Receivable (12,035) (29,209) 2,127
Inventories (47,946) (912) 30,002
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (7,797) 27,192 9,541
Other Assets 4,955 (1,331) (6,455)
Income Taxes Receivable (8,701) (3,137) 127,359

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 541,726 517,171 643,073
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment (110,143) (74,121) (53,933)
Acquisition Spending (158,451) — —
Proceeds from Sale of Businesses — — 91,022

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities (268,594) (74,121) 37,089
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings Under Revolving Credit Facility 200,000 200,000 —
Repayment of Borrowings Under Revolving Credit Facility (43,000) — (560,000)
Proceeds from 2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes — 743,692 —
Repayment of 4.500% Senior Unsecured Notes — (350,000) —
Repayment of Term Loan (7,500) (665,000) —
Dividends Paid to Stockholders (37,496) (30,770) (4,163)
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock (387,717) (589,742) —
Proceeds from Stock Option Exercises 5,418 21,366 40,455
Premium Paid on Early Retirement of Senior Notes — (8,407) —
Payment of Debt Issuance Costs (903) (7,985) (2,396)
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes on Stock Compensation (6,108) (5,308) (4,186)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (277,306) (692,154) (530,290)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (4,174) (249,104) 149,872
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 19,416 268,520 118,648
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD $ 15,242 $ 19,416 $ 268,520

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common
Stock

Capital in
Excess of
Par Value

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Losses Total

(dollars in thousands)
Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 416 $ 10,943 $ 960,065 $ (3,581) $ 967,843
Net Earnings — — 339,444 — 339,444
Stock Option Exercises and Restricted Share Vesting 8 40,449 — — 40,457
Stock Compensation Expense — 15,291 — — 15,291
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes — (4,186) — — (4,186)
Sale of Business with Unfunded Pension Liability — — — 254 254
Unfunded Pension Liability, net of tax — — — (113) (113)
Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 424 $ 62,497 $ 1,299,509 $ (3,440) $ 1,358,990
Net Earnings — — 374,247 — 374,247
Stock Option Exercises and Restricted Share Vesting 3 21,363 — — 21,366
Stock Compensation Expense — 14,264 — — 14,264
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes — (5,308) — — (5,308)
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock (40) (92,816) (496,886) — (589,742)
Dividends to Stockholders — — (40,526) — (40,526)
Unfunded Pension Liability, net of tax — — — 265 265
Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 387 $ — $ 1,136,344 $ (3,175) $ 1,133,556
Net Earnings — — 461,540 — 461,540
Stock Option Exercises and Restricted Share Vesting 2 5,416 — — 5,418
Stock Compensation Expense — 17,155 — — 17,155
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes — (6,108) — — (6,108)
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock (31) (16,463) (371,961) — (388,455)
Dividends to Stockholders — — (37,040) — (37,040)
Unfunded Pension Liability, net of tax — — — (372) (372)
Balance at March 31, 2023 $ 358 $ — $ 1,188,883 $ (3,547) $ 1,185,694

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(A) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Eagle Materials Inc. and its majority-owned
subsidiaries (the Company), which may be referred to as we, our, or us. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated. The Company is a holding company whose assets consist of its
investments in its subsidiaries, joint venture, intercompany balances, and holdings of cash and cash
equivalents. The businesses of the consolidated group are conducted through the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Company conducts one of its cement plant operations through a joint venture, Texas
Lehigh Cement Company L.P., which is located in Buda, Texas (the Joint Venture). Our investment in the
Joint Venture is accounted for using the equity method of accounting, and those results have been
included for the same period as our March 31 fiscal year end.

On September 18, 2020, we sold our Oil and Gas Proppants business, which had been previously
reported as a separate operating segment, for a purchase price of $2.0 million. The sale resulted in a gain
of approximately $9.2 million. Because the sale of the Oil and Gas Proppants business was determined to
meet the accounting criteria for discontinued operations, this segment is no longer separately reported in
our reportable segment footnote for any of the periods presented. See Footnote (C) for more information
about the sale of the Oil and Gas Proppants business.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash Equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or
less and are recorded at cost, which approximates market value.

Accounts and Notes Receivable
Accounts and Notes Receivable have been shown net of the allowance for doubtful accounts of $6.9
million and $6.7 million at March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We perform ongoing credit evaluations
of our customers’ financial condition and generally require no collateral from our customers. The
allowance for noncollection of receivables is based on our assessment of the collectability of outstanding
accounts receivable, and includes a provision for probable losses based on historical write-offs, adjusted
for current economic trends in the construction industry, and a specific reserve for accounts deemed at
risk. We have no significant credit risk concentration among our diversified customer base. Bad debt
expense was approximately $0.3 million, $0.3 million, and $0.7million for the fiscal years ended March 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Write-offs of accounts receivable were approximately $0.1 million,
$1.6 million, and $1.2 million for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.
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We had Notes Receivable totaling approximately $8.5 million at March 31, 2023, of which $1.1 million
was classified as current. On April 28, 2023, we collected the entire $8.5 million balance owed under the
Notes Receivable. From time to time, we lend funds to certain companies in the ordinary course of
business. The notes are generally collateralized by certain assets of the borrowers, namely property and
equipment. We monitor the credit risk of each borrower by focusing on the timeliness of payments, credit
history review, credit metrics, and interaction with the borrowers.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost (including applicable material, labor, depreciation, and
plant overhead) or net realizable value. Raw Materials and Materials-in-Progress include clinker, which is
an intermediary product before it is ground into cement powder. Quantities of Raw Materials and
Materials-in-Progress, Aggregates and Coal inventories, are based on measured volumes, subject to
estimation based on the size and location of the inventory piles, and then converted to tonnage using
standard inventory density factors. Inventories consist of the following:

March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Raw Materials and Materials-in-Progress $ 96,880 $ 81,308
Finished Cement 46,364 38,769
Aggregates 8,309 3,558
Gypsum Wallboard 4,244 3,452
Paperboard 8,651 7,462
Repair Parts and Supplies 112,885 91,593
Fuel and Coal 14,549 10,519

$ 291,882 $ 236,661

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, Plant, and Equipment are stated at cost. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized and
depreciated. Annual maintenance is expensed as incurred. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of depreciable assets and totaled $129.6 million, $122.4 million, and
$120.7 million, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Raw material
deposits are depleted as such deposits are extracted for production utilizing the units-of-production
method. Costs and accumulated depreciation applicable to assets retired or sold are eliminated from the
accounts and any resulting gains or losses are recognized at such time. The estimated useful lives of the
related assets are as follows:

Plants 20 to 30 years
Buildings 20 to 40 years
Machinery and Equipment 3 to 25 years

Maintenance and repair expenses are included in each segment’s costs and expenses. We incurred
$173.4 million, $147.8 million, and $137.2 million of maintenance and repair expenses in the fiscal years
ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, which is included in Cost of Goods Sold on the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

We periodically evaluate whether current events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our
depreciable assets may not be recoverable. See Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived and Intangible
Assets in the following section for more information about the impairments.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets
GOODWILL

We annually assess Goodwill in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year, or more frequently when indicators of
impairment exist. Impairment testing for Goodwill is done at the reporting unit, which is consistent with the
reportable segment.

Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. Prior to
performing the Step 1 quantitative test, we may, at our discretion, perform an optional qualitative analysis,
or we may choose to proceed directly to the Step 1 quantitative test. The qualitative analysis considers
the impact of the following events and circumstances on the reporting unit being tested: macroeconomic
conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, and other
relevant entity-specific events. If, as a result of this qualitative analysis, we conclude that it is more likely
than not (a likelihood of greater than 50%) that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying
value, then an impairment does not exist and the Step 1 quantitative test is not required. If we are unable
to conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value,
then we proceed to the Step 1 quantitative test.

Step 1 of the quantitative test for impairment compares the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying
value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, then an impairment is indicated. If facts and
circumstances related to our business change in subsequent years, we may choose to perform a
quantitative analysis in those future years. If we perform a Step 1 test and the carrying value of the
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then an impairment charge equal to the difference, not to exceed the
total amount of Goodwill, is recorded.

The fair values of the reporting units are estimated by using both the market and income approaches. The
market approach considers market factors and certain multiples in comparison to similar companies,
while the income approach uses discounted cash flows to determine the estimated fair values of the
reporting units. We also perform an overall comparison of all reporting units to our market capitalization in
order to test the reasonableness of our fair value calculations.

We performed qualitative assessments on all of our reporting units in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023 and
2022. As a result of these qualitative assessments, we determined it was not more likely than not that an
impairment existed; therefore, we did not perform a Step 1 quantitative test in either fiscal 2023 or 2022.
We performed a Step 1 quantitative impairment test on our all of our reporting units with Goodwill during
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021. We estimated the fair value of the reporting unit using a discounted cash
flow model as well as a market analysis. Key assumptions in the model included estimated average net
sales prices, sales volumes, and the estimated weighted average cost of capital specific to each industry.
Based on the results of the Step 1 quantitative impairment analysis, we concluded that the fair values of
the reporting units substantially exceeded their carrying values, and therefore no impairment was
recognized.
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GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and Intangible Assets at March 31, 2023 and 2022, consist of the following:

March 31, 2023
Amortization

Period Cost Additions
Accumulated
Amortization Net

(dollars in thousands)
Goodwill and Intangible Assets:
Customer Contracts and Relationships 15 years $ 108,610 $ 32,584 $ (75,413) $ 65,781
Permits 25-40 years 30,410 350 (12,519) 18,241
Trade Name 15 years 1,500 400 (590) 1,310
Goodwill 329,137 51,574 — 380,711

Total Goodwill and Intangible Assets $ 469,657 $ 84,908 $ (88,522) $ 466,043

March 31, 2022
Amortization

Period Cost Additions
Accumulated
Amortization Net

(dollars in thousands)
Goodwill and Intangible Assets:
Customer Contracts and Relationships 15 years $ 108,610 $ — $ (69,866) $ 38,744
Permits 25-40 years 30,410 — (11,629) 18,781
Trade Name 15 years 1,500 — (264) 1,236
Goodwill 329,137 — — 329,137

Total Goodwill and Intangible Assets $ 469,657 $ — $ (81,759) $ 387,898

Amortization expense of intangibles was $6.8 million, $4.4 million, and $4.5 million for the fiscal years
ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Amortization expense is expected to be
approximately $6.8 million in fiscal 2024, $6.6 million in fiscal 2025 and 2026, $6.4 million in fiscal 2027,
and $6.3 million in fiscal 2028.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets
We assess our long-lived assets, including mining and related assets, for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, may not be
recoverable. Long-lived assets, or group of assets, are evaluated for impairment at the lowest level for
which cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets. We assess recoverability of
assets, or group of assets, by comparing the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, to the future
undiscounted net cash flows that we expect the asset, or group of assets, to generate. These impairment
evaluations are significantly affected by estimates of future revenue, costs and expenses, and other
factors. If the carrying value of the assets, or group of assets, exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, then
an impairment is indicated. If such assets, or group of assets, are considered to be impaired, the
impairment is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset, or group of assets,
exceeds the fair value of the asset, or group of assets. Any assets held for sale are reflected at the lower
of their carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. There were no indicators of impairment related to
our long-lived assets during fiscal 2023.

Other Assets
Other Assets are primarily composed of financing costs related to our Revolving Credit Facility, deferred
expenses, and deposits.
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Income Taxes
We account for Income Taxes using the asset and liability method. The effect on deferred taxes of a
change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date. We
recognize deferred taxes for the differences between financial statement carrying amounts and the tax
bases of existing assets and liabilities by applying enacted statutory tax rates for future years. In addition,
we recognize future tax benefits to the extent that such benefits are more likely than not to be realized.
See Footnote (J) for more information.

Stock Repurchases
Shares repurchased by the Company are considered retired and available for future issuance. When
shares are repurchased, the Company first reduces Capital in Excess of Par Value, and if there is no
balance in this account, the purchases are recorded as a reduction of Retained Earnings.

On May 17, 2022, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase an additional 7,500,000
shares. During fiscal years 2023 and 2022, we repurchased 3,075,788 and 3,982,657 shares,
respectively, at average prices of $126.05 and $148.08, respectively. We did not repurchase any shares
in fiscal 2021. At March 31, 2023, the remaining authorized shares for repurchase totaled 7,747,204
shares.

Revenue Recognition
We earn Revenue primarily from the sale of products, which include cement, concrete, aggregates,
gypsum wallboard, and recycled paperboard. The majority of Revenue from the sale of concrete,
aggregates, and gypsum wallboard is originated by purchase orders from our customers, who are mainly
third-party contractors and suppliers. Revenue from the sale of cement is sold point-of-sale to customers
under sales orders. Revenue from our Recycled Paperboard segment is generated mostly through long-
term supply agreements. These agreements do not have a stated maturity date, but may be terminated
by either party with a two to three year notice period. We invoice customers upon shipment, and our
collection terms range from 30 to 75 days. Revenue from the sale of cement, concrete, aggregates, and
gypsum wallboard that is not related to long-term supply agreements is recognized upon shipment of the
related products to customers, which is when title and ownership are transferred, and the customer is
obligated to pay.

Revenue from sales under our long-term supply agreements is also recognized upon transfer of control to
the customer, which occurs at the time the product is shipped from the production facility. Our long-term
supply agreements with customers define, among other commitments, the volume of product that we
must provide and the volume that the customer must purchase by the end of the defined periods. Pricing
structures under our agreements are generally market-based, but are subject to certain contractual
adjustments. Shortfall amounts, if applicable under these arrangements, are constrained and not
recognized as Revenue until agreement is reached with the customer and there is no risk of reversal.

The Company offers certain of its customers, including those with long-term supply agreements, rebates
and incentives, which we treat as variable consideration. We adjust the amount of revenue recognized for
the variable consideration using the most likely amount method based on past history and projected
volumes in the rebate and incentive period. Any amounts billed to customers for taxes are excluded from
Revenue.

The Company has elected to treat freight and delivery charges we pay for the delivery of goods to our
customers as a fulfilment activity rather than a separate performance obligation. When we arrange for a
third party to deliver products to customers, fees for shipping and handling billed to the customer are
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recorded as Revenue, while costs incurred for shipping and handling are recorded as expenses and
included in Cost of Goods Sold.

Approximately $229.6 million, $199.1 million, and $177.5 million of freight for the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, were included in both Revenue and Cost of Goods Sold in
our Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Other Nonoperating Income includes lease and rental income, asset sale income, non-inventoried
aggregates sales income, and trucking income, as well as other miscellaneous revenue items and costs
that have not been allocated to a business segment.

See Footnote (I) for disaggregation of Revenue by segment.

Comprehensive Income/Losses
As of March 31, 2023, we have an Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss of $3.5 million, which is net
of income taxes of $1.0 million, in connection with recognizing the difference between the fair value of the
pension assets and the projected benefit obligation.

Consolidated Cash Flows – Supplemental Disclosures
Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Cash Payments:

Interest $ 31,596 $ 21,298 $ 42,343
Income Taxes 131,512 86,407 32,870
Operating Cash Flows Used for Operating Leases 8,314 8,141 10,741

Noncash Financing Activities:
Right-of-Use Assets Obtained for Capitalized Operating Leases $ 1,711 $ 2,598 $ 272
Excise Tax on Share Repurchases 738 — —

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses of the operating units are included in Cost of Goods Sold
on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Corporate General and Administrative (Corporate G&A)
Expenses include administration, financial, legal, employee benefits, and other corporate activities, and
are shown separately in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Corporate G&A also includes stock
compensation expense. See Footnote (L) for more information.

Total Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses for each of the periods are summarized as follows:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Operating Units Selling, G&A $ 65,468 $ 56,561 $ 56,309
Corporate G&A 53,630 46,801 49,511

$ 119,098 $ 103,362 $ 105,820
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Earnings per Share
For the Years Ended March 31,

2023 2022 2021
Weighted-Average Shares of Common Stock Outstanding 36,798,354 40,547,048 41,543,067
Effect of Dilutive Shares:
Assumed Exercise of Outstanding Dilutive Options 418,659 539,309 570,325
Less Shares Repurchased from Proceeds of Assumed Exercised Options (290,590) (343,917) (429,815)
Restricted Stock Units 126,519 187,272 143,132
Weighted-Average Common Stock and Dilutive Securities Outstanding 37,052,942 40,929,712 41,826,709

The line Less Shares Repurchased from Proceeds of Assumed Exercised Options includes unearned
compensation related to outstanding stock options.

There were 52,375; 6,053; and 569,431 stock options at an average exercise price of $127.06 per share,
$139.80 per share, and $89.11 per share, respectively, that were excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per share for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, because such
inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

Share-Based Compensation
All share-based compensation is valued at the grant date and expensed over the requisite service period,
which is generally identical to the vesting period of the award. Forfeitures of share-based awards are
recognized in the period in which they occur.

Fair Value Measures
Certain assets and liabilities are required to be recorded or disclosed at fair value. The estimated fair
values of those assets and liabilities have been determined using market information and valuation
methodologies. Changes in assumptions or estimation methods could affect the fair value estimates;
however, we do not believe any such changes would have a material impact on our financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair
value:

Level 1 – Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active markets;

Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data; and

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to
the fair value of the assets and liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies, and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
RECENTLY ADOPTED

None.

PENDING ADOPTION

None.
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(B) ACQUISITIONS
ConAgg Acquisition

On April 22, 2022, we purchased the assets of a readymix concrete and aggregates business (the
ConAgg Acquisition), which was accounted for under the acquisition method. The purchase price of the
ConAgg Acquisition, after subsequent working capital adjustments, was approximately $120.2 million.
The purchase price and expenses incurred in connection with the ConAgg Acquisition were funded
primarily through borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. Operations related to the ConAgg
Acquisition are included in the Concrete and Aggregates business in our segment reporting from April 22,
2022 through March 31, 2023.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the Purchase Price to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed:

(dollars in thousands)
Working Capital $ 10,780
Property, Plant, and Equipment 39,489
Intangible Assets 30,750
Goodwill 39,135

Total Purchase Price $ 120,154

The estimated useful lives assigned to Property, Plant, and Equipment range from 5 to15 years, while the
estimated useful lives assigned to Intangible Assets range from 2 to 15 years.

The following table presents the Revenue and Operating Earnings related to the ConAgg Acquisition that
has been included in our Consolidated Statement of Earnings from April 22, 2022 through March 31,
2023.

For the Year Ended March 31,
2023

(dollars in thousands)
Revenue $ 44,546
Operating Earnings $ 1,615

Included in Operating Earnings shown above is approximately $8.2 million and $2.2 million related to
depreciation and amortization and the recording of inventories at fair value, respectively.

Terminal Acquisition

On September 16, 2022, we acquired a cement distribution terminal located in Nashville, Tennessee (the
Terminal Acquisition), which was accounted for under the acquisition method. The purchase price of the
Terminal Acquisition was approximately $39.5 million. The Terminal Acquisition was funded through
borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. Operations related to the Terminal Acquisition are
included in the segment reporting for our Cement business from September 16, 2022 through March 31,
2023.
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The following table summarizes allocation of the Terminal Acquisition purchase price to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed:

(dollars in thousands)
Working Capital $ 1,116
Property, Plant, and Equipment 23,301
Intangible Assets 2,589
Goodwill 12,439

Total Purchase Price $ 39,445

All Goodwill generated by the ConAgg and Terminal Acquisitions is deductible for income tax purposes.

Subsequent Acquisition

On May 3, 2023, we acquired a cement import distribution terminal in Stockton, California (the Stockton
Acquisition). The Stockton Acquisition will be included in our Heavy Materials sector, in the Cement
business segment, in fiscal 2024.

(C) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND OTHER DISPOSITIONS
Discontinued Operations

On September 18, 2020, we sold our Oil and Gas Proppants business (the Proppants Business) to Smart
Sand, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Purchaser), pursuant to an Equity Purchase and Sale Agreement
(the Purchase Agreement) between the Company and the Purchaser. The sale of this business excluded
certain assets, namely real property and equipment in south Texas, real property in Illinois and certain
other assets. The purchase price (the Purchase Price) paid by the Purchaser for the acquisition of the
Proppants Business was $2.0 million paid in shares of common stock of the Purchaser. The shares were
valued at March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 using Level 1 inputs at the quoted market price of the shares,
and the shares are classified as Other Assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2023 and
2022.

The sale of the Oil and Gas Proppants business, which was previously disclosed as a reportable
segment, was determined to meet the discontinued operations accounting criteria. The sale resulted in a
gain of approximately $9.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2021, which is included in Earnings
(Loss) from Discontinued Operations on the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. Certain expenses,
which were previously included in the Oil and Gas Proppants operating segment, do not qualify for
classification within discontinued operations and have been reclassified from the operating segment to
continuing operations. These expenses primarily relate to lease agreements not included in the sale of
the Proppants Business.
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The following is a summary of operating results included in Earnings from Discontinued Operations for
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021:

(dollars in thousands)
Revenue $ 1,045
Cost of Goods Sold 3,415

Gross Profit (2,370)
Other Nonoperating Income 226
Gain on Sale of Discontinued Operations 9,230
Impairment Losses —
Earnings from Discontinued Operations 7,086
Income Tax Expense (1,808)

Net Earnings from Discontinued Operations $ 5,278

The significant components of our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for discontinued operations
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 are as follows:

(dollars in thousands)
Depreciation and Amortization $ 221
Impairment Losses $ —
Gain on Sale of Business $ (9,230)
Net Change in Inventory $ —
Capital Expenditures $ —

(D) PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT
Cost by major category and Accumulated Depreciation are summarized as follows:

March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Land and Quarries $ 311,743 $ 231,499
Plants 2,423,426 2,380,926
Buildings, Machinery, and Equipment 226,018 194,753
Construction in Progress 65,455 50,270

3,026,642 2,857,448
Accumulated Depreciation (1,364,581) (1,240,909)

$ 1,662,061 $ 1,616,539
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(E) ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Payroll and Incentive Compensation $ 32,742 $ 37,262
Benefits 16,130 14,894
Interest 7,163 5,052
Dividends 9,186 9,756
Property Taxes 6,671 6,514
Power and Fuel 3,051 2,877
Freight 1,663 1,172
Legal and Professional 1,691 989
Sales and Use Tax 1,452 1,509
Other 6,723 6,729

$ 86,472 $ 86,754

(F) LEASES
We lease certain real estate, buildings, and equipment, including rail cars and barges. Certain of these
leases contain escalations of rent over the term of the lease, as well as options for us to extend the term
of the lease at the end of the original term. These extensions range from periods of one year to twenty
years. Our lease agreements do not contain material residual value guarantees or material restrictive
covenants. In calculating the present value of future minimum lease payments, we use the rate implicit in
the lease if it can be determined. Otherwise, we use our incremental borrowing rate in effect at the
commencement of the lease to determine the present value of the future minimum lease payments.
Additionally, we lease certain equipment under short-term leases with initial terms of less than 12 months.
These short-term equipment leases are not recorded on the balance sheet.

Lease expense for our operating and short-term leases is as follows:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Operating Lease Cost $ 7,339 $ 6,543 $ 6,757
Short-term Lease Cost 593 1,261 2,562
Total Lease Cost $ 7,932 $ 7,804 $ 9,319

The Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities are reflected on our Balance Sheet as follows:

March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Operating Leases:

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets $ 20,759 $ 23,856

Current Operating Lease Liabilities $ 6,009 $ 7,118
Noncurrent Operating Lease Liabilities 24,940 29,212

Total Operating Lease Liabilities $ 30,949 $ 36,330
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Future payments for operating leases are as follows:

Amount
Fiscal Year (dollars in thousands)
2024 $ 6,875
2025 6,427
2026 4,662
2027 3,540
2028 2,705
Thereafter 14,229
Total Lease Payments $ 38,438
Less: Imputed Interest (7,489)
Present Value of Lease Liabilities $ 30,949

Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term (in years) 10.2
Weighted-Average Discount Rate 3.80%

(G) INDEBTEDNESS
Long-term debt at March 31, 2023 consists of the following:

As of March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Revolving Credit Facility $ 157,000 $ 200,000
2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2031 750,000 750,000
Term Loan 192,500 —

Total Debt 1,099,500 950,000
Less: Current Portion of Long-term Debt (10,000) —
Less: Unamortized Discount and Debt Issuance Costs (10,468) (11,735)

Long-term Debt $ 1,079,032 $ 938,265

The weighted-average interest rate of borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility during fiscal years
2023, 2022, and 2021 was approximately 3.7%, 1.5%, and 2.8%, respectively. The weighted-average
interest rate on our Term Loan was approximately 4.4% during fiscal 2023. The interest rate on the
Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan was approximately 6.0% and 1.7% at March 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Revolving Credit Facility
We have an unsecured $750.0 million revolving credit facility that was amended on May 5, 2022 (such
facility, as amended, the Revolving Credit Facility). The Revolving Credit Facility includes a separate
$200.0 million term loan facility (the Term Loan) and also provides the Company the option to increase
the borrowing capacity by up to $375.0 million (for a total borrowing capacity of $1,125.0 million,
excluding the Term Loan), provided that the existing lenders, or new lenders, agree to such increase. The
Revolving Credit Facility includes a $40.0 million letter of credit facility and a swingline loan sub-facility of
$25.0 million, and expires on May 5, 2027.

The Revolving Credit Facility contains customary covenants for an unsecured investment-grade facility,
including covenants that restrict the Company’s and/or its subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional debt;
encumber assets; merge with or transfer or sell assets to other persons; and enter into certain affiliate
transactions. The Revolving Credit Facility also requires the Company to maintain at the end of each
fiscal quarter a Leverage Ratio of 3.50:1.00 or less and an Interest Coverage Ratio (both ratios, as
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defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) equal to or greater than 2.50 to 1.00 (collectively, the Financial
Covenants).

At the Company’s option, principal amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest
at a variable rate equal to either (i) the Adjusted LIBO Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility)
plus an agreed spread (ranging from 100 to 162.5 basis points, which is established based on the
Company's credit rating); or (ii) an Alternate Base Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility), which
is the highest of (a) the Prime Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) in effect on any applicable
day, (b) the NYFRB Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) in effect on any applicable day, plus
½ of 1%, and (c) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for a one-month interest period on any applicable day, or if such
day is not a business day, the immediately preceding business day, plus 1.0%, in each case plus an
agreed upon spread (ranging from 0 to 62.5 basis points) which is established quarterly based on the
Company's credit rating. The Company is also required to pay a facility fee on unused available
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility ranging from 9 to 22.5 basis points which is established
based on the Company's then credit rating.

The Company pays each lender a participation fee with respect to such lender’s participation in letters of
credit, which fee accrues at the same Applicable Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) used to
determine the interest rate applicable to Eurodollar Revolving Loans (as defined in the Revolving Credit
Facility) plus a fronting fee for each letter of credit issued by the issuing bank in an amount equal to 12.5
basis points per annum on the daily maximum amount then available to be drawn under such letter of
credit. The Company also pays each issuing bank such bank’s standard fees with respect to issuance,
amendment or extensions of letters of credit and other processing fees, and other standard costs and
charges relating to such issuing bank’s letters of credit from time to time.

There was $157.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, plus $6.4 million
of outstanding letters of credit as of March 31, 2023, leaving us with $586.6 million of available
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, net of outstanding letters of credit. We were in compliance
with all covenants at March 31, 2023; therefore, all $586.6 million is available for future borrowings.

Term Loan
On May 5, 2022, we borrowed the $200.0 million Term Loan under the Revolving Credit Facility, and
used these proceeds to, among other things, pay down a portion of the Revolving Credit Facility. The
Term Loan requires quarterly principal payments of $2.5 million, with any unpaid amounts due upon
maturity on May 5, 2027. At the Company’s option, principal amounts outstanding under the Term Loan
bear interest as set forth in the Revolving Credit Facility (but not, for the avoidance of doubt, at a daily
simple SOFR rate unless and until such time as the then-existing Benchmark [as defined in the Revolving
Credit Facility] is replaced in accordance with the Revolving Credit Facility).
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2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2031
On July 1, 2021, we issued $750.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.500% senior notes due July
2031 (the 2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes). The 2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes are senior unsecured
obligations of the Company and are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. The 2.500% Senior
Unsecured Notes were issued net of the original issue discount of $6.3 million and have an effective
interest rate of approximately 2.6%. The original issue discount is being amortized by the effective
interest method over the 10-year term of the notes. The 2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes are redeemable
prior to April 1, 2031 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the
2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes being redeemed, plus the present value of remaining scheduled
payments of principal and interest from the applicable redemption date to April 1, 2031, discounted to the
redemption date on a semi-annual basis at the Treasury rate plus 20 basis points. The 2.500% Senior
Unsecured Notes are redeemable on or after April 1, 2031, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
aggregate principal amount of the 2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and
unpaid interest to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. If we experience certain change of
control triggering events, we would be required to offer to repurchase the 2.500% Senior Unsecured
Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2.500% Senior
Unsecured Notes being repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the applicable
redemption date. The indenture governing the 2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes contains certain
covenants that limit our ability to create or permit to exist certain liens; enter into sale and leaseback
transactions; and consolidate, merge, or transfer all or substantially all of our assets, and provides for
certain events of default that, if any occurred, would permit or require the principal of and accrued interest
on the 2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes to become or be declared due and payable.

Our maturities of long-term debt during the next five fiscal years are as follows:

Fiscal Year Amount
2024 $ 10,000
2025 10,000
2026 10,000
2027 10,000
2028 309,500
Thereafter 750,000
Total $ 1,099,500

Retirement of Debt
In connection with the issuance of the 2.500% Senior Unsecured notes, on July 1, 2021, we repaid all
outstanding amounts under and terminated our $665.0 million term loan credit agreement (the Term Loan
Facility). The Term Loan Facility was used to pay a portion of the purchase price for the Kosmos
Acquisition, and fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Kosmos Acquisition in March 2020.
Additionally, on July 19, 2021, (the first business day following the redemption date), we redeemed and
paid in full all outstanding amounts due under the $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.500%
senior notes (4.500% Senior Unsecured Notes) due August 2026, using proceeds from the 2.500%
Senior Unsecured Notes, the Revolving Credit Facility and cash on hand. The 4.500% Senior Unsecured
Notes redemption price included all of the outstanding principal and accrued interest through the
redemption date of July 17, 2021, as well as an early termination premium of approximately $8.4 million.
In connection with the termination and repayment of the Term Loan Facility and the redemption of the
4.500% Senior Unsecured Notes, we expensed approximately $6.1 million of related debt issuance costs
in July 2021.
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(H) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of our senior notes has been estimated based upon our current incremental borrowing
rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The fair value of our Senior Unsecured Notes at March
31, 2023 is as follows:

Fair Value
(dollars in thousands)

2.500% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2031 $ 610,000

The estimated fair value of our long-term debt was based on publicly quoted prices of these debt
instruments (level 1 input). The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes
receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values at March 31, 2023, due
to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. The fair value of our Revolving Credit Facility
and Term Loan also approximates its carrying values at March 31, 2023.

(I) BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise that engage in business activities that
earn revenue, incur expenses, and prepare separate financial information that is evaluated regularly by
our chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources and assess performance. On September
18, 2020, we sold our Oil and Gas Proppants business, which had been reported as an operating
segment. The Oil and Gas Proppants business was determined to meet the discontinued operations
accounting criteria; therefore, this segment is no longer separately reported in our reportable segment
footnote for any of the periods presented. Certain expenses of the Oil and Gas Proppants business that
related to assets not included in the sale, namely real property and equipment in south Texas, real
property in Illinois, and certain other assets, are included in Other when reconciling segment operating
earnings to consolidated operating earnings. See Footnote (C) for more information about the sale of the
Oil and Gas Proppants business.

Our business is organized into two sectors within which there are four reportable business segments. The
Heavy Materials sector includes the Cement and Concrete and Aggregates segments. The Light
Materials sector includes the Gypsum Wallboard and Recycled Paperboard segments.

Our primary products are commodities that are essential in commercial and residential construction;
public construction projects; and projects to build, expand, and repair roads and highways. Demand for
our products is generally cyclical and seasonal, depending on economic and geographic conditions. We
distribute our products across many United States markets, which provides us with regional economic
diversification. Our operations are conducted in the U.S. and include the mining of limestone for the
manufacture, production, distribution, and sale of portland cement (a basic construction material that is
the essential binding ingredient in concrete); the grinding and sale of slag; the mining of gypsum for the
manufacture and sale of gypsum wallboard; the manufacture and sale of recycled paperboard to the
gypsum wallboard industry and other paperboard converters; the sale of readymix concrete; and the
mining and sale of aggregates (crushed stone, sand, and gravel).

We operate eight modern cement plants (one of which is operated through a joint venture located in
Buda, Texas), one slag grinding facility, and over 30 cement distribution terminals, including terminals
acquired in the Stockton Acquisition. Our cement companies focus on the U.S. heartland and operate as
an integrated network selling product primarily in California, Colorado, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kentucky,
Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada, Ohio, Oklahoma, and Texas. We operate 30 readymix concrete batch plants
and five aggregates processing plants in markets that are complementary to our cement network.
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We operate five gypsum wallboard plants and a recycled paperboard mill. We distribute gypsum
wallboard and recycled paperboard throughout the continental U.S., with the exception of the Northeast.

We account for intersegment sales at market prices. For segment reporting purposes only, we
proportionately consolidate our 50% share of the Joint Venture Revenue and Operating Earnings,
consistent with the way management reports the segments within the Company for making operating
decisions and assessing performance.

The following tables set forth certain financial information relating to our operations by segment. We do
not allocate interest or taxes at the segment level, only at the consolidated company level.

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Revenue

Cement $ 1,074,070 $ 1,007,094 $ 944,556
Concrete and Aggregates 239,516 177,122 168,829
Gypsum Wallboard 872,471 692,152 539,009
Paperboard 201,280 194,054 163,507

2,387,337 2,070,422 1,815,901
Less: Intersegment Revenue (125,750) (105,001) (88,068)
Less: Joint Venture Revenue (113,518) (103,899) (105,191)

$ 2,148,069 $ 1,861,522 $ 1,622,642

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Intersegment Revenue

Cement $ 32,915 $ 22,915 $ 20,862
Concrete and Aggregates — — 106
Paperboard 92,835 82,086 67,100

$ 125,750 $ 105,001 $ 88,068
Cement Sales Volume (M tons)

Wholly Owned 6,399 6,711 6,576
Joint Venture 734 823 890

7,133 7,534 7,466
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For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Operating Earnings

Cement $ 278,762 $ 259,556 $ 233,957
Concrete and Aggregates 18,259 18,467 19,054
Gypsum Wallboard 352,499 261,476 167,336
Paperboard 25,220 12,603 25,449

Sub-Total 674,740 552,102 445,796
Corporate General and Administrative Expense (53,630) (46,801) (49,511)
Loss on Early Retirement of Senior Notes — (8,407) —
Gain on Sale of Businesses — — 51,973
Other Nonoperating Income (Loss) 2,654 9,073 20,274
Earnings Before Interest and Income Taxes 623,764 505,967 468,532
Interest Expense, net (35,171) (30,873) (44,420)
Earnings Before Income Taxes $ 588,593 $ 475,094 $ 424,112

Cement Operating Earnings
Wholly Owned $ 243,288 $ 227,068 $ 196,516
Joint Venture 35,474 32,488 37,441

$ 278,762 $ 259,556 $ 233,957
Capital Expenditures

Cement $ 39,049 $ 31,535 $ 26,708
Concrete and Aggregates 35,503 5,239 3,114
Gypsum Wallboard 31,063 32,405 12,889
Paperboard 2,898 2,579 11,222
Corporate and Other 1,630 2,363 —

$ 110,143 $ 74,121 $ 53,933
Depreciation, Depletion, and Amortization

Cement $ 81,643 $ 79,560 $ 77,524
Concrete and Aggregates 17,413 9,656 10,807
Gypsum Wallboard 21,744 22,024 21,646
Paperboard 14,942 14,721 13,913
Corporate and Other 2,812 2,850 4,976

$ 138,554 $ 128,811 $ 128,866

Discontinued Operations
Capital Expenditures $ — $ — $ —
Depreciation, Depletion, and Amortization $ — $ — $ 221

March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Segment Assets

Cement $ 1,905,227 $ 1,860,649 $ 1,898,930
Concrete and Aggregates 234,767 89,405 88,410
Gypsum Wallboard 421,425 397,486 366,352
Paperboard 163,797 180,025 186,156
Corporate and Other, net 55,786 52,087 298,833

$ 2,781,002 $ 2,579,652 $ 2,838,681
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Segment Operating Earnings, including the proportionately consolidated 50% interest in the revenue and
expenses of the Joint Venture, represent Revenue less direct operating expenses, segment Depreciation,
and segment Selling, General, and Administrative expenses. Segment Operating Earnings don’t include
certain nonrecurring losses, such as impairment and legal settlements. We account for intersegment
sales at market prices. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, general office
assets, and miscellaneous other assets.

The basis used to disclose Identifiable Assets; Capital Expenditures; and Depreciation, Depletion, and
Amortization conforms with the equity method, and is similar to how we disclose these accounts in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

The segment breakdown of Goodwill at March 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Cement $ 215,781 $ 203,342
Concrete and Aggregates 40,774 1,639
Gypsum Wallboard 116,618 116,618
Paperboard 7,538 7,538

$ 380,711 $ 329,137

Summarized financial information for the Joint Venture that is not consolidated is set out below. The
summarized financial information includes the total amount of the Joint Venture and not our 50% interest
in those amounts:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Revenue $ 227,565 $ 209,937
Gross Margin $ 77,673 $ 69,913
Earnings Before Income Taxes $ 71,491 $ 65,541

March 31,
(dollars in thousands)

Current Assets $ 88,562 $ 73,462
Noncurrent Assets $ 124,503 $ 112,439
Current Liabilities $ 29,434 $ 17,161

(J) INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes from continuing operations includes the following components:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Current Provision

Federal $ 103,940 $ 87,626 $ 67,913
State 18,520 6,924 9,587

122,460 94,550 77,500
Deferred Provision (Benefit)

Federal 11,321 3,491 7,207
State (6,728) 2,806 5,239

4,593 6,297 12,446
Provision for Income Taxes $ 127,053 $ 100,847 $ 89,946
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The effective tax rates vary from the federal statutory rates due to the following items:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Earnings Before Income Taxes $ 588,593 $ 475,094 $ 424,112
Income Taxes at Statutory Rate $ 123,605 $ 99,770 $ 89,063
Increases (Decreases) in Tax Resulting from

State Income Taxes, net 16,821 12,743 11,713
Statutory Depletion in Excess of Cost (8,253) (7,796) (5,263)
Excess Tax Benefit from Stock Compensation (1,593) (3,048) (3,229)
Meals and Entertainment Disallowance 484 279 220
Limitation on Officer's Compensation 3,009 2,568 1,503
Valuation Allowance (7,205) (4,556) 300
Change in Reserves — — (2,916)
Other 185 887 (1,445)

Provision for Income Taxes $ 127,053 $ 100,847 $ 89,946
Effective Tax Rate 22% 21% 21%

Components of deferred income taxes are as follows:

March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Items Giving Rise to Deferred Tax Liabilities

Excess Tax Depreciation and Amortization $ (253,541) $ (242,335)
Investment in Joint Venture Basis Differences (8,744) (7,813)
Depletable Assets (3,876) (3,769)
Right-of-Use Assets (5,202) (5,897)
Inventory (406) (548)
Other (2,908) (3,506)
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities $ (274,677) $ (263,868)

Items Giving Rise to Deferred Tax Assets
Change in Accruals $ 12,886 $ 13,255
Bad Debts 1,662 1,600
Long-term Incentive Compensation Plan 3,515 3,252
Credits and Other Carryforwards 12,995 12,747
Lease Liability 7,647 8,849
Pension 1,128 1,001
Subtotal 39,833 40,704
Valuation Allowance (2,000) (9,205)
Total Deferred Tax Assets $ 37,833 $ 31,499

We record Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities based upon estimates of their realizable value with such
estimates based upon likely future tax consequences. In assessing the need for a Valuation Allowance,
we consider both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the Deferred
Tax Assets. If, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that a Deferred Tax
Asset will not be realized, we record a Valuation Allowance.
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We have state net operating loss carryforwards of $2.3 million at March 31, 2023, compared with $0.9
million at March 31, 2022, net of Valuation Allowance. We have state income tax credit carryforwards of
$10.7 million at March 31, 2023, compared with $4.3 million at March 31, 2022, net of Valuation
Allowances. The state income tax credits may be carried forward indefinitely.

We file income tax returns in U.S. federal and various state jurisdictions. The Company is currently
subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for the year ended March 31, 2019 and forward.

Uncertain Tax Positions

We are subject to audit examinations at federal, state, and local levels by tax authorities in those
jurisdictions who may challenge the treatment or reporting of any return item. The tax matters challenged
by the tax authorities are typically complex; therefore, the ultimate outcome of these challenges is subject
to uncertainty.

We review and assess all tax positions subject to uncertainty on a more-likely-than-not standard with
respect to the ultimate outcome if challenged. We measure and record tax benefit or expense only when
the more-likely-than-not threshold is met. The change in unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended
March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was as follows:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Balance at Beginning of Year $ 1,284 $ 1,284 $ 4,200
Increase Related to Current Tax Positions — — 1,284
Decrease Related to Current Tax Positions — — (4,200)
Payments — — —

$ 1,284 $ 1,284 $ 1,284

We recorded a $4.2 million reserve resulting from of a position taken on our fiscal 2020 federal tax return,
which is related to the interest limitation under IRC Section 163(j) and the resulting carryback allowed
under the CARES Act. This tax return position reflected an expected update to U.S. Department of the
Treasury regulations. During fiscal 2021, the U.S. Department of Treasury issued updated regulations
under IRC Section 163(j). As a result, in fiscal 2021 we reversed the reserve recorded in fiscal 2020.

We classify interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as current income tax expense. We
recorded no interest and penalties for each of the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.
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(K) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Our operations and properties are subject to extensive and changing federal, state, and local laws;
regulations and ordinances governing the protection of the environment; as well as laws relating to worker
health and workplace safety. We carefully consider the requirements mandated by such laws and
regulations and have procedures in place at all of our operating units to monitor compliance. Any matters
that are identified as potential exposures under these laws and regulations are carefully reviewed by
management to determine our potential liability. Although management is not aware of any material
exposures that require an accrual under generally accepted accounting principles, there can be no
assurance that prior or future operations will not ultimately result in violations, claims, or other liabilities
associated with these regulations.

We have certain deductible limits under our workers’ compensation and liability insurance policies for
which reserves are established based on the undiscounted estimated costs of known and anticipated
claims. We have entered into standby letter of credit agreements relating to workers’ compensation, auto,
and general liability self-insurance. At March 31, 2023, we had contingent liabilities under these
outstanding letters of credit of approximately $6.4 million.

We are currently contingently liable for performance under $26.9 million in performance bonds required
by certain states and municipalities, and their related agencies. The bonds are principally for certain
reclamation obligations and mining permits. We have indemnified the underwriting insurance company
against any exposure under the performance bonds. In our past experience, no material claims have
been made against these financial instruments.

Other
In the ordinary course of business, we execute contracts involving indemnifications that are standard in
the industry and indemnifications specific to a transaction, such as the sale of a business. These
indemnifications might include claims relating to any of the following: environmental and tax matters;
intellectual property rights; governmental regulations and employment-related matters; customer,
supplier, construction contractor, and other commercial contractual relationships; and financial matters.
While the maximum amount to which we may be exposed under such agreements cannot be estimated, it
is the opinion of management that these indemnifications are not expected to have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. We currently
have no outstanding guarantees of third-party debt.

We have certain forward purchase contracts, primarily for natural gas, that expire during calendar years
2022 and 2023. The contracts are for approximately 40% of our anticipated natural gas usage.
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(L) STOCK OPTION PLANS
On August 7, 2013, our stockholders approved the Eagle Materials Inc. Amended and Restated Incentive
Plan (the Plan), which increased the shares we are authorized to issue as awards by 3,000,000
(1,500,000 of which may be stock awards). Under the terms of the Plan, we may issue equity awards,
including stock options, restricted stock units (RSUs), restricted stock, and stock appreciation rights to
employees of the Company and members of the Board of Directors. Awards that were already
outstanding prior to the approval of the Plan remained outstanding. The Compensation Committee of our
Board of Directors specifies the terms for grants of equity awards under the Plan.

Long-Term Compensation Plans
OPTIONS

In May 2022, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the granting to certain
officers and key employees an aggregate of 25,192 performance-vesting stock options that would be
earned only if certain performance conditions were satisfied (the Fiscal 2023 Employee Performance
Stock Option Grant). The performance criterion for the Fiscal 2023 Employee Performance Stock Option
Grant was based upon the achievement of certain levels of return on equity (as defined in the option
agreements), ranging from 10.0% to 20.0%, for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2023. All stock options
would be earned if the return on equity was 20.0% or greater, and the percentage of shares earned are
reduced proportionately to approximately 66.7% if the return on equity was 10.0%. If the Company does
not achieve a return on equity of at least 10.0%, all stock options granted would be forfeited. During fiscal
2023, our adjusted return on equity exceeded 20.0%; therefore, all of the options were earned. The
earned stock options will vest ratably over four years, with the first fourth vesting promptly following the
determination date, and the remaining options vesting on March 31, 2024 through 2026. The
Compensation Committee also approved the granting of 20,994 time-vesting stock options to the same
officers and key employees, which vest ratably over a four-year period, with the first tranche vesting on
March 31, 2023 and the remaining options vesting on March 31, 2024 through 2026 (the Fiscal 2023
Employee Time-Vesting Stock Option Grant). All of our stock options have a term of 10 years from the
date of grant.

In August 2022, we granted 3,510 options to members of the Board of Directors (the Fiscal 2023 Board of
Directors Stock Option Award). Options granted under the Fiscal 2023 Board of Directors Stock Option
Award vest immediately and can be exercised from the grant date until their expiration on the tenth
anniversary of the grant date.

All stock options issued during fiscal 2023 and 2022 were valued at the grant date using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model to
value the option awards in fiscal 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

2023 2022
Dividend Yield 0.8% 0.8%
Expected Volatility 38.2% 38.4%
Risk-Free Interest Rate 2.90% 1.00%
Expected Life 6.0 years 6.0 years
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Stock option expense for all outstanding stock option awards was approximately $3.4 million, 3.4 million,
and $4.9 million for the years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. At March 31, 2023,
there was approximately $3.3 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding stock
options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years.

The following table shows stock option activity for the years presented:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

Number
of Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price
Number

of Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price
Number

of Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price
Outstanding Options at Beginning of Year 456,849 $ 83.81 708,501 $ 83.85 1,160,091 $ 80.36

Granted 56,621 $ 125.90 11,316 $ 140.42 187,121 $ 61.92
Exercised (73,343) $ 80.19 (247,578) $ 86.97 (623,617) $ 70.57
Cancelled (3,178) $ 109.15 (15,390) $ 76.63 (15,094) $ 92.51

Outstanding Options at End of Year 436,949 $ 89.69 456,849 $ 83.81 708,501 $ 83.85
Options Exercisable at End of Year 339,043 314,624 416,817
Weighted-Average Fair Value of Options Granted
During the Year $ 48.36 $ 49.18 $ 22.68

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at March 31, 2023:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices

Number of
Shares

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Number of
Shares

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price
$59.32 - $81.28 149,712 6.30 $ 62.96 106,308 $ 63.84
$87.37 - $93.03 138,656 5.80 $ 91.56 137,664 $ 91.57
$99.37 - $143.09 148,581 6.62 $ 114.86 95,071 $ 108.94

436,949 6.25 $ 89.69 339,043 $ 87.74

At March 31, 2023, the aggregate intrinsic value for outstanding and exercisable options was
approximately $24.9 million and $20.0 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised
during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was approximately $4.4 million, $15.7
million and $26.4 million, respectively.
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RESTRICTED STOCK

In May 2022, the Compensation Committee approved the granting to certain officers and key employees
an aggregate of 50,783 shares of performance vesting restricted stock that would be earned only if
certain performance conditions were satisfied (the Fiscal 2023 Employee Restricted Stock Performance
Award). The performance criterion for the Fiscal 2023 Employee Restricted Stock Performance Award is
based upon the achievement of certain levels of return on equity (as defined in the agreement), ranging
from 10.0% to 20.0%, for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023. All restricted shares would be earned if
the return on equity was 20.0% or greater, and the percentage of shares earned would be reduced
proportionately to approximately 66.7% if the return on equity was 10.0%. If the Company did not achieve
a return on equity of at least 10.0%, all awards would be forfeited. During fiscal 2023, the return on equity
exceeded 20.0%; therefore all of the shares were earned. Restrictions on the earned shares will lapse
ratably over four years, with the first fourth lapsing promptly following the determination date and the
remaining restrictions lapsing on March 31, 2024 through 2026. The Compensation Committee also
approved the granting of 42,545 shares of time-vesting restricted stock to the same officers and key
employees, which vest ratably over four years, with the first tranche vesting on March 31, 2023 and the
remaining restricted shares vesting on March 31, 2024 through 2026 (the Fiscal 2023 Employee
Restricted Stock Time-Vesting Award). Both of the Fiscal 2023 Employee Restricted Stock Performance
Award and the Fiscal 2023 Employee Restricted Stock Time-Vesting Award were valued at the closing
price of the stock on the date of grant and are being expensed over a four-year period.

In August 2022, we granted to members of the Board of Directors 14,482 shares of restricted stock (the
Fiscal 2023 Board of Directors Restricted Stock Award), which vested six months after the grant date.
The Fiscal 2023 Board of Directors Restricted Stock Award was valued at the closing price of the stock on
the date of the grant and was expensed over a six-month period.

The fair value of restricted stock is estimated based on the stock price at the date of the grant. The
following table summarizes the activity for nonvested restricted shares during the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

Number
of Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Number
of Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Number
of Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Nonvested Restricted Stock at Beginning of Year 258,779 $ 85.34 267,090 $ 62.56 233,120 $ 75.35
Granted 111,230 $ 126.23 113,414 $ 139.91 179,377 $ 63.83
Vested (147,678) $ 104.33 (116,507) $ 87.47 (136,280) $ 78.89
Cancelled (3,247) $ 124.82 (5,218) $ 75.10 (9,127) $ 71.46
Nonvested Restricted Stock at End of Year 219,084 $ 96.54 258,779 $ 85.34 267,090 $ 62.56

Expense related to restricted shares was $13.7 million, $10.9 million, and $10.4 million in fiscal years
ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. At March 31, 2023, there were approximately
219,000 shares with remaining restrictions, for which $17.8 million of unearned compensation will be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.4 years.

The number of shares available for future grants of stock options, restricted stock units, stock
appreciation rights, and restricted stock under the Plan was 3,260,302 at March 31, 2023. Of the
available shares, a total of 944,043 shares can be used for future restricted stock and restricted stock unit
grants.
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(M) NET INTEREST EXPENSE
The following components are included within Interest Expense, net:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Interest Income $ (421) $ (39) $ (66)
Interest Expense 33,706 21,637 40,624
Other Expenses 1,886 9,275 3,862
Interest Expense, net $ 35,171 $ 30,873 $ 44,420

Interest Income includes interest earned on investments of excess Cash and Cash Equivalents.
Components of Interest Expense include interest associated with the Revolving Credit Facility, Term Loan
(retired in July 2021), Senior Unsecured Notes, and commitment fees based on the unused portion of the
Revolving Credit Facility. Other Expenses include amortization of debt issuance costs and Revolving
Credit Facility and Term Loan costs.

(N) PENSION AND PROFIT SHARING PLANS
We offer our employees multiple retirement and profit sharing plans.

Pension Plans
We have several defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans that together cover
substantially all of our employees. Benefits paid under the defined benefit plans covering certain hourly
employees are based on years of service and each employee’s qualifying compensation over the last few
years of employment. During fiscal 2020, the last of our pension plans that was still accruing benefits was
frozen; therefore, none of our pension plans are accruing additional benefits. Our funding policy is to
generally contribute amounts to ensure our pension assets are consistent with our pension liabilities. The
annual measurement date is March 31 for the benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets, and the
funded status of the defined benefit plans.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the Benefit Obligations and Fair Values of Plan Assets for
all defined benefit plans for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, as well as a statement of the
funded status for the same periods:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Reconciliation of Benefit Obligations

Benefit Obligation at April 1, $ 33,909 $ 35,844
Interest Cost on Projected Benefit Obligation 1,240 1,167
Actuarial Gain (4,509) (1,776)
Benefits Paid (1,451) (1,326)

Benefit Obligation at March 31, $ 29,189 $ 33,909
Reconciliation of Fair Value of Plan Assets

Fair Value of Plan Assets at April 1, $ 36,313 $ 37,907
Actual Return on Plan Assets (3,756) (268)
Benefits Paid (1,451) (1,326)

Fair Value of Plan Assets at March 31, 31,106 36,313
Funded Status

Funded Status at March 31, $ 1,917 $ 2,404
Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet Include:

Other Assets $ 1,917 $ 2,404
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses:

Net Actuarial Loss 4,662 4,172
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses $ 4,662 $ 4,172

Tax Impact (1,115) (997)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses, net of tax $ 3,547 $ 3,175

Net periodic pension cost for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, included the
following components:

For the Years Ended March 31,
2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)
Interest Cost of Projected Benefit Obligation 1,240 1,167 1,216
Expected Return on Plan Assets (1,366) (1,299) (1,419)
Recognized Net Actuarial Loss 123 143 133

Net Periodic Pension Cost $ (3) $ 11 $ (70)

Expected benefit payments over the next five years, and the following five years under the pension plans
are expected to be as follows (dollars in thousands):

Fiscal Years Total
2024 $ 1,753
2025 $ 1,842
2026 $ 1,890
2027 $ 1,964
2028 $ 1,994
2029-2033 $ 9,834

The following tables set forth the assumptions used in the actuarial calculations of the present value of
Net Periodic Benefit Costs and Benefit Obligations:
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March 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net Periodic Benefit Costs
Discount Rate 3.75% 3.33% 3.64%
Expected Return on Plan Assets 3.85% 3.50% 4.00%
Rate of Compensation Increase n/a n/a n/a

March 31,
2023 2022

Benefit Obligations
Discount Rate 4.99% 3.75%
Rate of Compensation Increase n/a n/a

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is an assumption reflecting the anticipated
weighted-average rate of earnings on the portfolio over the long term. To determine this rate, we
developed estimates of the key components underlying capital asset returns that include: market-based
estimates of inflation, real risk-free rates of return, yield curve structure, credit-risk premiums, and equity-
risk premiums. Because all of our pension plans were frozen beginning in fiscal 2021, the rate of
compensation increase is not applicable. We used these components as appropriate to develop
benchmark estimates for the expected long-term management approach that we employ.

The pension plans’ approximate weighted-average asset allocation at March 31, 2023 and 2022, and the
range of target allocation are as follows:

Percentage of Plan Assets at March 31,
Range of

Target Allocation 2023 2022
Asset Category
Equity Securities 10 – 20% 9% 9%
Debt Securities 60 – 90% 89% 90%
Other 0 – 20% 2% 1%

Total 100% 100%

Our pension investment strategies have been developed as part of a comprehensive management
process that considers the interaction between the assets and liabilities within each plan. These
strategies consider not only the expected risks and returns on plan assets, but also the detailed actuarial
projections of liabilities as well as plan-level objectives, such as projected contributions, expense, and
funded status.

The principal pension investment strategies include asset allocation and active asset management. The
range of target asset allocations has been determined given the current funded status of the plan. Each
asset class is actively managed by one or more external money managers with the objective of
generating returns, net of management fees, that exceed market-based benchmarks. None of the plans
hold any Company stock.

Based on our current actuarial estimates, we do not anticipate making any contributions to our defined
benefit plans for fiscal 2024.
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The fair values of our defined benefit plans’ consolidated assets by category as of March 31, 2023 and
2022 were as follows:

March 31,
2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Equity Securities $ 2,878 $ 3,433
Fixed Income Securities 27,811 32,583
Real Estate Funds — 115
Cash Equivalents 417 182

Total $ 31,106 $ 36,313

The fair values of our defined benefit plans’ consolidated assets were determined using the fair value
hierarchy of inputs described in Footnote (A) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The fair values by category of inputs as of March 31, 2023 were as follows:

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable

Inputs (Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3) Total
Asset Categories (dollars in thousands)
Equity Securities $ — $ 2,878 $ — $ 2,878
Fixed Income Securities — 27,811 — 27,811
Cash Equivalents 417 — — 417

$ 417 $ 30,689 $ — $ 31,106

The fair values by category of inputs as of March 31, 2022 were as follows:

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable

Inputs (Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3) Total
Asset Categories (dollars in thousands)
Equity Securities $ — $ 3,433 $ — $ 3,433
Fixed Income Securities — 32,583 — 32,583
Real Estate Funds — 115 — 115
Cash Equivalents 182 — — 182

$ 182 $ 36,131 $ — $ 36,313

Equity securities consist of funds that are not actively traded. These funds are maintained by an
investment manager and are primarily invested in indexes. The remaining funds, excluding cash, primarily
consist of investments in institutional funds.
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Profit Sharing Plans
We also provide profit sharing plans, which cover substantially all salaried and certain hourly employees.
The profit sharing plans are defined contribution plans funded by employer discretionary contributions;
employees may also contribute a certain percentage of their base annual salary. Employees are fully
vested in their own contributions and become fully vested in any Company contributions over a four-year
period. Costs relating to the employer discretionary contributions for our plan totaled $9.1 million, $8.5
million, and $8.3 million in fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

We also made matching contributions to the hourly profit sharing plan for certain of our entities totaling
$1.4 million, $1.3 million, and $1.1 million for these employees during fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021,
respectively.

Approximately 50 of our employees belong to two different multi-employer plans. The collective
bargaining agreements for the employees who participate in the multi-employer plans expire in February
2024 and March 2025. Our expense related to these plans was approximately $1.8 million, $1.7 million,
and $1.8 million during fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. We anticipate the total expense in
fiscal 2024 related to these plans will be approximately $2.0 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries
(the Company) as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of earnings,
comprehensive earnings, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended March 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company at March 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 31,
2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated May 19,
2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the
financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and
that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved
our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit
matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole,
and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the
critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.

Raw Materials and Materials-in-Progress inventory existence

Description of the Matter As described in Note A, the Company’s raw materials and materials-in-
progress inventory balance was $96.9 million at March 31, 2023.
Components of this balance include raw materials that are purchased from
third parties, as well as clinker, which is internally manufactured and
represents an intermediary product before it is ground into cement powder.
Due to the nature of raw materials and materials-in-progress inventory, the
Company utilizes technology to measure certain volumes of the inventory
stockpiles and applies density factors to convert the measurements to tons of
inventory, which is then compared to the Company’s recorded balance.

Auditing management’s process for measuring certain raw materials and
materials-in-progress inventory was complex as auditor judgement was
necessary to evaluate the Company’s process for measuring the inventory,
given the technology utilized, and converting the measurements to tonnage.

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of controls over the Company’s process of determining the
existence of certain raw materials and materials-in-progress inventory.

To test the existence of certain raw materials and materials-in-progress
inventory, we performed audit procedures, assisted by specialists, that
included, among others, obtaining inventory measurements performed by
third parties, observing management’s inspection and measurement of
inventory, testing the measurement techniques of the inventory stockpiles,
testing the underlying calculations of the measurements in the conversion
calculations utilizing density factors, and evaluating the appropriateness of the
density factors utilized in the calculations as compared to industry information.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.

Dallas, Texas

May 19, 2023
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9a. Controls and Procedures

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We have established a system of disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time
periods specified by the SEC. Such information is also accumulated and communicated to management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) was performed as of the
end of the period covered by this annual report. This evaluation was performed under the supervision and
with the participation of management, including our CEO and CFO. Based upon that evaluation, our CEO
and CFO have concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There were no changes that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of
our management, including our CEO and CFO, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework). Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework,
our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31,
2023. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2023, has been
audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO
criteria). In our opinion, Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2023, based on the COSO
criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of March 31, 2023
and 2022, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive earnings, stockholders’ equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2023, and the related notes,
and our report dated May 19, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in
the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect
to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Dallas, Texas

May 19, 2023

ITEM 9b. Other Information
None.

ITEM 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent
Inspections
Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Except for the information below regarding our code of ethics, the information called for by Items 10, 11,
12, 13, and 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the information included and referenced under the
following captions in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Company’s August 3, 2023 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders (the 2023 EXP Proxy Statement):

Items Caption in the 2023 EXP Proxy Statement
10 Executive Officers who are not Directors
10 Election of Directors and Related Matters Stock Ownership-Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
10 Compliance
10 Stock Ownership – Code of Conduct
11 Executive Compensation
11 Compensation Discussion and Analysis
11 Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control
12 Stock Ownership
13 Stock Ownership – Related Party Transactions
13 Election of Directors and Related Matters
14 Relationship with Independent Public Accountants

CODE OF ETHICS

The policies comprising the Company’s code of ethics are detailed in The Eagle Way – A Guide to
Decision-Making on Business Conduct Issues. This represents the code of ethics for the principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, and principal accounting officer under SEC rules, as well as
the code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers, and employees under NYSE listing
standards. The code of ethics is published on the corporate governance section of the Company’s
website at eaglematerials.com.

Although the Company does not anticipate that any waivers of the code of ethics will be granted, should a
waiver occur for the principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, or
controller, it will be promptly disclosed on our website. Also, any amendments of the code will be promptly
posted on our website.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

See Item 10.
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ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters
See Item 10.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence
See Item 10.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
See Item 10.

PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
A. The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

1. Financial Statements
Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statements under Item 8 in Part II hereof, where these
documents are listed.

2. Schedules
Schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required, or the information required to
be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements referenced above in section
(a) (1) of this Item 15.

3. Exhibits
The information on exhibits required by this Item 15 is set forth in the Eagle Materials Inc. Index to
Exhibits appearing on pages 103-108 of this Report.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
EAGLE MATERIALS INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

EXHIBIT
NUMBER DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBITS

2.1 Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 4, 2003, among Centex
Corporation, Centex Construction Products, Inc. (now known as Eagle Materials Inc.), and ARG Merger
Corporation filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the Commission) on November 12, 2003 (File No. 001-12984) and
incorporated herein by reference.

2.2 Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement dated as of November 4, 2003 between Centex
Corporation and Centex Construction Products, Inc. (now known as Eagle Materials Inc.) filed as Exhibit
2.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Commission on November 12, 2003
(File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on April 11, 2006 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

3.2 Restated Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Preferred Stock filed as Exhibit
3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 11, 2006 (File No.
001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

3.3 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed with the Commission on November 7, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.1 Description of Securities filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended March 31, 2022, filed with the Commission on May 20, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and
incorporated herein by reference.

4.2 Credit Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2021, among the Company, the lenders identified therein and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent, issuing bank and swingline lender thereunder,
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 1,
2021 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

4.2(a) Amendment No. 1, dated as of May 5, 2022, to that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2021,
among the lenders identified therein and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent,
issuing bank and swingline lender thereunder, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 6, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.3 Indenture, dated as of May 8, 2009, between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed with the
Commission on May 8, 2009 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

4.4 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2021, between the Company and The Bank of New
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on July 1, 2021 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

4.5 Form of 2.500% Senior Note due 2031, filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed with the Commission on July 1, 2021 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.1 Limited Partnership Agreement of Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP by and between Texas Cement
Company and Lehigh Portland Cement Company effective as of October 1, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001, filed with the
Commission on June 27, 2001 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

10.1(a) Amendment No. 1 to Agreement of Limited Partnership by and among Texas Cement Company; TLCC
LP LLC; TLCC GP LLC; Lehigh Portland Cement Company; Lehigh Portland Investments, LLC; and
Lehigh Portland Holdings, LLC effective as of October 2, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10.2(a) to the 2001 Form
10-K (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

10.2 The Eagle Materials Inc. Amended and Restated Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit A to the Company’s
Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on June 21, 2013 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein
by reference. (1)

10.2(a) Amendment to Amended and Restated Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the Commission on July 28, 2017
(File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.3 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 1, 2006 (File No. 001-
12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.4 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, filed with the Commission on August 6, 2010 (File No. 001-
12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.5 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, filed with the
Commission on November 7, 2013 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.6 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, filed with the Commission on
November 7, 2013 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.7 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, filed with the
Commission on November 5, 2014 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.7(a) Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, filed with the
Commission on November 5, 2014 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.7(b) Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, filed with the Commission on
November 5, 2014 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.8 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, filed with the
Commission on August 4, 2015 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.8(a) Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015, filed with the
Commission on October 27, 2015 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.8(b) Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015, filed with the Commission on
October 27, 2015 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.9 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, filed with the
Commission on October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)
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10.9(a) Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, filed with the Commission on
October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.9(b) Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2016, filed with the Commission on October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by
reference. (1)

10.9(c) Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.5
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, filed with
the Commission on October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.10 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2017, filed with the
Commission on October 25, 2017 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.10(a) Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed
with the Commission on July 28, 2017 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.10(b) Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.6
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the
Commission on July 28, 2017 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.11 Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018, filed
with the Commission on July 30, 2018 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.11(a) Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018, filed with the
Commission on July 30, 2018 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.11(b) Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018, filed with the
Commission on October 30, 2018 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12 The Eagle Materials Inc. Retirement Plan filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Form S-8 POS, filed with
the Commission on January 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.13 The Eagle Materials Inc. Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2000,
filed with the Commission on June 21, 2000 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.
(1)

10.13(a) First Amendment to the Eagle Materials Inc. Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan, dated as of May 11, 2004, filed as Exhibit 10.4(a) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, filed with the Commission on June 2, 2006 (File No. 001-
12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.14 Trademark License and Name Domain Agreement dated January 30, 2004, between the Company and
Centex Corporation, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended March 31, 2004, filed with the Commission on June 14, 2004 (File No. 001-12984) and
incorporated herein by reference.

10.15 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and each of its directors filed as Exhibit 10.9
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, filed with the
Commission on June 14, 2004 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

10.16 Eagle Materials Inc. Salaried Incentive Compensation Program for Fiscal Year 2023 filed as Exhibit 10.1
to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 23, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and
incorporated herein by reference. (1)
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10.16(a) Eagle Materials Inc. Special Situation Program for Fiscal Year 2023 filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 23, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated
herein by reference. (1)

10.16(b) American Gypsum Company LLC Salaried Incentive Compensation Program for Fiscal Year 2023 filed
as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K for the quarter ended June 30, 2021, filed
with the Commission on May 23, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.17 Change in Control Continuity Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2019, by and between Eagle Materials
Inc. and Michael R. Haack, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on June 25, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.17(a) Change in Control Continuity Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2019, by and between Eagle Materials
Inc. and D. Craig Kesler, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on June 25, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.17(b) Change in Control Continuity Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2019, by and between Eagle Materials
Inc. and Robert S. Stewart, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on June 25, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.18 Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as
Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019, filed
with the Commission on July 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.18(a) Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.9
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019, filed with the
Commission on July 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.19 Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, filed
with the Commission on July 31, 2020 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.19(a) Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, filed with the
Commission on July 31, 2020 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.19(b) Form of Performance Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, filed with the
Commission on July 31, 2020 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.19(c) Form of Time Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, filed with the
Commission on July 31, 2020 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.20 Amended and Restated Eagle Materials Inc. Employee Severance Plan and Summary Plan Description,
filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December
31, 2020, filed with the Commission on January 28, 2021 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein
by reference. (1)

10.21 Form of Performance Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021, filed with the
Commission on July 28, 2021 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.22 Form of Time Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021, filed with the
Commission on July 28, 2021 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.23 Eagle Materials Inc. Director Compensation Summary filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, filed with the Commission on October
26, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)
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10.24 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021, filed with the
Commission on October 28, 2021 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.25 Form of Performance Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, filed with the
Commission on July 28, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.26 Form of Time Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, filed with the
Commission on July 28, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.27 Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as
Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, filed
with the Commission on July 28, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.28 Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.8
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, filed with the
Commission on July 28, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.29 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, filed with the Commission on
October 26, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.30 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022, filed with the
Commission on October 26, 2022 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

21* Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1* Consent of Registered Independent Public Accounting Firm – Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Eagle Materials Inc. pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Eagle Materials Inc. pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Eagle Materials Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Eagle Materials Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

95* Mine Safety Disclosure.

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document – This instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File – (formatted as Inline XBRL and Contained in Exhibit 101).
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* Filed herewith.
(1) Required to be identified as a management contract or a compensatory plan or arrangement pursuant to Item 15(a) (3) of Form

10-K.

ITEM 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EAGLE MATERIALS INC.
Registrant

May 19, 2023 /s/ Michael R. Haack
Michael R. Haack,

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

May 19, 2023 /s/ Michael R. Haack
Michael R. Haack

President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

May 19, 2023 /s/ D. Craig Kesler
D. Craig Kesler

Executive Vice President – Finance and
Administration and Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)

May 19, 2023 /s/ William R. Devlin
William R. Devlin

Senior Vice President – Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer

(principal accounting officer)

May 19, 2023 /s/ Richard Beckwitt
Richard Beckwitt, Director

May 19, 2023 /s/ Margot L. Carter
Margot L. Carter, Director

May 19, 2023 /s/ George J. Damiris
George J. Damiris, Director

May 19, 2023 /s/ Martin M. Ellen
Martin M. Ellen, Director

May 19, 2023 /s/ Mauro Gregorio
Mauro Gregorio, Director
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May 19, 2023 /s/ Michael R. Nicolais
Michael R. Nicolais, Director

May 19, 2023 /s/ David B. Powers
David B. Powers, Director

May 19, 2023 /s/ Mary P. Ricciardello
Mary P. Ricciardello, Director

May 19, 2023 /s/ Richard R. Stewart
Richard R. Stewart, Director
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BOARD OF DRECTORS

Richard Beckwitt (4)

Co-Chief Executive Officer
and Co-President,
Lennar Corporation

EAGLE MATERIALS INC.

Michael R. Haack
President
and Chief Executive Officer

D. Craig Kesler
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

Matt Newby
Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and œecretary

Robert S. Stewart
Executive Vice President,
œtrategy, Corporate Development
and Communications

Alex Haddock
Vice President,
Investor Œelations, œtrategy,
and Corporate Development

OPERATING ORGANIZATION

Tom Hamp
Vice President,
Cement West

Tony Sneska
Executive Vice President,
Cement œales and Marketing

Tony Thompson
œenior Vice President,
Cement East

Eric Cribbs
President,
American Gypsum Company

Sverre Gunnarschja
Vice President, Operations
Œepublic Paperboard Company

Jarrod Huntley
Vice President,
Concrete, Aggregates and
Advanced Cementitious Materials

Margot L. Carter (2, 4)

Director,
Installed Building Products

George J. Damiris (2)

Œetired Chief Executive Officer
and President,
HollyFrontier Corporation

Martin M. Ellen (3)

Œetired Chief Financial Officer
and Executive Vice President,
Dr Pepper œnapple Group, Inc.

Mauro Gregorio (3, 4)

President of Performance Materials
and Coatings
Dow, Inc.

Michael R. Haack (1)

President and Chief Executive Officer
Eagle Materials Inc.

Michael R. Nicolais (1, 2)

Founder and Managing Partner
Œoble Drive Investment Co.;
Chairman, Eagle Materials Inc.

David B. Powers
Œetired Chief Executive Officer
Eagle Materials Inc.

Mary P. Ricciardello (3, 4)

Œetired Chief Accounting Officer,
Œeliant Energy

Richard R. Stewart (3)

Œetired President and CEO,
GE Aero Energy

5‹6‰ Berkshire Lane
œuite ‹‰‰
Dallas, TX 75225
(2ı4) 432-2‰‰‰ (Telephone)
(2ı4) 432-2ı‰‰ (Fax)
www.eaglematerials.com

TRANSFER AGENT AND
REGISTRAR

Computershare, Inc.
P.O. Box 5‰5‰‰‰
Louisville, KY 4‰233
ı-8‰‰-736-3‰‰ı (Toll Free)

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of
œtockholders of Eagle
Materials Inc. will be held on
August 3, 2‰23 at 8:‰‰ a.m. at:
Douglas Conference Center
8343 Douglas Ave
œuite ı25
Dallas, TX 75225

Numbers in parentheses
indicate Board Committees
(ı) Executive Committee
(2) Compensation Committee
(3) Audit Committee
(4) Corporate Governance,
Nominating and œustainability
Committee
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